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PREFACE

Fhe year 1988 marked a milestone in Arsenal Island history, for in that year, the Rock
Istand Arsenal (RIA) celebrated designaticn of the arsenal's old stone buildings as National
Historic Landmarks by United States Secretary of the Interior. To commemorate such an
occasion, the Rock Istand Arsenai Commander, Colonel David T. Morgan, Jr., has requested
that this ilfustrated historic series be completed.

An Hiustrated History Of The Rock Isfand Arsenal And Arsenal Island Pari One (Revised
Edition) covers nearly two hundred years of isfand history prior to the establishment of the
Rock Island Arsenal. This historical overview explains, through the use of photographs and
words, the rich historic past of Arsenal Island.

The United States Government’s presence on Rock Island makes it the oldest institution
in the Quad-Ciies area. The government's historic ties with Arsenal Istand date back to the
signing of the Treaty of 1804 and the establishment of Fort Armstrong on the island in 1816.
The United States flag flew above Rock Island tong before any of the communities of the
surrounding area were founded. Even before lilinois and lowa had achieved statehood, the
U.S. Army had established a significant military presence on Rock Island with the building of
Fort Armstrong. The fort served as a sanctuary to early picneers who sought refuge behind
its walls during the threatening days of Indian uprisings. Part One also examines the historic
ties and conflicts between the government and local interests concerning the economic
development of Rock Island. This ilustrated history is intended for the enjoyment and
education of its readers.

The author would like to thank Colenel David T. Morgan, Jr., for requesting such a
project; Dr. Herbert P. LePore, Chief of the AMCCOM Historical Office, to whom | owe a
special thanks for guiding my work through this revised edition, and taking time from his busy
schedule to personally edit the text of this work. Also, | would like to express my appreciation
of the support of people and organizations both within and outside of government service.
Key individuals within the Rock Island Arsenal community, such as Mr. Ronald E. Sikorski,
Mr. Patrick J. Broderick, and past RIA Commander, Colenel John S. Cowings, sustained my
efforts during the completion of the first edition. Likewise, the Rock Island Arsenal Historical
Society supported the publication of the first edition. | would like to acknowledge the
encouragement | received from my coleagues, Dr. Rebert H. Bouilly and Mr. Rafph C.
Krippner. Thanks is also due Mrs. Atlie Callear for assisting in developing the format and
putting the narrative of the first edition into the computer and to Mrs. Carol Secoy and Ms.
Nancy Newton, AMCCOM Historical Office, for respectively providing the necessary editorizl
support and administrative support for the revised edition. In addition, thanks is extended to
the Field Printing Plant for their professional assistance.

2L\

THOMAS J. SLATTERY
Qctober 1988
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Below: HReplica of Fort Armsirang
Blocktiouse dedicated during the

Fort Armstrong Centenniel Celsbration
held Juns 18-26, 18716

{From AMCCOM-HO Archivas}

Right: North of Oid Stone Shops, on
Rodmsn Ave., built over a twenty-five
vear period baginning in 1887.
fAMCCOM-HO)

INTRODUCTION
HISTORIC ROCK ISLAND

The history presently being preserved at the
Rock Island Arsenal encompasses mose than the
history of the arsenal itself. It also includes the
frontier history of Fort Armstrong, the regional
history of Colonet Davenport, the regional
history of Black Hawk, the history of the first
bridge to span the Mississippl River, and the Civil
War history of the Rock Island Prison Barracks.
The entire island is listed on the MNational
Register of Historic Places, and is known as
Arsenal Island. In June 1988, the Secrstary of
the Interior designated the old stone buildings,
which formed the 19th Century Rock island
Arsengl, Nationat Historic Landmarks.

The history of Rock Island is divided into three
successive eras: the regional history, and two

periods of "permanent” U.S. Government
occupancy on the island. The regional history
includes those events prior to 1816 which led to
the government establishing a military post on
the island. The military post and the depot era of
Fort Armstrong constituted the first “permanent”
presence of the U.S5. Gowernment on Rock
Island, and the establishment of Rock istand
Arsenal was the second. Rock island has made
an indslible contribution to local history, as wali
as contributions to nationa? history.



Below: Pore Marguette, e Jesuit Missionary, and Louis Joliet, irader and explorer, ware m_s first _Europgam; io
fravel the upper Mississippi River. They entered the river fram Green Bay by way of H.‘rs chHirer-W.-_scqnsm Rivar
portage route in 1673 (iilinois State Historical Society Office, Oid Market Building, Gsfana, Hinois)

CHAPTER ONE
ISLAND HISTORY PRIOR TO 1816

Rock Island was in the “backwaters”" of
American history in the days of the OCid
MNorthwest where the Mississipi River formed the
western boundary of the United States. History
seldom impacted on Rock Island in the middle of
the 18th and early 19th centuries.

Cn the occasions when it did, it was in support
of historical developments which were taking
place up river at such places as Prairie du Chien,
Dubuque, or Galena. The prospect of acquiring
wealth initially attracted Europeans and white
Americans to the fur trading area of Prairie du
Chien and the lead region of Dubuquse. French
traders seeking to expand their Indian trade
discovered that the most convenient portage,
from the Great Lakes to the Mississipipi River,
was by the Fox River-Wisconsin waterway. At
each end of the route important French fur
trading communities developed. Prairie du
Chien, at the mouth of the Wisconsin River on
the Mississippi, and Green Bay on Lake
Michigan anchored both ends of the Fox River-
Wisconsin River portage route.

Prairie du Chien, not Rock Island, was

originally the leading fur trading post on the
upper Mississippi River. However, it was not
long before French-Canadian voyageurs and
coursur de bois from Prairie du Chien, began
extending trading operations down river. These
French-Canadians established trade with various
Indian tribes along the Mississippi River and its
main fributaries.

Voyageurs were French Canadians employed
by fur traders to transport “made goods” and
canoes from the remote regions of the Old
Northwest. A coureur de bois differed from a
voyageur in that he operated without a French
fur license, and he often illegally traded with the
British. Often the coureur de bois was a French-
Indian woodsman.

Early fur traders in the Rock island area
paddied a canoe called the canot du nord or
North Cance. The North Canoes were 20 feet in
tength and could carry as much as a ton
of cargo besides its crew of eight
voyageurs. The cargo primarily consisted of
trade goods which were packed into 90 pound
bundles for easier handling. The bundles
contained the material needed for bartering such



Right: The Fox Rivar - Wisconsin River
Poriage Routs was a convenient fur trading
route that finked the Grosl Lakes with

the Mississippi River.

fJo Devies County Historical Socialy,
Galgna, Minois)

as cloth, kettles, traps, blankets, guns,
ammunition, and whiskey.

Severat French traders, and later British
agents, referred brisfly in their joumnals to the
“big island” {Rock Istand) at the bend of the
Mississippi River near the "upper rapids”. These
garly journals mentioned in greater detail the
Sauk camp near the mouth of the Rock River and
aiso Credit Island, an island which was situated a
mile or so down stream from Rock Island.

Franch-Canadian traders seemed to prefer
Credit Istand to Rock Island as the site of their
trading and established a smail trading post on
Credit Island. These traders extended credit to
Indians in exchange for their promise of pelts.
The island, so associated with this practice,
became known as Credit Island. Later,
British traders often set up their trading camp on
Rock Island instead of Credit Island when
trading in the vicinity.

Occasionally, after trading, a French Canadian
coureur de bois, or a woodsman known as a
hiverant, would spend the winter at the Sauk
village on the Rock River. By living among the
Indians, the trader not only established good
relations with the Sauk, but he also protected his
investment by serving as a reminder to the tribe
of their debt. In 1763, France lost its colonial
possessions in North America to Great Britain as
a resuit of the French and Indian War. However,
many of the French-Canadian traders and
voyageurs continued to work in the fur trade,
first for the British and then later for the
Americans.

After the French and Indian War, the British
Government in Canada continued the French
practice of providing gifts to Indians. The tribes,
which made pilgrimages each spring to. the
Canadian communities of Montreal and later
Malden to council with their "great father”,
received presents. British medals and flags were
presented to Indians who agreed to trade with
British agents. Malden is situated near Windsor,
Canada. .
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Foreign intrigues planned by British agents
successfully brought most of the Indian nations
of the Old Northwest, including those of the
upper Mississippi River Valley, under the
influence of the British. During the American
Revolutionary War, almost every tribe of the Old
Northwast fought as auxiliaries for the British.

In 1778, Sauk and Fox warriors were among
the Indians who gathered at Montreal to receive
British presents and medals." Later in 1780,
Sauk and Fox braves participated in an un-
successful attack on the town of Pencour, which
eventually became St. Louis, Missouri. These
Indians had joined a British force of soldiers,
traders, and other Indians from Prairie du Chien
in attacking Pencour. Lieutenant Colonel John
Montgomery, under orders from Colonel George
Rogers Ciark, led a combined force of American
Rangers, and French, Spanish, and American
settlers from St. Louis in a retaliatory strike
against the Sauk village located at the mouth of
the Rock River. Colonel Montgomery and his
300 men supposedly burned the Sauk village,
making this action the westernmost conflict of
the American Revolution.? _

Later, under the provisions of the 1783 Treaty
of Paris which ended the American
Revolutionary War, the British ceded to the



Below: Vovagsurs “Shooting the Rapids”. Farly tur traders used similar canoes in the Rock lsland area. (Jo
Davigs Courrly Historical Sociaty, Galena, Niinois)

United States a huge western tract of land known
as the Northwest Territory. The territory
included the present states of lllinois, Indiana,
Michigan, Ohio, Wisconsin, and part of
Minnesota.

Britain, however, unwilling to give up its
valuable trade with Indians of the territory,
continued to operate its trading companies on
American soil, from Canada. Long after the
treaty was signed, British agents continued to
trade along the upper Mississippi River Valley,
including the Rock island vicinity. British traders
used their influence among the I[ndians to
discredit their competitors, the American
traders. The British Government in Canada,
acting in its own interest, agreed to supply arms
and ammunition to Indian leaders such as
Tecumseh, who formed an Indian confederacy to
counter the encroachments of American traders
and settlers into the Northwest. The noted Sauk
warrior, Black Hawk, was among the braves that
joined the confederacy. As American setters
advanced through the frontier of the Northwest,
they defeated the confederacy at Fallen Timbers,
Ohip, in 1794 and at Tippecanoe Creek in 1811.

In dealing with the Indians of the Northwest

Territory, the United States Government
established the precedence of negotiating formal
treaties with the Indians to gain possession of
land they occupied. These treaties defined and
redefined boundary lines between advancing
white settlements and retreating Indian tribes. in
many of the treaties, provisions were added to
reserve the right of the United States Army to
establish forts at strategic locations within the
newly drawn boundaries of the Indian tarritory.
This chain of events formed a scenario which
was repeated as the American frontier advanced
through the Northwest territory.

Lead Mining and Other Trade with the Indians

In the 1Bth and eariy 19th Centuries, European
trade with the Sauk and Fox Indians involved
more than fur pelts. Although pelts were
profitable, Europeans also traded for lead, corn,
beeswax, feathers, and tallow?® Lead was of
particularimportance to European and American
traders. In fact, Sauk and Fox women were
taught by Frenchmen to mine for lead and to
operate crude furnaces near the Fox villages,
which were close to the present city of Dubuque,
iowa. The Sauk of the Rock River region and the



Bejow: The 1840s lead mining community of Galena, lifinois. Note the smoke frorn the lead furnaces coerating in

the hiffs. [Aflfred W. Musflar, Galena Historical Coflection)

Island and
Dubuque vicinities developed & brisk trade in
lead with Europeans.

The French initially attempted to develop the
lead region of northeast lowa, northern Miinois,

Fox Indians of both the Rock

and southern Wisconsin. However, a series of
Incian wars with the Fox Indian tribe severely
hindered French mining efforts. Fox warriors
periodically raided the fur and mining
expeditions that traveled the portage route
between Prairie du Chien and Green Bay. When
not actually raiding the expeditions, they
extracted & tribute from those that traveled the
route. The Fox tribe, in order to survive a war of
annihilation waged on them by the French, allied
themselves with the Sauk tribe from the Saginaw
Bay area of Michigan. Eventually, the two tribes
migrated to the mouth of the Rock River near
Rock Island.*

In 1788, the Fox indians granted lead diggings
near the present city of Dubugue tc Julien
Dubugue, a French trader. Miners such as
Dubugue shipped lead down river to St. Louis
instead of by portage to the Great Lakes.®

By purchasing the Louisiana Territory from
France in 1803, the Uinited States doubled its
size, and opened the mouth of the Mississippi
River to American commerce. The Mississippi
River no longer formed the western boundary of
the U.S., and by the early 1820s, speculators
began leasing fand in the lead region of the
upper Mississippi Valley from the United States
Government. Out of the mining area along the
Fever Aiver in lllincis grew the mining
community of Galena. Numbering less than 50
persons in 1822, Gaiena's population rose to
over 10,000 people a decade later. The sudden
influx of miners resulted in clashes between the
mining communities and Indians of the area.
This led to the “Winnebago War" of 1827. A
short-lived uprising led by Red Bird, a Winne-
bage chief, was easily put down by a show
of U.S. Army RAsgulars.

Federal Government Acquires Rock Island

In 1804, Rock Isfand came under Federal
control. President Thomas Jefferson instructed
the Governor of the Indiana Territory, William



Below: lsad furnace near Galena. Nole the 75 1b. lead “pigs” stacked behind the scale. [Affred W. Muelier,

Galena Historical Colfections)}

Henry Harrison, {o acquire Indian lands which
adjoined the Mississippi River and its tributaries.
Harrison, later the ninth President of the United
States, made an effort to obtain Indian land
cessions. Through bribery, liguor, and threats,
he succeeded in obiaining these lands and
seized every opportunity to “negotiate” away the
Indian lands.®

In November 1804, four Sauk chiefs and two
Fox chiefs arrived in St. Louis to meet with
Harrison regarding the release of a Sauk brave
being held for killing a white man. Harrison,
during negotiations for the release of this brave,
persuaded the chiefs to sign a treaty which
ceded to the U.S. a vast tract of land controlled
by the respective tribes. The ceded land
included territory on both sides of the
Mississippi River, roughly between the
Wisconsin River on the north and the Missouri
River on the south; and extending east to the
middle of the present IHincis River and west as
far as the watershed region between Des Mocines
and the Missouri River. Both the Sauk viliages
on the Rock River and Rock !sland were included
in the land purchase.

In return, the Indians were to receive the

official protection and friendship of the United
States, and were to be paid $2,234.50 in goods,
plus an additional guaranteed annuity of $1,060
in goods to be received annually thereafter.”

A story regarding the unethical practices used
by William Henry Harrison during negotiations
with the Sauk and Fox chiefs has been included
in several historical works of the Rock Island
area® The minor chiefs . supposedly told
members of their tribes that they were inebriated
during the majority of their stay in St. Louis. The
chiefs explained that the $2,23450 of frade
goods they were to receive from the Federal
Government was instead given to Pierre
Chouteau, a wealthy French fur trader, for
payment of the chiefs' expenses. Chouteau
witnessed the signing of the treaty and also
served as host for William Henry Harrison during
his visit to St. Louis. As for the brave being held
by army authorities, he allegedly was shot while
running from his guards.®

Later, a dispute over the meaning of Article
Seven of the 1804 Treaty led to the undoing of
the Sauk and Fox Indians in Illingis. Article
Seven stated:

As long as the lands which are now
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Below: The Old Choutean Mansion in S1. Louis, MO,

Right: Brothers Pierrs ard Augusts Chouteau, early
French fur traders who respectively parlicipeted

in the 1804 and 1816 U.8. ireaty nagoliations

with Sauk and Fox lndians. (Both pholos from
Augustana Coflege Library Special Colfections}

ceded to the United States remain their
property, the Indians belonging to said
tribes {Sauk and Fox} shall enjoy the
privilege of tiving and hunting upon
them."®

The six chiefs who agreed to the 1804 treaty

were supplied with liquor, however, not
unknowingly. Liquor was certainly nothing new
to the chiefs for Sauk and Fox Indians had been
trading with French and British agents for over a
century and a half. Many traders included liquor
as part of the trade goocds offered the Indians of
the upper Mississippi River Valley.

The chiefs probably believed they were
receiving free fiquor in exchange for granting
Americans the use of hunting grounds they
already shared with other tribes. Furthermore,
the White American concept of land as property
was foreign to Indians. Adding to their
confusion were the differences they encountered
negotiating with American agents rather than
Eurcpeans. Europeans gave “presents” to the
Indians after counseling them. They also readily
extended them credit for pelts yet tc be trapped.

Pierre Choutelu

Auguste Choutenn

The British especially ingratiated themselves
with the Sauk Indians through the use of these
tactics. The gifts and credit placed them in good
favor with the Sauk, while at the same time
indebting the Indians to the British for some
future request or deed.

In contrast, the U.5. Governrment would not
allow its agents to extend credit to Indians.
United States agents were instructed to receive
either pelts, land, or something tangible in
exchange for their trade goods. For several
years after the treaty, many Sauk braves believed
that the $1,000 annuities they received from U.S.
agents were “presents’ rather than payments for
their land." As experienced as the Sauk and
Fox were in dealing with Europeans, they
nevertheless struck a "bad bargain™ with William
Henry Harrison,

Rock island Comes 1o the Atlentlon of the U.S.
Army

Lieutenant Zebulon Pike first brought RAock
Island to the attention of the U.S. Army. In 1805,



Right Wiliam Henry Harrigson, the first Governor of the
Indiana Territory which included Hlinois, was appointed
special commissioner to negoiiate boundary Ireatiss wilh
various Indian iribes. Later, Williarm Henry Harrison

bacame the ninth Prasident of the Unjted States. fAMCCOM-HO)

Balow: Excerpt from beginning paragraph of the 1804
Traaty with Sauk and Fox Indians cited below. Nole
that the purpose of the articie was o bring the two
tribes under LS. infiuence by rasiricting the tribes’
deaiings with foreign powers. [AMCCOM-HO)

A Treaty between the mited States of America

and the United States of Sac and Fox Indians

Articles of a Treaty made at St, Louis in the
District of Louisiana Between William Henry
Harrison, Government of the Indiana Territory
and District and Commissioner Plenspotentary of
the United States for concluding any treaty or

treaties which may be found necessary with any
of the Northwestern Tribes of Indians of the
one part, and the chiefs and headmen of the
United Sac and Fox Tribes of the other part.

Article 1. The United States receive

the United Sac and Fox Tribes inte their
friendship and protection, and the said

tribes agree to consider themselves under the

protection of the United States, and of no

other power whatsoever.

Lower Right Early (LS. Army posts near

§i. Louwis, MO, such as Forl Bellefontaine,

Camp Adams, Cantonment Miller, and Jeffarson
Barracks, served as the siarting points for
numarous mifitary expeditions and exploratory
veriures into the upper Mississippi River Yallay.
Joffarson Barracks is depicted in early sketch

o the right. {Augusiana College Library Special
Coflections)

he led an expedition up the Mississippi River
from St. Lowuis. His instructions were to gather
information regarding the river and to note
potential sites for the construction of forts which
were to be strategically located in the new
territory. In addition, Pike was {0 record British
activity among the Indians of the upper

Mississippi River Valley. Based on Pike's report,
Congress passed iegislation in Jjune 1809 to
reserve Rock -Island, or “big island™ as i was
referred to in Pike's journal, as a federal military
reservation. )

Pike recorded several chance meetings with
individuals and groups on his journey up the



Below: Liputanant Zebulcn Pike, who in 1805 fed arnr exploring parly up the Mississippl River, is pictured at the

lower lefi. (Hauberg Museum, Bleck Hawk Stale Park)

Right:

Mississippi River. In the vicinity of Rock !Island,
he met with James Aird, a fur trader from Prairie
du Chien who operated a trading camp on Credit
island. Mr. Aird informed Pike that in 1781 or
1782 the Sauk village on the Rock River was
burned down by about 300 Americans. This
account corroborated the story regarding
Colonel Montgomery's raid on the Sauk village
guring the American Revolution. According to
his journal, Pike met with four canoes of Sauk
warriors near Rock Island.
We met four canoces of the Sacs, with
wicker baskets filied with young
pigeons. They made motions to
exchange them for liquor to which |
merely turned the back of my hand.”?
Ancther encounter with Sauk warriors was also
included in the Pike journal. Pike mentioned in
his journal a2 meeting he had with a Captain
Many, who was traveling the river in search of
Osage Indian prisoners among the Sauk and Fex
Indians of the region. Captain Many told Pike
that the Sauk expressed hostility towards
Americans during his visit to their village near
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Winter fodge of Sauk and Fox Indians. (Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk Slate Park)

Rock Island. Pike also wrote that a White

American, working as a government
ropresentative, was living among the Sauk and
Fox Indians of the Rock Island vicinity. The
American was hired to teach the Indians
methods of farming; but, according to Pike, was
fired the following year for neglecting his job.
The teacher’'s position was a provision of the
1804 treaty with the Indians.

Sauk and Fox Indians

Lieutenant Pike's journal supported the claim
that Sauk and Fox warriors had & reputation for
being hostile. When Fox and Sauk warriors
controlled the Fox River-Wisconsin River
portage, they were notoricus for demanding
tribute from those who traveled the route. They
were also fond of “taking”™ peits from
neighboring tribes. French traders at Green Bay,
tired of the hostile ways of the two tribes, formed
an alliance with the Menominee, the Ottawas,
and the Chippewas and forced the Sauk and Fox



Below: Traditional Sauk end Fox summaer lodge covered with tree bark. [Quad Cities Times Mewspapsr, Photo

Archives.)

from the area. Migrating to the Rock River in
present day lliinois, the Sauk and Fox warriors in
turn drove the illini Indians from the Rock Island
and Rock River regions.

In addition to defeating the illini and nearly
annihilating the entire Mascoutin tribe, the Sauk
and Fox Indians also sent war parties out against
the Menominees, the Sioux, the Pawnese, and the
Osage, among others. Today, writers and iocal
museum curators tend to emphasize the Sauk's
planting, mining, and hunting skills rather than
their fighting ability. However, the Sauk and Fox
were proud of their reputation as fierce warriors.

LA

American artist George Catlin referred to a
Sauk village on the north banks of the Rock River
as “Saug-e-nug” in his 1837 writings. This may
explain the popular use of the term “Saukenuk”

for the name of the village. Although neither
tribe located its village on Rock Island, they
fraquently visited the island to gather berries,
nuts, fish, and hunt game.

Biack Hawlk's Brilish Band and the War of 1812

Sauk and Fox chiefs attempted to honor the
1804 agreement with the U.S. Government.



Below: Sauk warrior Black Hawk as painted by American artist George Catiin. The original painting by Gaar_ge
Catlin is in the National Portrait Gallery, Smithsonian [nstitution, Weashingion, D.C. (AMCCOM-HO Archives).

However, when war broke out between the
United States and Britain in 1812, a large band of
Indians led by the Sauk warrior Black Hawk
chose to fight as auxiliaries for the British. Black
Hawk, also callied Ma-Ka-Tai-Me-She-Kia-Kiak
or “Black Sparrow Hawk" allegedly offered his
services to American scldiers at Fort Madison;
but the soldiers declined the offer. It was known
that Black Hawk was displeased with the
Americans at Fort Madison for refusing to extend
him credit for winter supply goods. Therefore,
when the British traders arrived at Rock Island,
he readily welcomed them. These traders had a
variety of gifts for the Indians and a confidential
message for Black Hawk. The message, from a
British colonel, urged Black Hawk to raise a war
party and join the British force at Green Bay.

The British Colonel was Robert Dickson, a
British trader active in recruiting Indians 1o aid
the British in the War of 1812. He had long been
a trader at Prairie du Chien.

Black Hawk raised the war party, traveled to
Green Bay, and for a time fought as an ally of the
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British during the War of 1812. Despite his desire
to wage war down the Mississippi Valley, the
British instructed Black Hawk to fight with their
troops near Detroit. Black Hawk and his Sauk
warriors were present during the Fort Dearborn
Massacre of 15 August 1812, However, after
initial success, the fighting did net go well for the
British, and Black Hawk returned 1o his village
on the Rock River.

Though he returned to the village, Black Hawk
remained hostile toward the United States. On
three occasions during the War of 1812, Black
Hawk fed Sauk warriors against U.5. military
forces attempting to journey up river from St
Louis.

Governor  William Clark of the Missouri
Territory, and famous partner of the explorer
Meriwether Lewis, organized the first expedition
from St. Louis in 1814. Clark intended to build a
fort near Prairie du Chien to protect American fur
traders in the upper Mississippi River Valley, and
to create a buffer protecting St. Louis from
British and Indian attack via the Mississippi



Betow: William Clark, Governor and Suparintendent of indian Aftairs for the Missouri Territory. He supervised the
LS. Indian agents al Fori Armstrong. (Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk State Park)

Right: The 1905 dedication of the Hlinois State Memorial commemorating the 1814 Battls of Campbell's Island.

{Rock Istand Counly Historical Sociaty)

River.

With the exception of a skirmish with Sauk
indians near Rock Island, Clark’s expedition
uneventfully made its way up river to Prairie du
Chien. At Prairie du Chien, Clark's men erected
a stockade and named it Fort Shelby. The
detachment of American troops left behind at
Fort Shelby were attacked by the British, forcing
them to abandon Fort Shelby and return to St
Louis. As they returned to St. Louis, the troops
were again fired on by Sauk warriors as they
passed Rock Island.

An earlier attempt by American soldiers to
strengthen the garrison at Fort Shelby alsc
failed. Lieutenant Jochn Campbell, with three
keelboats loaded with 133 regular army and
volunteer scldiers, embarked from St. Louis in
early July 1814 for Prairie du Chien. On 19
July, Campbell's expedition departed Rock
Island and immediately encountered bad
weather. Forced ashore on an island six miles
upstream from Rock Island, Campbell’s vessel
came under attack by Indians. Black Hawk and
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other Sauk warriors had been trailing the three
boats and ambushed the stranded craft.
Lieutenant Campbell and several members of his

crew escaped to another vessel. The National
Intelligencier of August 1814 stated the number
of killed and wounded in this engagement to
have been thirty-six. Lieutenant Campbell and
surgeon’s mate Dr. Abraham Stewart were
among the wounded.”® Black Hawk pillaged the
abandoned keelboat, while Sauk braves scalped
the montally wounded and the dead left behind.
Later, according to Black Hawk's own account of
this incident, the Sauk warriors “put on the
clothes of the dead soldiers and danced over
their scalps”. Black Hawk's account of this
incident is recorded by Antoine LeClaire, a
government interpreter and prominent
businessman of the Rock Island area. According
to LeClaire, Black Hawk stated that he gave the
bkooks and papers found on Campbell's boat to
Britisty soldiers.

Lieutenant Campbell’s boat, partially
destroyed by fire, remained at the battle site and



Right: Colonef Zachary Taylor

who in the War of 1812 unsuccessiufly
fed L.5. forces against Sewk and Fox
indians ai the Batile of Credil Isfand.
Mearly twenly vears fater, Colonel
Taylor would lead U.S. Infantry Regulars
fo victory over Sauk and Fox Indfans in (he
Black Hawk War of 1832. Evartually,
Zachery Tayior would become the
twalfth President of the Uniled Siatgs.
fAMCCOM-HO Archives)

for years was a iandmark for river boats. Since
this historic battle, the island has been referred
to as Campbell's Island. The llinpis state
legislature, around 1904, appropriated $5,00C for
a monument io be placed on Campbell's Istand
in commemoration of those who fought and died
in the battle.

Zachary Taytor and the Batile of Credit Island

During the War of 1812, Zachary Taylor, later
the twelfth President of the United States, led a
reprisal attack against the Sauk of the Rock River
region. In September 1814, as a Brevet Major,
Taylor left St. Louis with 334 men, primarily
militia and rangers, but also including a few
regular army socldiers. His mission was to
undertake a retaliatory strike against the Sauk to
punish them for their attacks on the earlier
American expeditions of Governor Clark and
Lieutenant Campbell. However, before he could
attack, his vessels were discovered. British
artilery placed on Credit Island and Sauk
musket fire riddled Major Tayler's vessels,
forcing them to retreat back to St. Louis.
Lieutenant Duncan Graham was the officer-in-
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charge of the British troops who aided the

indians. Sergeant John Keating of the Royal
Artiliery Regiment earned a commission as a
lieutenant for his efforts in the Battles of Credit
Island and Fort McKay. Besides providing
artillery, the British had gathered a large war
party with Indians from other pro-British tribes to
aid the Sauk and Fox in their fight against the
Americans. Greatly sutnumbered, there was
little more Zachary Tavylor could do but retreat.™

British Conirol of the Upper Mississippi River
Valley

The rivalry between Great Britain and the
United States for dominance over the Indians of
the Northwest was a coniributing factor to the
War of 1812. The British in Canada, acting in
their own self-interest without regard to the
safety of Americans, began supplying arms and
ammunition to Indians known to be hostile
toward Americans. Congress considered British
support of the Indians as one of the reasons for
declaring war against Great Britain.

During the War of 1812, Great Britain
temporarily gained control of the upper



Righl: Sauk warrior Black Hawk was (he feader of
the last hostile Indien uprising in the State of
Minois, known as the Black Hawk War of 1832,
Bfack Hawk stated tha! Rock Isfand supplied his
tribe with fruits, nuts, snd pienty of fish

from the rapids. He said he spent happy

times on the island and that a good spirit

fived in & cave in the rocky bluffs bengath

the Jort. “But tha noigse of the fort has

singe driven him away and no doubt s bad
spirft has taken his place.”

Black Hawk’'s Autobiography

(AMMCOM-HO Archives)

Mississippi River Valley and the Great Lakes
region of the lllinois Territory. American
authority in the territory north of Fort Edwards
collapsed. {The location of Fort Edwards is cited
on the map on page 18). The war ended with the
British in control of all the U.S. forts and the U.S.
Government trading factories in the lllinois
Territory above a line that stretched from Fort
Edwards to Peoria.

Pro-British sentiment remained strong among
some ©f the Indians of the Northwest after the
war. Indians such as the Sauk and Fox
continued to trade with the British after the War
of 1812 and, as late as 1820, Sauk warriors such
as Black Hawk continued tc make their annual
pilgrimage to Fort Maiden, Canada, to receive
presents during their visit with their “British
Father.” Five years after the end of the War of
1812, some Indians, such as the Sauk of Rock
RAiver, continued o display the British flag and
British medals in their village. The British in
Canada had cast a special silver medal to honor
Black Hawk for efforts during the war.”®

Major Morrell Marston, while commanding
~ officer of Fort Armstrong, wrote to Jedediah
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Morse in November 1820 that he considered it

important that, as soon as possible, the
government should exchange all British flags
and medals the Indians had in their possession
for American ones. He also wrote that the flags
given to them ought to be made of silk which
would make them as durable and poriable as the
British flags. According to Major Marston, these
American flags should be large to match the size
of the British flags.'®

Treaty of Portages des Sioux

Though Black Hawk's warriors had been
successful in thwarting American expeditions up
river from St. Louis, the war was not totally
successful for the British. On 24 December 1814,
the War of 1812 concluded with the signing of
the Treaty of Ghent. Though peace with the
British was achieved, such was not the case with
their Indian mercenaries or allies.

However, in 1815, President James Madiscn
appointed Missouri Tarritorial Governor William
Clark, lllinois Territorial Governor Ninian
Edwards, and Auguste Chouteau, a St. Louis fur
trader, as commissioners to negotiate treaties



Below: Often governmenl irading factories were established at military posis. (Fort Howard at Green Bay was ona

such post. (AMCCOM-HO)

Right: A typical fur trader of e Norihwest Territory. (Augustane Collsge Library Special Coffections)

with the principal tribes who aided the British
during the War of 1812. Nine months later, in
September 1815, the U.S. signed a separate
peace treaty at Portages des Sioux with all but a
few of the Indians who had fought for the British.
Instead of attending the peace conference, the
Sauk of the Rock River sent messengers to
Canada to meet with the British. However, the
messengers returned without a promise of aid
from the British. Receiving no support from the
British and fearing an attack by American troops,
the Sauk of the Aock River agreed io peace
terms in St. Louis on 13 May 1816. The treaty
approved by Sauk leaders, including Black
Hawk, reaffirmed the United States
Government’s claim to Sauk and Fox Indian
iands according to the terms set down in the
treaty of 1804. -

Govemment Trading Factories

As early as 1735, 17 years before the War of
1812, the U.S5. Government devised a plan to
reduce the presence of private traders upoen the
Indians of the Mississippi River Valtey. The
Federal Governmeni esiablished & system of
government trading factories and trading posts
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in the Northwest. These government cwned and
operated trading houses made the indians more
econcmically dependent upon the United States,
and by doing so, diminished the influence of
foreign traders upon them. The government
intended the trading factories to also provide the
indians with a more equitable deal than they had
been receiving from private traders, especially
the unscrupulous ones.

Unfortunately, the government trading
factories were ineffective and too costly to
maintain. They had higher overhead than the
private traders, which may account for the fact
that the government prices were usually higher
than those of the private trader. In addition to
being more expensive, the quality of the
government goods was reported to be inferior to
those of the private trader. The Indians
coniinued, however, to trade with foreign agents
and private American traders, though ostensibly
under governmeni control.’”

A note written by Major Morrell Marsten, the
commanding officer at Fort Armstrong on Rock
Isfand from Augusi 1819 - June 1821, best
expressed the Indian attitude toward atiempts by
the U.S. Government io compete with private



Right: Private tradsers regufarly

travelod fo the indian villages with

their trade goods, contrary fo the.
practice of governmerni fraders, who
operated trading posts known as faciories.
fAugustana College Library Special
Colisctions)

traders for their Indian trade. According to Major
Marston, a typical reply by Indians in his vicinity,
when informed that the President of the United
States supplied the trade goods at the
government trading houses, was:
You are a pasi-i-to (a fool), our Great
Father is certainly nc trader; he has
sent those goods to be given to use, as
presenis, but his agents are
endeavoring to cheat us, by selling
them for our pelries.'s
After the War of 1812, the U.S. Government
reestablished trading factories at Prairie du
Chien, Chicago, and Green Bay. In 1818, for
example, the government added a trading house
at Fort Edwards and, in 1819, it was operating
independently. The high traffic of liquor traded
ic Sauk and Fox Indians between the region of
Fort Edwards and Rock Island led to the
establishment of the federal trading factory at
Fort Edwards. The trading of liquor to Indians,
though illegal, was however commonly practiced
by French, Spanish, English, and Amaerican
Traders. As an aside, Indians of the upper
Mississippi Valley purportediy traded
anything they possessed for whiskey. Those
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Indians supposedly bartered away an entire
season’s worth of pelts, clothing off their backs,
their weapons used for hunting, and their
women, to traders for liguor.’

At the factories or trading posts, furs were
sorted as to grade and quality, and treated and
pressed into bales in preparation for shipment.
Trading houses, such as the Fort Edwards
factory, shipped pelts and skins of deer, bear,
beaver, otter, raccoon, and muskrat down river to
St. Louis. During the winter season of 1818, the
Sauk and Fox Indians supplied five traders with
nine hundred-and eighty packs of peltries. They
consisted of 2,760 beaver skins, 322 otter, 13,440
raccoons, 12,900 muskrats, 500 mink, 200 wild
cats, 680 bear skins and 28,680 deer peltries.
The estimated value of the furs was cited at
$58,000 dollars.®® A manager supervised each
factory and, at times had a staff that included
clerks, laborers and interpreters.

Government trading factories were too few
and scatterec to have had any effective impact
on the fur trading business of the Northwest.
The government estimated that during their peak
yvears the factories only handled 10 percent of
the fur business. Indians saw little advantage in



Right: Forf Armsirong, Fort Edwards,
Fort Crawlord, and For! Snelling formed
& chain of miiitary posis, buill along

the upper Mississippi River, in 1816-
1818. The U.S. Army constructed them
to controf the Indians and their (rade,
and to keep the river open (0 SOMMEIce.
{AMCCOM-HO)

trading at the factories. It was more convenient
for. them to deal with private traders who
traveled to their villages than to transport their
peits on a long journey to one of the scattered
government trading houses. In addition, the
government trading factories did not extend
credit or offer liquor. Government trading
factories eventually lost out to the powarful
American Fur Company of John Jacob Astor and
were abolished in 1822

Act of 1816 and the American Fur Company

Congress passed the Act of 1816 that
prohibited foreigners from engaging in trade
with the Indians on American soil. John Jacob
Astor, the leading American fur trading
entrepreneur, lobbied for the passage of the bill.
After securing the legislation, Astor immediately
expanded the American Fur Company and set
into motion his plan to contro} the entire fur
trading business within the United States. He
purchased the remaining third of the Southwest
Company which he had earlier formed with
Moantreal merchants, thus making him the sole
owner. Astor then acquired a number of trading
posts of the British Northwest Company, which
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ware on American soil in the Great Lakes region
of the United States, and secured the services of
the best traders in the upper Mississippi River
Valley and Great Lakes region in his effort to
corner the fur trade. The beginning of the

American Fur Company's operation in the
Northwest in 1817 ¢oincided with the army's
establishment of a series of military posts
throughout the region. Two agents of the
American Fur Company in the Rock island
vicinity were Colonel George Davenport and
Russell Farnham, both of whom played
significant roles in Aock Island’s history,

Army Establishes U.S. Authorily In Valley

The War Department, acting in support of the
Fur Trading Act of 1816, began that same year to
reassert its authority over the Northwest. The
LS. Army planned tc construct & chain of
military posts through the upper Mississippi
River Valley and the Great Lakes region. The
purpose of constructing these posts was twofold:
the forts provided safety for American fur
traders; and, at the same time, prevented British
and French-Canadian traders from operating in
the area.



Below: Fort Snelfing, built in 1819, was originally named Fort Safnt Anthony Falfs. In 1824, it was renamed for its
first commander Josiah Snefling. The fort was situated on a high bluff ai the confiuence of the Minnescta and
Mississippi Rivers. The construction of Forf Sneliing completed a series of U.S. forts built 1o reestablish United
States conirol of the upper Mississippi River Vaelfey. Today, itis a historical site of the Minnesota State Historical
Society. Forl Armshong, &l Aock fsfand, was another of thase posts built after the War of 1812. fAMCCOM-HO)

During the period from 1818-1819, the United
States Army reconstructed Fort Dearborn near
Chicago, built Fort Howard at Green Bay, and
constructed Fort Crawford at Prairie du Chien.
These forts effectively prevented foreign traders
from using the Fox River-Wisconsin Waterway
portage to enter the Mississippi River Valley. |n
addition to Fort Crawford, two smaller posts
were constructed in 1818-1817. They were Fort
Armstrong at Rock Island and Fort Edwards at
the mouth of the Des Moines River. In 1818, Fort
Snelling, constructed at the confluence of the
Minnesota and Mississippi Rivers, completed the
series of forts along the upper Mississippi River
Valley?* The army strategically placed the forls
where it did io impress the Indians and monitor
their trade. Government Indian agencies were
also frequently established at or near these
military posts.

indian Agents

Indian agents and their subordinate agents
ware the official civilian representatives of the
U.S. Government at many of the forts of the
upper Mississippi River Valiey. Agents, such as
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Thomas Forsyth at Fort Armstrong, provided a
communication link between the Sauk and Fox
indians and the Federal Government. The duiies

of Forsyth and his subagenis included
administration of the government's treaty
obligations such as the payment of annuities to
the Sauk and Fox tribes. Forsyth's other duties
included granting licenses for trade with the
Indians; enforcing regulations pertaining to the
fur trade; distributing presents to principal
chiefs; and receiving visiting Indians. Indian
agents also performed the difficult task of
explaining new government regulations and
correcting Indian misconceptions of past
treaties.

An example of an Indian agent performing
such duties occurred in 1818, when agent
Thomas Forsyth informed the Sauk and Fox
tribes that the annuities they had been
receiving were not presents but actually part of
the purchase price for their tands. Although
many Indians continued to accept the annuities,
some did not. Black Hawk among others,
refused to receive any annuitigs after hearing
Forsyth =2



Right: Fort Armstrong, active
1816-1836, was situated on the
narthweast corner of Rock Island,
strategicafly placed to conirof
bofh channels of the Mississipps
River. [AMCCOM-HO Archives)

CHAPTER TWO

FORT ARMSTRONG: THE FIRST PRESENCE OF FEDERAL GOVERNMENT ON ROCK

ISLAND

In the spring of 1816, Brevet Brigadier General
Thomas A. Smith was dispatched fram St. Louis
to Rock Island. . As earlier mentioned the War
Department instructed the army to build a
number of military posts on the upper
Mississippi River to deter British and other
foreign trading outfits from operating in the river
valley. General Smith, remembering the defeats
inflicted upon U.S. expeditions by Sauk and Fox
Indians, sefected Rock Istand as & site for one of
the forts. 2

Brigadier General Smith arrived at Rock Island
in early May 1816 and chese the western tip of
the lower end of the island as the construction
side for the fort. From this site L.5, troops could
observe the troublesome Sauk and Fox Indians;
protect American fur traders; be kept apprised of
any foreign intrigues;, and keep open a line of
communication and commerce to Prairie du
Chien and other posts further up river.
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On 10 May 1818, a detachment of troops from
the U.S. 8th Infantry landed on the island and
immediately began building a fort. Shortly
thereafter, General Smith and a detachment of
troops proceeded up river to construct Fort
Crawford at Prairie du Chien. In General Smith's
absence, Colanel William Lawrence assumed
command of the construction site at Rock Island
and, upon completion, the fort at Rock Island
was named Fort Armstrong in honor of John
Armstrong.

John Armsirong had been an army officer in
the American Revolutionary War and later
served as United States Secretary of War during
President James Madison’s administration. His
role in the U.S. invasion of Canada during the
War of 1812, coupled with the British retaliatory
capture of Washington and their burning of the
capital, led ironically to Armstrong's resignation
as Secretary of War in 1814.



Below: View of Fort Armstrong. Nofe the absancs of fortified walls on-the sides facing the river. The 25" 1o 30

high bluffs provided sufficiant protection.

referrad o in his eutobiography. [AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Also noficeabfe are !he caves bengath the bluff that Bfack Hawk

Description of Fort Armsirong

In many respects Fort Armstrong represented
the army's stock plan for building military posts

an the western frontier. It had squared hewn
timbers with dovetailed corners; and its
blockhouses had an overhang and a monitored
roof which provided a lookout station. Usually,
buildings such as the barracks, which were made
from hewn timber, formed the exterior walls of
the fort. Moticeable was the fact these
buildings had inward sloping shed-type roofs.

At many of the frontier military posts,. pickets
were stationed to guard against surprise attacks.
fn 1817, the army assigned Major Stephsn H.
Long, a topographical engineer, the task of
charting the Mississippi River as far north as
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Prairie du Chien. On 2 August 1817, Major Long
wrote in his journal probably the best description
of Fort Armstrong. He wrote:
The Fort {Armstrong) is situatsed
immediately upon the lower extremity
of Rock Island, at which place the
shores are perpendicular cliffs of
limestone 30 feet high. In some
instances the cliffs project over their
base and even some parts of the Fort
overhang the water.
Major Long elaborated with the following
detailed description of Fort Armstrong:
The Fort {Armstrong) has two entire
faces oniy, the other two sides being
sufficiently fortified against an assault
by the cliffs before mentioned. The



Below: Fort Armsirong, abouf 1845, probably during ils last deys as an army depot. Note that the fort had three
biockhouses with the one {owards the interior being fthe lergesi. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

east face commences immediately
upon the top of the cliff, where hereis a
Block {No. 1) 2 stories high and 21 feet
square. ‘The front upon this side is 277
feet including a Block House {No. 2) at
the NE corner of the Fort 26 feet
square. The North face forms a tight
angie with the east and extands from
Block House No. 2 to the North
Channel of the River, where it is
terminated by Block House No. 3 of the
same dimensions as No. 1, presenting a
front of this side of 288 feet. Both faces
are flanked by Block House No. 2, the
other Block Houses being placed in
such a manner as to form a part of the
Front of the two faces. The Block
Houses are all two stories high, their
second stories being placed diagonally
upon the firstt No. 2 has also a
basement story which is used as a store
house. The faces are made up
principally by the rear walls of the
Barracks and store houses. They are
about 20 feet high and furnished with
two rows of loop holes for muskets.
The spaces between the buildings are
fartified by walls of stone about § fest
high supporting & breast work of timer
5 feet high.

The buildings ranged aloeng the
Faces contain 7 rooms 20 feet square
upcn each side; 8 of which are
occupied as soldiers quarters, 3 as
hospital, 2 as store houses, and 1 as
Guard House. On the south and west

sides detached from other parts of the
works are situated 2 other buildings
{one word illegible} 84 feet long & 16
wide, containing four rooms each,
designed for officers quarters. In the
SW corner is & 2-story building with low
wings designed as quarters for the
Commanding Officer and Offices for
the use of the Garrison. The body of
the building is furnished with Piazzas
on both sides, and the whole combines
a degree of taste and elegance worthy
of imitation at all other military posts in
this part of the country.
The works are contructed principally
of square timber, the lower part of the
biock houses including embrasures (an
opening for a gun in the wall or
parapet) is of stone. The Magazine also
is of stone, 7 by 10 feet in the clear, its
walls 4 feet in thickness. Besides these,
there are a few other buildings outside
the Garrison, viz. a smith shop, sutler's
and contractor's stores, a stable, etc.?
Fort Armstrong's strategic position on the
western tip of Rock Island’'s lower end provided
the fort with command of both channels of the
Mississippi River. Troops constructed
fortifications only on the two sides of the post
facing inland. Steep bluffs eliminated the need
for two fort walls and one blockhouse. The three
block houses of the fort anchored the walls
which faced the interior of the island, and three
companies of infantry were quartered in the
barracks. Additional buifdings housed the fort's
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Bwlow: Excerpted from a raport by Major Morrall M. Marston, Fort Armstrong Commander, 18159-1827, 1o Major
General Macomb, dated Saeptember 10, 1879, Nole that Major Marston's repor! refers to the thres blockhousas
being equipped with thres 8-pounders {canncns). [AMCCOM-HO}

surgeon, interpreter, Indian agent, blacksmith,
servants, officer, and commandant.

The Garrison at Fort Armstrong

Nearly 1,000 men comprised General Smith's
expedition, which constructed military posts
near the mouths of three major tributaries to the
Mississippi River. The expeditions were
composed of 800 regular army soldiers and 150
laborers, which actually comprised at that time
approximately 1/10 of the nation’'s sfanding
army.®
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During construction, Fort Armstrong had &
garrison of 60¢ scldiers; but, shortly thereafter its
number was reduced to less than 200 troopers.
Frequently, between 1824-1836, the garrison at
Fort Armstrong fell below 100 soldiers.

Fort Crawford, iocated near the mouth of the
Wisconsin River, had a garrison strength of
approximately double the size of Fort Armstrong.
Fort Edwards, the first of the three posts to be
constructed, was situated near the mouth of the
Des Moines River at the site of the present
community of Warsaw, llinois, and generally
had a smatler garrison than Fort Armstrong. Its
garrison strength consistently numbered below
100 men. In 1824, the U.5. Army closed fort
Edwards. However, Fort Armstrong continued
as an active military post until 1836 and an army
garrison remained at Fort Crawford until 1856,

The initial site selection of Fort Crawford, near
Prairie du Chien, was poor. Spring flocds forced
the selection of a new site further back from the
Mississippi River. Fort Crawford was abandoned
briefly in 1826, but reestablished only a short
time later with the construction of a new stone
fort.



Below: Fort Crawford, near Preirie du Chien, Wisconsin, at the confiuence of the Wisconsin River and the
Mississippi River. Spring Hoods forced the selaction of & new sile farther back from the river. The post was
abandoned briefly in 1826, bul with the increasingly hostife indian situation a new stone fort was consfructed.

{Davenport Public Librery Special Collections}

The small army posts situated in the West,
alang the upper Mississippi River, were isolated
from civilization especially during the winter
months when the river froze over. Periodic stops
by suppiy boats or mail couriers who arrived by
river or by overtand routes broke the isolation

with news from the East. Each post, however,
was alsc visited by an inspector general who
attempted annuatly to conduct an inspection
tour of all posts on the western frontier. His visits
brought military discipline to the posts and
raised the esprit de corps of troops whose spirit
and training had eroded due to isolation and the
lack of soldierly instruction.

From 1826 to 1845, Colonet George Croghan,
a hero of the War of 1812, served as the inspector
general of these outposts. Colonel Croghan
annually toured the western frontier inspecting
posts and preparing first hand comments of
activities at the forts for inclusion in his official
reports to Washington.

His inspection report of Fort Armstrong in
August 1826 praised the post for the excellent
deportment displayed by its soldiers. Colonel

Croghan attributed the discipline to the lack of
whiskey available at Fort Armstrong during
Major J.H. Vose's command. Major Vose
enforced general orders which restricted each
soldier's purchase of liquor tc one gill (% of a
pint or four ounces). The four cunce daily ration
from the post sutler was poured out at the mess
hall door. Soldiers who received permission o
purchase whiskey received a haif-a-gill raticn
{twe ocunces) just before breakfast, and the
remaining two ounces at dinner. Although
general orders from the Adjutant Genreral's
Office restricted, then banned, the daily ration of

- alcohol at military posts, replacing it with coffee,
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the soldiers at Fort Armstrong and other
instatlations managed to purchase a steady
supply of liquor from other sources.®

The life of a soldier at Fort Armstrong tended
to be routine, especially during. the winter
months when the Mississippi River froze over
and the river closed to navigation.

The soldiers, in addition to their military tasks
of performing guard duty, drilling, and keeping
the peace, served as carpenters, teamsters,



Below: A pariigl listing of the Commanding Officers of Fort Armsirong, 1818-1832. Thase officers commanded
the fort during the evenis which fed to the Black Hawk War of 1832, {AMCCOM-HO Archives)

FORT ARMSTRONG

Commanding Officer Date: From To Garrlson:

Capt. M. Marston, Aug --, 181%  Jun --, 1821 Company F

Fifth Infantry

Capt. S. Burbank, Jun --, 1B21 Jua --, 1823 Company D,E,F, and H
Fifth Infantry

Maj. J. H. Vose, Jun --, 1823  Jun 4, 1825  Company D,E,F, and H
Fifeh Infantry May 2!, 1B26 Oct 9, 1827 Fifth Infantry

Capt. J. Plympton, Oct 9, 1827 Apr z's, 1828 Companies E and H
Fifth Infantry Fifth Infantry

Capt. J. Green, Apr 30, 1828 Jun --, 1828 Companies C and G
Third Infantry Third Infantry

Capt. J. §. Netson, Jun --, 1828 Aug 13, 1828 Companies C and G

Third Infantry

Capt. John Bliss
Third & First
Infantry

Jul 27, 1830

Sep 2, 1831

gardeners, hospitat orderlies, blacksmiths, and
livestock handlers. At times, a portion of the
troops stationed at Fort Armstrong would be
detached to either Fort Crawford or Fort
Edwards. Soldiers also were frequently
dispatched to the lgad mining region near
Galena and Dubugue. Officers stationed at Fort
Armstrong, or at ons of the other frontier postsin
the Mississippi Valley, often went on furlough to
escape the drudgery of frontier duty. Soldiers on
furiough for more than a year without leave,
however, were reported as deserting the army.
Desertion and drunkennaess among the froops
were two of the more serious problems that the
Commanding Officer of Fort Armstrong had to
contend with on the frontier. Other problems
included enforcement of regulations that
prohibited foreign traders and the sale of alcohol
to Indians. Periodically, soldiers who strayed

Jul 26, 1831

May 4, i832
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Third Infantry

Companies D and H
Third Infantry
Companiek C and K
First Infantry

from the garrison were killed and scalped by
Indians. One such soldier, John Haines, left Fort
Armstrong alone to hunt on 27 September 1820,
His body was discovered a week later, shot,
scalped, and mutilated with multiple stab and
club wounds. The army responded to such acts
of violence by demanding that the responsible
tribe, in this case the Winngbagos at Prophet's
Town, turn over to them the guilty party. To
ensure such action was taken, the army held five
Winnebago chiefs as hostages until the
murderers were delivered to them.

Colonel George Davenport and Antoine LeClaire

Two future entrepreneurs, George Davenport
and Antcine LeClaire, became historically
significant individuals. Davenport was employed
as the post sutler at Rock Island and Antoine



Below: Russel Farnham, pariner of
Cofone! Davenpart. In 1826, they buift

an inn around which the village of
Farnhamsburg, IL, developed. This

site is now parlt of Rock Isfand, L.
{Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk State Park)
Right: Colonel! George Davenpori, foremost
founder of Rock Island ares.
fAMCCOM-HO Archives}

LeClaire was hired as the interpretar for the Fort
Armstrong commander and the Indian agent.
Both of these men became prominent business
leaders of the communities they later founded
on each side of the Mississippi River opposite
Rock Island.

in 1816, the army did not have a commissary
department that provided personal items to
soldiers. Instead, a private contractor was
commissicned by the government to provide the
items. George Davenport, as the agent for the
private contractor, sold supplies to the soldiers
stationed at Fort Armstrong. He had been a
seaman, an army recruiting sergeant, and a post
sutler. However, Davenport did not become
wealthy until he started trading with the Indians.
In 1818, he quit his post sutler position and
devcted his time entirely to his Indian trade
business. Davenport became a full-time trader
the same year lllinois became the 21st state tc be
admitted to the union. in addition to his store on
Rock Island, Davenport estabiished severai other
trading posts in the area.

In 1822, George Davenport expanded his
trading operations with various tribes of the
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upper Mississippi River Valley. He established a
trading post on the Fever River near Galena,
illinois. Colonel Davenpoert also set up trading
houses at Flint Hills {Burlington, towa), at the

mouth of the lowa River; and on the
Wapsipinicon {(Wapsi) and Maguoketa Rivers in
lowa territory. He also included in his operations
three trading posts along the Rock River in
lllinois.

At Rock !sland, George Davenport’'s double
log cabin Initially served as a combination
trading post and quarters. Indians and early
settiers frequently visited Davenport's cabin to
receive provisions on credit. He provided them
with “grub stakes” (credit) until they were ready
to market their peltries or crops.

Considered by many to be the first white
civilian to live on Rock Island, George Davenport
was born in England and came to the United
States as a young man. He used his English
background to gain the confidence and trade of
the. Sauk, Fox, and Winnebago tribes.
Wabokieshiek, also known as the Prophet, was
leader of the Winnebagos camped on the Rock
River at Prophet's Town. These Indians



Below: Double log cabin, Cofonel Davenport's Irading posi end quarters on Rock Isfand.

“Refic™ af Fort

Armstrong Series of sterecscope views by Western View Company. {AMCCOM-HOQ)

considered George Davenport as an Englishman
and friend.

Davenport's wealth increased after he formed
a partnership with Russell Farnham in 1824. In
1826, the two traders sold their trading business
to Astor's American Fur Company and became
agents for that trading company. Also in 1826,
Davenport and Farnham built a combination inn,

- tavern, and stagecoach station, known as the
John Barrel House, on the Mississippi shore at a
site which was within the city of Rock island.
The station was part of a stage route to Galena
from southern lllincis. The village of
Farnhamsburg, one of two villages that formed
the city of Rock Island, developed around that
inn. The Jchn Barrel House became the seat of
justice for Rock Island County and was the site
of the county’'s first election.

George Davenpori capitalized on the
increasing traffic between southern fllinois and
Galena. A man of many talents, he piloted The
Virginian, the first steamboat to dock at Rock
island through the “Upper Rapids” or Rock
Island Rapids of the Mississippi River. The
steamboat serviced the lead mining region of
Dubuque and Galena. Soon Mississippi
steamboats were frequently navigating the
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“Utpper Rapids” carrying workers and supplies to

" this mining region. Lead diggings near Dubuque

and Gslena, approximately 100 miles upstream
from Rock lsland, increased the local econamy.
Traders, such as Davenport, had for several
years acquired lead, as well as pelis by barter
with the Sauk and Fox Indians. John Shaw,
another trader who -opserated a trading boat
between St. Louis and Prairie du Chien, also
traded with the indians for lead. By 1823,
thousands of pounds of lead were being shipped
downstream from the mines around Galena and
Dubugue. )

It was not long before settlers, speculators,
and men looking for work made their way to
these mines north of Rock Island. Not all of the
traffic traveled by boat; many walked the trails
across the Rock River Valley and along the
Mississippi River to Galena. By 1823, a few of
these travelers from southern llinois settled as
squatters on Sauk lands along the Rock River
Valley. Since the land had not yet been surveyed
or opened for public sale, these setilers were
encroaching upon the Indians camped near the
mouth of the Rock River.

Anigine LeClaire, post interpreter, was of
French and Potawatomi Indian background, and



Below: Antoine LeClaire, pert French and
Potiawatormi Indian, was the U.S. interpreter
at Fort Armsirong. Lalter, fie becams &
prominent fand daveloper and & prosperous
resident of Davenport, fowa. {Putham Museum
Davenpor, lowa.)}

Right Signing of the treaty of 1825 at

Prairie du Chien. {Augustana Coflege Library
Special Coffections)
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acquired vast tracts of land from these Indians.
He served as interpreter at treaty councils
between the Sauk and Fox nation and the U.S.
Government which took place in 1828, 1831,
1832, 1836, 1837, and 1842. From the treaty of
29 July 1829, Antoine LeClaire and wife Frances
received two sections of land totaling 1,280 acres
from the Sauk and Fox Indians. The LeClaire
Reserve, another tract of land, was acguired by
LeClaire after serving as interpreter during the
1832 Black Hawk Treaty. Davenport purchased
this ltand frem LeCldire, and at the head of the
“Upper Rapids” or Rock Island Rapids laid out
the town of LeCiaire naming it in his honor.
According to George W. Wickstrom's work, The
Town Crier:

Colonel George Davenport and two
other men who had an eye for a little
quiet speculation in corner lots plotted
a city in 1832 or 1833 where
downtown Rock Island now -stands.
They laid out whole blocks for court,
jail, churches, and a college, and they
rnamed the streets for the mighty men,
white and red, who then lived in these
parts.®”

In 1836, LeClaire and Davenport, along with a
few other land speculators, founded the city of
Davenport on the west bank of the Mississippi
River opposite Rock Island. Colonel Davenport
purchased an interest in the town site of Port
Byron, lllinois, and later, in 1841, he laid cut an

addition to the city of Moline. Rock Island
became the “cradle” of the Quad Cities. Much of
the organizing and mapping out of these
communities occurred at mestings heid at the
Davenport House located on Rock Island.

Impaci ol Intertribal Feuds Upon Rock Island
Region

Intertribal squabbles and sporadic fighting
took place among various tribes of the
Mississippi River Valley which disturbed and
frightened settlers near Fort Armstrong. Settlers
were shocked by the ruthlessness of Indian
intertribal warfare. Under the Indian code of
conduct, no ong of the enemy tribe was spared.
Indian agenis and commanders at Fort
Armstrong and other military posts along the
Mississippi River intervened constantly in
intertribal feuds to prevent disputes from
erupting into full scale frontier wars.
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Below: Sauksnuk, a Sauk Indian village which was once sr'l'uare& on the banks of the Rock River, near the
confiuence of the Rock and Mississippi Rivers. {Hauberg Mussum, Black Hawk State Park}

In 1825, the U.S. Government attempted to
arrange peace between warring Sioux and the
Sauk and Fox fribes. According to Indian
tradition, relatives of a murdered victim coutd
demand payment in blood or “gifts” from the
attackers to “cover” the loss of their dead
relative. Government agents tried to develop a
plan which eliminated the need for such
avenging attacks. The gevernment attempted to
provide a peaceable solution to the problem. [t
agreed to cover the dead on both sides of the
Indian conflict. Government officials considered
such a procedure to be less expensive than
mobhilizing the army.

The plan, however, proved ineffective.
Territorial encroachments by hunting parties
continued to occur and many of the hunting
parties returned to their villages with the scaips
of their enemies.

Settiers feared an attack on the Sauk and Fox
villages near Dubuque and Rock Island by the
Sioux, Menominee, and Winnebago Indians
might threaten their settiements. Captain
Wynkoop Warner, a sub-agent at Fever River
near Gatena, attempted to ameliorate intertribal

warfare by inviting the Fox chiefs of the
Dubuque and Rock Island vicinities to parley
with Sioux, Menominee, and Winnebago forces.
However 18 chiefs and 1 woman from the Fox
village across from Rock Island were attacked by
a war party of Sioux, Winnebago, and
Menominee warriors while en route to the parley.
The attackers spared one of the Fox chiefs sohe .
could return to his village and teli the tale of the
attacks. Again, as in other attacks, the massacre
of the Fox leaders was in retaliation to earlier
hostile acts performed by the Sauk and Fox
agsainst the Sioux.?®

The Sauk and Fox tribes prepared for war by
mobilizing a force of approximately 1,000 braves.
However, the Fox tribe camped near Dubuque,
fearing an attack from the Sioux and their atlies,
evacuated its village and fled downstream to
Sauk and Fox villages near Rock Island. Assoon
as the Fox village was abandoned, squatters
from Galena took possession of the Indian
diggings; however, federal troops drove off
these infruders.

Government agents negotiated a treaty, in July
1830, with the feuding Indians that supposedly



Right: MNext fo Keokuk, Chiglf Wapelfio

was probably the most inffuential feadsor
among the Seuk and Fox Indians.
(Hauberg Museumn, Black Hawk Slate Park)

“covered” (provided payment for) the iosses on
all sides involved in the intertribal fighting. An
interesting side note to the treaty was that the
American Fur Company obtained a provision to
the ireaty whereby Saiuk and Fox Indians were
obligated to pay the debts they owed to
Company agents, George Davenport and Aussell
Farnham, from the future sale of tribal lands to
the United States.®

Unfortunately, the intertribal warfare was not
resolved by the treaty of 1830. Many Fox Indians
felt the gifts they received to cover the loss of
their dead chiefs had not been sufficient;
besides, the desire for revenge was too great
among many of the Fox braves. In August 1831,
a combined Sauk and Fox war party massacred
twenty-five Menominee camped at Prairie du
Chien in retaliation for the previous slaughter of
Fox leaders. When United States agents realized
that their plan to prevent any future revenge
raids by covering the dead on all sides would not
prevent another series of retaliatory attacks,
they called for military intervention. Winter
prevented, however any immediate action by the
United States Army. In the following spring,
General Henry Atkinson, representing the United
States Government, held a council at Rock
Island in which he threatsned to use military
force, if necessary, to apprehend the braves
involved in the attack on the Menominees.
Keokuk and Wapello, two chiefs who were
consistently friendly to the United States
Government, agreed to the demand. The chiefs,
however werg not able to deliver more than
three participants to the massacre. The others
involved in the slaughter at Prairie du Chien had
joined Black Hawk's hostite band camped on the
Rock River. The government did not press the
issue any farther, fearing that a show of military
force might drive more braves into the camp of
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the hostiles. Many Sauk and Fox Indians were
bitter against the Americans because their Fox
leaders were killed while trying to comply 10 a
request by the Uniied States Government.

Encroachment by Squatiers

Civilization steadiiy encroached on the Indians
in lllinois. Though lllinois achieved statehood in
1818, much of the northern portion of the state
had yet 10 be settled. By 1827, the lead mining
community of Galena had become the county
seat for the newly organized Jo Davies County,
as a result of an increase in population. In that
same year, a road linking scuthern lllinois with
Galena was being surveyed and staked out. In
the midst of this progress, the commanding
officer at Fort Armstrong had to dispatch arms
and ammunition to Galena to defend the
settiement against an wuprising of hostiie
Winnebagos. A show of military force by army
regulars quickly put down the uprising. Iflinois
Governor Ninian Edwards, in response to the
outbreak of Indian hostilities, petitioned the War
Department to remove all hostile tribes,
including the Winnebagos and the Sauk and Fox,



Right: Hzokuk and his son.
{Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk
Slate Park)

from Ulinois. The War Department, in turn,
pressured Tom Forsyth, the Indian agent at Fort
Armstrong, to convince the Sauk and Fox tribes
that they should leave lliinois and relocate cn the
west bank of the Mississippi River. In the fail of
1828, Keokuk, spokesman for the friendly faction
of the two tribes, persuaded many of the Indians
to join him at a new camp situated on the lowa

- River in what is now the state of lowa. However,
a smaller more militant faction Jed by Black
Hawk remained at the Sauk village located on the
banks of the Rock River. Eventuaily dissident
Indians from the Fox and the Kickapoo tribes
joined Black Hawk's band. Counting women and

- children, the hostile band numbered
approximately 1,500 Indians. Keokuk’'s peaceful
group included a majority of the Sauk and Fox
braves and their chiefs, and the camp numbered
approximately 3,500 Indians.

Black Hawk's band continued to live in Hllincis
and practiced their Indian traditions. After the
crops had been harvested in the fall, the braves
left their village on the Rock River to participate
in their annual winter hunt. In the fall of 1828,
and again in 1829, news spread throughout the
state that Black Hawk's British band had left
inois for good. A rumor also spread that the
supposedly abandconed Sauk land would be
offered for public sale by the Government Land
Office. Soon squatters began to cccupy some of
the lodges and portions of the land near the Rock
River village; but each spring, to their surprise,
Black Hawk's band returned to the viilage. Black
Hawk was astonished by the increasing number
of settlers residing in the Rock Island vicinity.
Disputes arose between the settlers and. Indians
over possession of lodges, cornfields, and fand.
The Indians resented their lodges being
occupied or destroyed by squatters; their
cornfields being fenced in and taken possession
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of by these seftlers; and their burial grounds
being destroyed by the squatters piows. A clash
between the Indians and settlers was inevitable
as both sides centinuously harassed one
another. The Indian agent at Fort Armstrong
received a steady stream of complaints from
settlers and braves. Squatters were especially
adept at writing petitions and letters of
grievances. Governor Reynolds, upon receiving
these written pleas for the removal of Biack
Hawk's British band from lllinois, wrote the War
Department for assistance. He alsc called for a
volunteer army of Hlinois citizens to, if
necessary, remove Indians by force.®

Article seven of the 1804 treaty stated the Sauk
and Fox Indians could remain at their Indian
settlements for as long as the Federal
Government possessed the land. Instead of
dispatching troops to force an eviction, which
would have violated the spirit of the 1804 treaty,



Below: Keokuk, rival of Black Hawk, was appointed Chisf of Sauk Indians by Iffinois Governor J. Reynolds and
General W. Scoll &l the close of the Bfack Hawk War. [(AMCCOM-HQO Archives)
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Right [flincis Governor John Reynolds,
organized ihe State Voluniesrs against
Black Hawk's party.

fHeubarg Mussum, Black Hawk Stals Park)

the Federal Government began to open portions
of the Sauk fand for public sale.

In October 1829, the U.S. Government Land
Office opened for public sale the land in the
vicinity of the ofd Sauk village. Colonsl George
Davenport and his partner, Russefl Farnham,
purchased 80 percent of this land. Black Hawk,
believing he had the support of other tribes and
the support of the British in Canada, threatened
the settiers and demanded they leave.

The settlers were convinced the Sauk had
formed an alliance with the Fox, Kickapoo,
Potawatomi, and Winnebago tribes. Fearing an
attack, the settfers fled to Fort Armstrong and
Davenport’'s trading post on Rock Island.

Colonel Davenport erected a stockade around
his cabin and outbuildings and placed an old
swivel gun at the entrance. Only a garrison of 8C
U.S. Regulars, under the command of Captain
John Bliss, stood between the settlers and what
they believed to be several thousand hostile
Indians. '

Governor Reynolds, fearing a possible
massacre, requested additional federal troops to
protect the settlers. In response, General
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Gaines, at Jefferson Barracks near St. Louis,
dispatched a large military force to Rock Island.

As a show of force until reinforcements
arrived, Captain Bliss had his soldiers begin
target practice. He also ordered the firing of
morning and evening (cannons) guns for the first
time.

General Gaines and six companies from the
6th U.5. Infantry arrived at Rock Island by
steamboat in early June 1831, and Colonel
Zachary Taylor brought four additional
companies down from Fort Crawford to Rock
Island. In an attempt to peaceably settle the
dispute, General Gaines held a council with Sauk
and Fox leaders. Keokuk, Wapello, and other
chiefs arrived peacefully at the council; however,
Black Hawk did not. He appsared with his
warriors in war paint; carrying arms; and singing
war chants.® '

General Gaines explained the government's
position regarding the tand the Sauk and Fox
had ceded t0 the United States. He stated that by
the provisions of the 1804 treaty, the Indians
must relocate because the government had
opened the ceded land for public sale. Keokuk



Righl: Major General Edmound P. Gaines,
parigyed with Black Hawk at Fort Armsfrong
in 1831, {Heuberg Museum, Biack Hawk
Stata Park)

and the other chiefs encouraged Black Hawk and
his band to cross the Mississippi River and join
them at their camp. However, Black Hawk
refused to leave.

©n 19 June 1831, Governor Reynolds arrived
with his volunteer army and joined General
Gaines near the mouth of the Rock River. The
combined forces closed in on the Sauk village.
U.S. Aegulars, along with a company of local
volunteers known as the Rock River Rangers,
marched from Fort Armstrong across the site of
the present day city of Rock Island to the Sauk
village on the Rock River. The Rock River
Rangers was comprised of 58 men and older
boys from the Rock River Region.

The steamboat Enterprise carried a company
of soldiers and a cannon up the Rock River to the
Indian camp. However, when the troops arrived
at the village, they found it deserted. Black
Hawk, fearing that the rowdy, undisciptined
Rangers could rnot be controlled by their officer,
had fled with his band across the Mississippi
River the previous night. The Rangers, who were
spailing for a fight, took out their frustrations by
destroying the abandoned Sauk village.
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General Gaines sent an ultimatum to Black
Hawk stating that if he did not return 1o the
counci! he would send his army across the
Mississippi River after him. On 30 June 1831,
Black Hawk met with Governor Reynolds and

General Gaines at Rock Island. At this
conference, 27 chiefs and warriors, including
Black Hawk, signed a treaty that included three
major agreements: to honor the provisions of the
1804 treaty, to move to Keokuk’'s camp on the
lowa; and not to return across the Mississippi
River without the permission of the .U.S.
Governmeni. In addition, the Sauk and Fox
tribes were to break off all communication with
the British. In return, the U.S. Government
agreed to provide food and replace the loss of
the cornfields that Black Hawk's party
abandoned on the Rock River in lllinois.
Within a year Black Hawk had broken his
promise. On 8 April 1832, Black Hawk and his
party recrossed the Mississippi River. They
entered the state of lllincis at Yellow Banks near
the present community of Oquawka. According
to several accounts, Black Hawk and his British
band crossed the Mississippi singing and



Below: General Herry Afkinson
{AMCCOM-HO Archives}
Right: Map showing the course
of Black Hawk's band during the
Bleck Hawk War of 1832,
{AMCCOM-HO Archives}

(Lssissippi

banging their drums in what seemed a very
threatening manner. Settlers in the Rock Isfand
vicinity, upon hearing the ruckus, fled to Fort
Armstrong for protection. To the settlers on the
lllingis frontier, it appeared that Black Hawk's
band was a war party invading the state to attack
their settlements. The settlers and government
officiats responded to this threat by arming
themselves, organizing a state army of mounted
voiunteers, and calling for assistance from
federal _troops.

Although the sight of approximately 1,500
Indians noisily crossing the river startled the
settlers, the band was not a typical war party.
Women and chiidren customarily did not travel
with war parties. Black Hawk's band that
crossed the river, however, consisted of nearly
500 warriors and approximately 1,000 women
and chiidren.

Black Hawk claimed his party had accepted an
invitation from the “Prophet” to live and to plant
corn at Prophet's Town, located up the Rock
River nearly 40 miles from Rock Island.
However, Black Hawk_did possess some vague
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plan to persuade Keokuk and his followers to
join his conspiracy; but they refused. Two
members of the dissident band provided Black
Hawk with faufty advice. The Prophet related to
Black Hawk his visions of neighboring tribes
joining him in driving off the settlers. Neapope,
one of the few Sauk chiefs to have joined the
dissident band, falsely informed Black Hawk that
he had received a pledge of arms and
ammunition from the British during a visit io
Canada in 1831. Based on this information,
Black Hawk began his journey to retake his
former viilage., Not grasping the severity of his
situation, he ignored messages from Fort
Armstrong and from the peaceful Sauk and Fox
camps advising him to return to the west banks
of the Mississippi River. lllinois Governor John
Reynolds labeled the Indian crossing an
invasion and calfed for the immediate formation
of an army of state volunteers to drive them back
across the river.

Governor Reynolds defended his organization
of a volunteer army by saying, “if | did not act,
and the inhabitants were murdered after (| was)



Below: The siockads gracted by anxious civilians near Galana during the Bleck Hawk War. [(Affred W. Muelfer,
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informed of their situation, 1 would be
condemned.”® It was aiso clear that Governor
Reynolds equated victory over the indians with
political victory. In a letter to General Atkinson
he wrote: “Nothing will save me but a decisive
stroke on the Indians.”® The Governor
circulated petitions asking for aid throughout the
counties, and he made speeches urging people
to volunteer to defend the frontier. After
receiving General Gaines’ written report of his
earlier meeting with Black Hawk at Rock Island,
Governor Reynolds wrote to Gaines that:
1 was very much rejoiced on receiving
{your} letter, as it puts my whole
proceedings on a legal and
constitutional footing, the responsibil-
ity of the war was removed from me.
While Black Hawk’'s band was proceeding up
the Rock River toward the Winnebago camp at
Prophet's Town, federal troops were on their way
to Rock Island. General Atkinson left Jefferson
Barracks near St. Louis with the 6th Infantry
Regiment on 10 Aprit 1832. Governor Reynolds
had assembled 2,000 volunieers at Beardstown,
Hiincis. Mear Yellow Banks, the volunteers,
under the command of General Samuel
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Whiteside, were to be joined by General
Atkinson’s Regiment.

Fort Armstrong became the headquarters for
military operations during what would be known
as the Black Hawk War. A company of lllinais
volunteers were stationed at Fort Armstrong as
reinforcements from April to June 1832, The
company pulled garrison duty and was

-composed of men from Rock Island and nearby

counties. George Davenport supposedly
volunteered for duty during the Indian trouble
and received the commission of quartermaster at
Fort Armstrong with the rank of Colonsl.

In the 15 weeks of the Black Hawk War, a
majority of the fighting actually tock place in
northern lllingis and southern Wisconsin, even
though the spark that ignited the conflict
happened in the vicinity of Rock Island. After
Black Hawk had inflicted a humiliating defeat on
a detachment of 275 mounted volunteers
commanded by Major Isaiah -Stitlman at
Sycamore Creek near Dixon Ferry, it was no
longer possible to settle the dispute peaceably.

Major Stitiman's Rangers, anxicus to fight
Indians, had volunteered o serve as a scouting
party for the U.S. Regulars. Stillman’s treops,



Below: Posters such as this helped shape public opinion and contribuled to the spreading of fear among civilians
of & general Indian uprising on the frontfer. {Davenport Public Library Special Coftections} Middle: Sauk warrior
Se-us-kirk, son of Black Hawk. {Rock isfand County Historical Society) Right: Major Isaiah Stiliman (Augustana

Coliege Library Special Colfections)
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ignoring an opportunity to parley with Btack
Hawk, fired on Indian messengers carrying a flag
of truce. The Rangers pursued the few Indians
that escaped to Sycamore Creek, where Black
Hawk surprisingly attacked the Rangers. Black
- Hawk and approximately 40 braves routed the
volunteers. . Stillman's mounted Rangers
panicked and retreated. Only 11 volunteers
actually were Killed in the skirmish, but their
bodies were horribly destroyed. The Indians had
scalped them and mutilated them. The rout of
these undisciplined volunteers became known in
the Rock Island vicinity as the Battle of Stillman's
Run. War could no longer be avoided, and state-
wide panic occurred as newspapers in the state
carried vivid accounts of the butchery. The
politicians, regular soldiers, and volunteer
Rangers became more determined to defeat
Bfack Hawk.3*

Black Hawk's band fled north, searching for a
place to recross the Mississippi River. During
these weeks of fiight, isolated attacks occurred by
small bands of warriors. The raiding Indians
would sneak up on a lone cabin, then murder,

37

scalp, and steal provisions of the inhabitants.
The roving parties included Winnebago,
Potawatomi, and Kickapoo braves in addition to
Sauk and Fox warriors. On 27 May 1832, a
raiding party attacked three families that had
gathered at a cabin along Indian Greek, just six
miles north of Ottawa, near the lllinois River.
The Indians massacred 15 men, women, and
children at the cabin, but spared two 17 and 15
year old sisters. The sisters were taken captive
and later ransomed for horses at Blus Mound,
Wisconsin.®

Besides attacking lone cabins, the small bands
of marauding warriors also ambushed travelers.
Another example of the random nature and
savageness of the attacks by these small, roving
war parties occurred on 23 May 1832. Felix St.
Vrain, the Indian agent at Fort Armstrong who
had replaced Thomas Forsyth, was killed whife
delivering dispatches from Fort Armstrong to
Galena. Agent St. Vrain and his three
companions were killed and scalped.
Reportedly, St. Vrain's body was dismembered
and his heart cut out and eaten by his kitlers.3”



Below: Ligutanant Robert E. Lee. In
1837, he surveysd the upper rapids of
the Mississippi River at Rock Isfand.
{Davenport Fublic Library)

Right: The upper rapids al Rock Island
forced steambost crows to unload their
cargo and trensport it overland past the
rapids in order to lighten the vesse!

for its trip through the rapids. Rock
Island was 8 bresk-of-bufk point.
(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Many of the settlers serving as Rangers on the
lilinois frontier were just as savage. Several of
these citizen volunteers took Indian scalps as
trophies during the campaign. The federal
troops were issued specific orders not to scalp or
mutilate any Indians in the course of the conflict.
The Black Hawk War was the last gasp in defense
of preserving the Indians’ way of life in llinois.

During the Indian conflict, progress
continued to be made in opening the state’s
northern frontier region. In 1829 Lieutenant
Mapoleon Buford, while on topographical duty,
began to draw up surveys of the rapids of the
upper Mississippi River, including those at Rock
island. Also in 1829, President Andrew Jackson
appointed & commission to approach the Fox
indians regarding the transfer of mineral rights
to the Federal government.® On 9 February
1831, the lllinois state legislature passed an act
to establish Rock Island County, which included
the area of the former Sac village. Section One
of the act established the boundaries. Section
Two stated that 350 inhabitants were needed for
a general glection to be held for the electing of
three commissioners, a sheriff, and a coroner.
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Due to the Indian unrest in the Rock tsland area,
the county elections were not held until 1833.

Battie of Bad Axe and the Capture of Black Hawk

Black Hawk and his followers continued north
along the Mississippi River searching for a place
to cross. On 2 August 1832, General Atkinson,
with about 500 Regulars and some volunteers,
caught up with Black Hawk’s bancd in southern
Wisconsin at the confluence of the Bad Axe River
and the Mississippi. At the Battle of Bad Axe the

Indians were decisively defeated by federal

forces with the aid of the steamboat Warrior and
its six-pound gun. Driven into the river by their
pursuers, the Indian warriors, their old people,
women, and children were shot down or drowned
as they tried to escape. Many of those that
reached the west banks of the Mississippi were
slain by a band of Sioux recruited by the U.S.
Army. Black Hawk, however, escaped with a
small band that included the Prophet. Two
weeks later, they were captured by Winnebago
Indians who alsc had been recruited by the
United States Army. The army had also recruited
Sioux Winnebago, and Menominee warriors to



Below: The Baltie of Bad Axe depicted below resulted in a crushing deleat and sfaughier of Black Hawk's band of

hostife indians. {AMCCOM-HO Archives)

aig in the capture of Black Hawk.

Lieutenant Robert Anderson, later of Fort
Sumter fame, was one of the army officers
aboard the steamboat, Warrior. In addition to
Lieutenant Anderson, an impressive number of
participants in the Black Hawk War fater became
famous as politicians and as soldiers. Included
among the roll call of Black Hawk War veterans
were United States Presidents, Abraham Lincoin
and Zachary Taylor; Commander-in-Chief of the
L.S. Army Genera! Winfield Scott; and Secretary
of War and later President of the Confederate
Siates of America, Jefferson Davis. Several
other participants later rose to the military rank
of General. Among this group were two
Confederate Generals, Albert Sidney Johnsan
and Joseph E. Johnson. A half dozen other
veterans of the Black Hawk War were later
elected Governor of illinois, and another veteran
of the Indian conflict fater became Governor of
Wisconsin.*®

The Winnebago Indians had been under
suspicion of having possibly assisted Black
Hawk's band during the war, but they
demonstrated their loyalty to the United States
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government by apprehending Black Hawk and
his folfowers. The reward of money and horses
made the task more palatable. On 17 August
1832, the Winnebagos turned Black Hawk over to
authorities at Prairie du Chien. Colonel Zachary
Taylor, the Commanding Officer at Fort
Crawford, appointed Lieutenant Jefferson Davis
to take Black Hawk by steamboat to Jefferson
Barracks near St. Louis.

The Black Hawk War became a secondary
issue during the 1832 presidentiai campaign of
Andrew Jackscn. Governor John Reynolds’
volunteer army of Illinois settlers, with politicians
as officers, had been unable toc apprehend Black
Hawk’'s hostile band of Indians. When the
governor requested additional federal troops to
subdue Black Hawk, President Jackson ordered
General Winfield Scott to assume command of
an army of 1,000 Regulars, which was to be
dispatched from the East to Fort Armstrong.

General Scott's expedition was ill fated from
the beginning. While en route to Chicago,
aboard four steamboats, his troops were stricken
with an outbreak of Asiatic cholera. When
General Scott's forces finally reached Fort



Below: General Winfield Scott's headquarfers
at Rock Isfend just east of the pressmt Clock
Tower. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Right: Gonera! Winkield Scoft, Commander
of LLS. troops &t close of Black Hawk War.
{AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Armstrong, they had been decimated by the
disease. Only 220 U.S. Regulars completed the
march from Chicago to Rock Island. Scott's
army arrived too late to take the field against
Black Hawk. A few weeks earlier, Black Hawk's
dissident band had been virtually obliterated at
the Battle of Bad Axe. All that was left for
General Scott and his troops to do was to assist
Governor Reynolds in drafting the peace treaty
and o guard the few prisoners that survived the
battle.

However, within a week of General Scott's
arrival at Fort Armstrong, cholera once again
surfaced among the soldiers in epidemic
proportion. General Scott had distinguished
himself in an exemplary manner in his efforts to
save the lives of his soldiers. General Scott, in
disregard to his personal safety, dispensed
medicine and cared for the sick. His strict orders
to enforce discipline provided the critical
leadership needed during such a crisis. Army
physicians knew litle as to the cause of the
disease, except for their observation of the
stricken. The disease seemed to attack men that
were under the influence of alcohol and those

weakened by the lack of proper gating habits or
living in crowded, unsanitary quarters. General
Scott issued the following order to the U.S.
Regulars and volunteer Rangers stationed at the
fort on 28 August 1832:
It is believed that all these men were
of intemperate habits. The Ranger who
is dead, it is known, 'generated this
disease within himself by a fit of
intoxication. .. Sobriety, cleanliness of
person, cleanliness of camp and
quarters, together with care in the
preparation of the men’s messes are
the great preventatives. .The
Commanding General. therefore,
peremptorily commands that every
soldier or Ranger who shall be found
drunk or sensibly intoxicated, after the
publication of this order, be compelled,
as soon as his strength will permit, to
dig a grave at a suitable burying place,
large enough for his own reception, as
such grave cannot fail soon to be
wanted for the drunken man, himself,
or some drunken companion. This



Below: Black Hawk in capHwity. (Havberg Museum, Bisck Hawk State Park)
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Below: Vaigrans of the Black Hawk War. General Samuel Whiteside of th;a Fiinois Volunteers, seated third from

the left. (Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk State Park}

order is given as well to serve for the
punishment of drunkennass as to spare
good and temperate men the labor of
digging graves for their worthless
companions.* :
The order also served as a means of controlling
fearful soldiers who might turn to drink in
despair. After prohibiting intoxication,
improving sanitary conditions, and quarantining
nearly 1,500 federal soldiers and state volunieers
in small groups about the banks and hills along
the Mississippié River and the Rock River, the
army was successful in bringing about an end to
the cholera epidemic.

The Black Hawk Purchase (Treaty of 1832)

The United States Government he!d a three
day peace conference from 18-21 September
1832 with the Sauk and Fox tribes. General
Winfield Scott and IHinois Governor Jechn
Reyneolds conducted the sessions and drafted
the final treaty. The opening session was heldin
a tent on the west banks of the Mississippi, rather
than at Fort Armstrong, since some soldiers were

yet inflicted with cholera. The Sauk and Fox
tribes ceded to the U.S. approximately 6 million
acres of land bordering the west banks of the
Mississippi River, primarily in eastern lowa. The

ceded land incfuded the Fox Indians’ lead
diggings near Dubugue. The Indians recsived
$660,000 in exchange for the land, and the
monay was divided into $20,000 annuities, to be
paid over a 30-year pericd by the U.S.
Government. The first two years’ annuities,
totaling $40,000 were awarded to Colonel
Davenport to settle & credit debt the Sauk and
Fox tribes owed him.*

The Indians agreed to vacate the ceded area
by 1 June 1833. However, a 400 square mile
tract of land on the lowa River known as the
Keokuk Reserve, remained in possessicon of the
Indians. Cther provisions of the treaty included
the appointment of Keokuk as Chief of the Sauk
tribe; the awarding of two sections of land to the
U.S. interpreter, Antoine LeClaire, and the
supplying of food to Sauk and Fox women and
children whose men were kifled in the war. In

42



Below: Black Hawk Purchase Traaty dapicting Antoine LaCigire, Governor John Reynoids, and General Winlield
Scofl at the tabls. Original mural on dispiay ai the Davenport Bank Building, Davenport, lowe. [Quad Citias Times
Photo Collechion)




Below: Carly pholo of Fort Armstrong from the leves af Rock fsiand (1845). . Note the exiremely high flagpols.

{AMCCOM-HC Archives)

addition, General Scott and Governor Reynolds
agreed to honor a request by Keokuk for 40
kegs of tobacco and 40 kegs of salt.

Keckuk {He Who Has Been Everywhere},
Wapello {He Who Is Painted White), and
Poweshick {The Roused Bear) were among the
Indian Jeaders listed as agreeing to the
provisions of the treaty. Wapello and Poweshick
were the two leading Fox Indian chiefs at the
peace councif. This treaty, later known as the
Black Hawk Purchase of 1832, officialiy ended
the Black Hawk War. Within a couple of years, all
the other Indian tribes in lllinois were also
relocated to areas west of the Mississippi River
by the United States Government.

Since the threat of Indian hostilities no longer
existed, the War Department removed the
parrison at Fort Armstrong. Although the army
abandcned the fort in 1836, the government
retained Rock Island as a government
reservation. In 1840, the U.S. Army made some
repairs at Fort Armstrong and established an
ordnance depot at the old post. Captain William
Shoemaker commanded the depot until 1845,
when its stores were transferred tc St. Louis in

support of American efforts during the Mexican

War. Fort Armstrong again became vacant, a
decaying reminder of Rock Island’s vanishing
frontier. In 1858, the last of several fires
destroyed the abandoned old post.

The Rock Island area had settled quickly once
the Indians were removed from the wvicinity.
Colonel Davenport played a prominent role in its
development and became one of the first three
commissioners of Rock Island County. With
help from others, Davenport laid out the county
seat, which was to be named “Davenport”.
However, in a letter published in the Galena
Advertiser, Colonel Davenport ridiculed a state
legislator for his participation in the Battte of
Stillman’s Run. The legislator, in retaliation,
blocked the naming of the county seat in honor of
Davenport. In 1835, the name Stephenson was
substituted for Davenport, and llinois State
Legislature approved the charter. In the
meantime, Cclonel Davenport, Antoine LeClaire,
and others organized and plotted another
community on the west bank of the Mississippi
River opposite Stephenson. In 1836, the
community on the lowa banks became



Below: Official fetter announcing the newly elected Commissionsrs of Rock island County, for the first county
alection held in 1833. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)



Below: A view of Colonef Cavenport’s house built in 1833, Nole the original struciure had three wings, two of

which are visible in the photograph. [AMCCOM-HO Archives)
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Davenport. The village of Stephenson became
Rock Island in 1841.42

The planning of these two communities, plus
the organizing of the LeClaire and Port Byron
villages, occurred at meetings held by Colonel
Davenport at his island estate. In addition to
land speculation, the building of raiiroads,
bridges, river commerce, and business
development in the Rock Island area were also
topics discussed at these meeings. The
Davenport House became the gathering point for
the early “shakers and movers” of the Rock
Island area.

The Colonel Davenport House

tn 1833, a year after the Black Hawk Purchase,
Colonel Davenport built the most elegant family
home for that time in the Rock Island vicinity.
The Bavenport family included his wife,
Margaret; stepdaughter, Susan Lewis; and sons,
George L'Oste and Bailey, the latter born to his
stepdaughter, and purportedly fathered by
Colonel Davenport.

3

Federal authorities in 1833 rewarded Colonel
Davenport for his service to the government by
allowing him to build his family residence on the
northwest shore of Rock Island. In 1844,
Congress passed a special act confirming
Colonel Davenport’s title to the property.#

Colonel Davenport's home was not the typical
pioneer cabin. Clapboard lumber, ordered from
the East, covered the two-story log-frame house.
The clapboard siding gave Colonel Davenport's
frontier home the exterior appearance of a fine
eastern residence. Other features of the house
included a portico or porch roof, supported by
columns; double hung wood sashes; a gable roof
with sawed shingles; and two massive brick
chimneys.

The Murder of Colonel Davenport

On 4 July 1845, robbers murdered Colonel
Davenport at his island estate. Rumors of
$20,000 in gold, supposedly hidden on the
Davenport property, attracted the robbers to the
island. Colonel Davenport's wife and two sons



Below: OCutlaw John Long's
skelefon {Quad City Times

photo coffection} Top RAlght:
Long’s Grava, in Rock lsland’s
Pigneer Cematery. He was buried
133 veers after his hanging.

(AMCCOM-HQ)

had gone to an independence Day celebration in
the city of Rock Island. Finding the Colonel
alone, the four bandits shot, stabbed and
torturec him. However, they departed the istand
with only a few hundred dollars they had found
in the house. Colonel Davenport died from the
wounds inflicted upon him by the robbers. A few
months later, on 29 Cctober 1845, John Long,
Aaron Long, and Granville Young were hanged
in the town of Rock Isltand for the murder of
Coionel Davenport. The three outlaws were
members of the notoricus “Banditti of the
Prairie” gang. A crowd of nearly 5,000 which
was then approximately three times the
population of Rock Island, witnessed the public
hangings. The crowd watched and cheered as
the Rock Island County Sheriff paraded the three
bandits through the streets of Rock Island to the
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gallows. Then the band played, the people
prayed, and the three were hanged.
Unfortunately, for Aaron Long, his rope broke.
The sheriff supposedly supplied him with a stiff
drink, then hanged him a second time.

As for Aaron’s brother, John Long, his body
was supposedly shipped to a physician in a
barrel of rum. The physician displayed Long's
skeleton in his office. Years later, the doctor's
widow returned the skeleton to Rock istand. For
years, the bones of the murderer of Colonel
Davenport were displayed at the Rock istand
County House, and later at Black Hawk
State Park Museum. After several more years in
storage, John Long’s skeleton was finally buried
in the old pioneer's cemetery at Black Hawk
State Park on September 14, 1978.¢



Below:

Repair of the Colonel Davenport Rulns

In preparation for establishing an arsenal on
Rock Island, the Federal Government regained
sole possession of the island. A federal
commission purchased the more legitimate
property claims held by private citizens such as
the Colonel Davenport family. The government
used the house as an office, and later as a
storehouse. Gradually, the Colonel Davenport
home deteriorated and fetl into disrepair. By the
turn of the century, the building was in a state of
ruin. tn 1906, the Association of Rock Island
County sponsored the repair of the dilapidated

Colonal Davenport's house prior to renovation in 1908

{AMGCCOM-HO Archives)

structure. Public interest in the Davenport
House during the 1950s and early 19605 again
saved the building from disrepair. On this
occasion, the Scott County Home Builders
Association collaborated with the Quad Cities
Association of Home Builders to repair the
structure. Whereas the main porticn of the
Davenport House has been renovated, the
attached wings to the house were removed in
1906 and have not yet been restored. Currently,
the Colonel Davenport Historicai Foundation
maintains the house as a historic site open to
visitors.



Below: Alter the depariure of the military in 1836, civifian custodians such as H.Y. Siaymakar, had difficulties
prevanting traspassers from exploiting the isfand’'s timber. (AMCCOM-HC Archives)

Nolice to Yrespassers

On the U. S. Reserve on Rock Island.

All persons deteeted in cutting or destroying Timber on the
United States Reserve ¢: Rock Island, will be prosecuted ac-
cording to the following Act of Congress, passed the 3rd day

of March, 1859: -

Cuuren LXXVYIIL  Be it enscted by the Benate and House.of Representatives of the United
Bintes, & That if any person or persons rhail unlawfully cut, aid, or awist, or be employed in un-
lawihulty cutting, or shull wantonly destroy, or precure Lo be wantorly destroyed, any timber standing.

-growing, or being upon the lands of the United Btates, which, in pursuance of any law paseed or
lierenfter Lo be paxsed, have been or shall be reserved or purchased by the United States for Military

or other purposcs; eve
linving competent juri
Eballary, nmrel]'lnlf

such person or persons so offending, on conviction thereof, before o Conrt
iction, shall for every such offence
 imprinenedt not exceeding Twelve Mont

ﬁl}' a fine not exceeding Five Hundred

B.

H. Y. SLAYMAKER, Agent,

Julv 23, 1S60.

CHAPTER THREE

for Qr. M. Dep. U.

. Army.

CIVILIAN DEVELOPMENT ON ROCK ISLAND AND THE CAMPAIGN FOR AN ARMORY

After the soldiers left Fort Armstrong in 1836,
and again when the army. depot closed in 1845,
the Federal Government placed civilian agents or
custodians in charge of Rock Island. Joseph
" Street, an Indian agent from Prairie du Chien,
was the first of these civilian agents. In 18386, the
government transferred him to Rock Island.
From 1836-1838 “General” Street served as
Indian agent and custodian of Aock Island. In
1838, William Davenport succeeded Joseph
Street as the Indian agent to the Sauk and Fox
residing in eastern lowa. Captain W.R.
Shoemaker, the Army Depot Commander,
assumed command of the island and the depot
from 1840-1845. After the depot closed, a series
of four civilian agents were placed in charge of
Rock Island. The four agents and the period that
they served as custodians of Rock Island were:
Thomas L. Drumm, 1845-1853; Sergeant
Cummings, 1853-1854; Mr. J.B. Danforth, Jr.,
{founder of the Rock Island Argus) 1854-1857;
and H.Y. Slaymaker, 1857-1863. Though these
agents were placed in charge of Rock Island they

did not usually reside on the island. The civilian
development of Rock Island occurred during the
time when there was no military presence nor
civifian agents residing on the island. During this
period, numerous interested civilians attempted,
with some success, io settle on portions of the
istand. These squatters considered Rock ksland
to be part of the public domain, especially after
the military had departed the island.

The War Depariment was somewhat reluctant
to release the island property for public sale. The
army wanted to keep Rock Island in reserve and
as early as 1825, Secretary of War John .
Calhoun had informed the Commissioner of the
General Land Office that Rock Island was
necessary for mifitary purposes. Secretary of
War Calhoun directed that Rock Island be
reserved from public sale. Ten years later, in
1835, Congress ordered a survey to select
potential construction sites for a new armory in
the West. In the next two decades, several
reports drafted by army officers favorably
suggested Rock Island as a potential site for the
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Below:; The first dam built on Mississippi River in 1841; it stretched from Moling across Sylfvan Siough to Rock
isfand. The iwo large mills al the dam were owned by David B. Sears. {AMCCOM-HO)

armory. Major D.W. Flagler's History of the
Rock Isfand Arsenal, published in 1877, included
the following excerpts from one such repont,
submitted by ordnance officer Captain William
H. Bell.
Soon after returning, about the 16th of
October 1840, from Cincinnati, |
proceeded up the river tc Rock Island,
agreeably to your orders of the 17th
September, and having surveyed the
grounds and buildings {old buildings of
Fort Armstrong) of the island, have the
honor to repert that the whole island,
containing about 850 acres, belongs to
the United States, having been
specialiy reserved from sale for public
purposes.*s
Captain Bell concluded his report with a strong
statement of Rock Island’'s value.
| thought it advisable to communicate
these facts, that the Government may
be fully aware of the value of this island
and its vicinity as the greatest and most
practicabie and desirable water power

in the valley of the Mississippi.*

In September 1841, Congress passed an act
empowering a commission or board, appointed
by the Secretary of War, to conduct & thorough
examination of the western regions “for the
purpose of seiecting a suitable site on the
western waters for the establishment of a
national armory.” The Secretary of War selected
Brigadier General W.K. Armistead, Surgeon
General Thomas Lawson, and Lieutenant
Colonel 8.H. Long as the commissioners for the
survey.

The board's final report to Congress covered
400 pages and included a section on Rock
Island. The three officers stressed in their report
the ample supply of resources that tney
“discovered” on Rock [sland and in the nearby
vicinity. The officers specificatly cited the
abundance of limestone and the variety of fimber
on the istand as more than sufficient for building
purposes. The commissioners also emphasized
the potentially great source of waier power
available at Rock Island. Surgeon General
Thomas Lawson endorsed the Rock Istand site



Beiov: i 1845, David B Sears buili & secong dam thaf connected Rock fsland with Bennam's fsrann‘.. He efse
constructed the mifl shown below on Benkam's Island. {Molfine Public Library;

as a healthy location.

He stated in the study that his endorsement
was based on health reports of troops stationed
at various military posts. He compared those
reports with the shorter sick lists from Fort
Armstrong for the same 2CG-year period. The
board also listed Rock Island’s convenient
location, its rich soil, and its nearness to coal,
lead, and other mineral deposits.

The board visited Rock Island in 1842, shortly
after David B. Sears had erected a mill-dam
across the south channe!l of the Mississippi
River. The dam connected Rock Island with the
litincis mainland; and the officers reported the
dam had attracted another saw mill to the island.
In 1846, David B. Sears built a second dam. This
dam lined the main isfand, Rock Island, with
Bersham's Istand, an island in the main channel.
The flat surface of the two dams provided a
convenient wagon route from the lllinois
mainland to Rock Island.

By the next decade, civilian development on
the island had increased. The dams and the
water power attracted additional milis, plants,
and squatters {o Rock Island. These interested
civilians, along with specuiators, manufacturers,
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railroads, and waterpower companies, attempted
to acquire titles to lands on the island. Eastern
speculators who had investments in western tand
deveiopment, railrpads, and waterpower
companies atso attempted to acquire the island.
The local citizenry was divided between those
interested in personally exploiting the island's
natural resources and those that supported the
establishment of an arsenal on Reck Island.
Many citizens of the Rock Island vicinity
recognized the positive economic impact an
arsenal would have on the development of the
area. A committee, comprised of Rock Island
County citizens, John Buford, Joseph Knox,
Joseph B. Wells, John Morse and George Mixier,
drafted an appeal to President John Tyler in the
early 1840s to select Rock island as the site for
the new arsenal. The committee reminded the
President that the selection of Rock island would
eliminate the need to purchase a site. Ancther
argument presented by the committee included
the ease by which arms could be supplied to the
West from Rock Island via the Mississippi River
and its tributaries. In addition, the appeal cited
the rich mineral regions near Rock Island and the
vast water power available at Rock Island.*



Left: Jefferson Davis, Secretary of War, 1853-1857, used the suthority of his office firsl as Senator then as War
Secretary to block the safe of Rock Island. {AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Righl: Dred Scofll, slave and household servant of Dr. John Emerson, accompanisd the doclor, an army surgeon,
lo Rock Isfand in 1833, Years later, Dred Scott became involved in & fegal baitfe for his freedom which reachsd ths
1.8, Supreme Couri. In fis famous "Dred Scott Decision” of 1857, the LS. Supreme Couwrf declared that Scott and
other Negro slaves were not citizens of the U.S., and therefors, not entitied to sue in court for their freedom.

fAMCCOM-HO Archives)

Several prominent politicians in Washington,
D.C., also supported the view that Rock Island
should be kept in reserve and not offered for
public sale. The staunchest of these supporiers
was Jefferson Davis. First as a Senator in 1850,
and four years later, as the Secretary of War,
Jefferson Davis used the authority of his office to
block the sale of Rock Island. In an 1854
response to a congressional request for his views
regarding the sale of the island, War Secretary
Davis outlined his department’s plan for Rock
Island.

| have the honor to acknowledge the

receipt of your letter...asking the views
of this Department as to the expediency
of selling the military reservation at Fort
Armstrong, on Rock Island, illincis, as
contemplated by Senate bill No. 185.
The water power available at that place,
and the communication by water and
by railroads projected or in course of
construction, concur with other
circumstances in rendering Rock
Island ¢ne of the most advantageous
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sites in the whole western country for
an armory or an arsenal of construction
for the manufacture of wagons,
clothing, or other military supplies. . ..
Any act that may pass to authorize the
sale of {the isiand) shouid, 1 think, leave
to the {(War) Department full power tc.
retain whatever of the reservation may
be found useful and proper for the
contemplated works, for which it is
hoped that Congress will at some
future day make the necessary
appropriation.*

Ironically, less than a decade later, Jefferson
Davis had become President of the Confederate
States of America; Congress had appropriated
funds for the establishment of an arsenal at Rock
island; and the Union Quartermaster Corps had
constructed on Aock Island & prison barracks for
the detention of captured confederate soldiers
during the Civil War.

Despite Jefferson Davis’ success in preventing
the sale of Hock Island, private encroachment
continued. By 1854, private citizens, in disregard



Below: David B. Sears’ 18505 Mississippi Mills on Rock Island, afong the northeast opposite Banharm's Isfand.
{cartouche from 1857 map of Mofine) (Rock Istand County Historical Society)

to government objections, erected a variety of
buildings on Rock Istand. These citizens did not
fit the stereo-typed “dirt poor" pioneer squatter
found in contemporary literature and fifms.
Instead, many of the "squatters™ on Rock Island
were successful businessmen. They operated on
the island several saw mils, a sash and blind
factory, a chair factory, a wooden tub and pail
ptant, two shingle shops, two warehouses, a
number of stables, and several lumberyards. A
few railroad shanties, a dozen or so homes, and
other lesser buildings were also on-Rock Island.
Several of these island businessmen became
prominent citizens of the local area. They
included David B. Sears, Spencer H. White, and
John W. Spencer, owners of a brush dam built in
1841 across Sylvan Slough which connected
Rock Island to the lllinois maintand. The three
dam owners laid out a town on the lilinois
mainland opposite the upper end of Rock Island.
Initially, they named the town site Rock Istand
Milts. However, there were already numerous
communities, a river, and an island with similar
Rock Island names. Therefore, David B. Sears
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and the others joined with Huntington Welis,
Charles Atkinson, and Joel Wells in plotting out a

larger town in 1843, naming it Moline.

David B. Sears, DeWItt Dimock, and John Gouid
- Early Entrepreneurs

in 1855, David Sears purchased title to
Benham's Island, situated near the upper or
eastern portion of the farger island of Rock
Island. Earlier, in 1846, he had built a stone wail
dam which connected Benham’'s island with
Rock Island. The dam furnished water power to
Sear's flour mill on Benham's Island and to
several businesses on the main island. In
gddition to the mill, a house with barn,
outbuildings, three warehouses, and a
steamboat landing were built by David Sears on
Benham's Island. A road built between the two
dams formed part of a wagon route that
stretched from Moline, across the dam at
Benham's iIsland, to the steamboat landing.
From this steamboat landing, wagons were
ferried across the Mississippi River to the lowa



Below: Reproduction of origing! Maline survaey plat by P.H. Ogilvie in 1843. Note the dam across Sylvan Slough to
FRock Island and the notation of the Sears Milf at the southern end. [AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Reproduction of Original Moline Survey Plat
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This is & reproduction of P.H. Ogilvis's eriginal survey for the town of Moline, which was made in 1843,

shore.

The Sears’ mills and dams built at Rock Island
attracted other businesses to Rock Istand. The
waterpower evailable at Rock Island brought
commerce to the island. In 1847, Sears
persuaded John Deers and his partners, Robert
N. Tate and John Gould, to resettle in Moline
along the shore of the Sylvan Slough. He did this
by offering Deere and Associates rent-free
waterpower for a period of time, and also
promising he would build them a frame fact “ry if
they would relocate their plow shop from Grand
Detour, lilinois, to Moline.

David B. Sears and cther citizens who held
property on Rock Island without legai authority
maintained extended correspondence with
legislators in Washington, D.C., in an effort to
obtain tilles to the properties. Only the
persistence of Colonel George Davenport and
David B. Sears paid off. They were the only

ones to receive legal title to property on Rock
Island. As with the case of Colonel Davenport,
David Sears received title to the 35.45 acres of
land on Rock Island opposite Benham's Island
through a special act of Congress. Influential
politicians had aided both Sears and Colonel
Davenpaort. In 1855, David B. Sears succesded
through the special act of Congress to purchase
35.45 acres of island property -for $1.25 an acre;
the same price per acre that Colongl Davenport
paid for his 158 acres in 1844,

Mr. Sears, an enterprising man, laid out a
portion of his island property in lots. He planned
to develop it as a subdivision to the city of
Moline. Although David Sears sold a few lots to
his Rock Island Village, the village never
developed, and Mr. Sears sold the property back
to the Federal Government for $145,175. The
price reflected improvements he had made on
his property.



Top Right: DeWitt C. Dimock, {Mofing Public Library}

Botiom Right: John M. Gowld. The two pariners opersted @ woodware factory on Rock
Isfand, 1852-1857. Dimock, Gould and Company continued s lumber business for over a

century in Mofine, IL. (Mofine Public Library)

Botiom Lett: Expansion of Dimock & Goufd was announced by this advertisernant in the
Fleming and Torrey city directory of Moline for 1856-1857. (Moline Public Library}

DIMOCK & GOULD.

MAKEFACTURERS o8

TUBS8, PAILS,

AND BEDSTEADS;

#1850, ALL RIVDS OF YUANZD SYUFPY,

Have doubled their machinery since last year.

Expansion of Dimock & Gould was snnounced by
this advertisement in the Fleming and Torrey city

directory of Moline for 1856-1857.

Dimock, Gould and Company

Shortly after John Deere and Robert N. Tate
moved their plow shop from Grand Detour to
Moline, the two partners invited John Gould, an
accountant from Grand Detour, to buy into their
plow business. In NMovember 1851, Mr. Gouid
sold his interest in the company to John Deere
for $2,600. John Gould then formed a
partnership with his brother-in-law, DeWitt
Dimock. In 1852, they opened a woodenware
business on Rock Island named Cimncck, Gould
and Company. The two partners selected the
island as & site for their business in order to take
advantage of the waterpower and to be cioser to
the lumberyards on the island. DeWitt Dimock
had eariier, in 1845, established a bedstead
factory on Rock Island; but, in 1852, he soid his
tactory and joined John Gould in forming their
wooden tub and pail factory on the island. Their
printed business cards read: “"Dimock and Gouid
manufacturers of wooden tubs, pails, bedsteads,
and afl kinds of {wooded) turned stuff.”s

Dimock, Gould and Company's woodenware
factory was the first of its kind in the local area.

Prior to 1852, woodenware was shipped info the
area from the East at great expense. DeWitt
Dimock employed the latest technology in his
plant. He instituted the assembly line system,
and mass production methods, and relied heavily
upon machinery to do practically everything but
fasten rivets and paint the products. However, in
1856, a fire destroyed the factory; but, by the
following year, Dimock and Gould had built
another on the island. After the old brush dam
road was washed cut due to a flood, Dimock,
Gouid and Company replaced the road with a
wooden bridge that spanned the slough from
Moline to the island. Later, the Federal
Government replaced the bridge with a stronger
one, constructed in 1873. During the Civil War,
Dimock and Gould found an excelient customer
for their producis right on the island. The
woodenware company provided wooden barrels,
tubs, paifs, and other wooden products for the
Rock Island Prison Barracks. Later, wooden
buckets, pails, barrels, etc., were replaced by
galvanized {coated with rust-resistant zinc)
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Below: Dimock. Gouwld and Company's Tub and Pail Fectory on Rock island. The istand factory was located near
the dam which crossed the Sviven Slough to Moline, iflinois. Cartouche from 1857 map of Moline. {Rock Isfand

County Historical Society.)

metal products. In 1862, when Congress passed
an act establishing a national arsenal at Rock
tsland, Dimock, Gould and Company, plus
several other parties who had received grants
for temporary property leases, were notified by
the War Department to teave the island. By 1867,
it became evident to the two pariners that they
were not going to receive a permanent title to the
property which they had developed on Rock
Island. Neither Dimock or Gouwld submitted a
claim for monetary seftlement to the federal
commission that handled the final settlement
proceedings. instead, however, the firm packed
its equipment and reestablished itself at a new
location on the Moline side of the Mississippi
River. It was at this new location that Dimock,
Gould and Company developed their famous
paper pail. Dimock, Gould and Company
outlasted its founders. For over a century, the
company which the two brothers-in-law initially
started on Rock Island continued to operate in
Moline and the surrounding communities.

The presence of squatters on Rock Island,
however, had a negative effect on the island.

They damaged Rock Island’s timber by cutting
and stealing the wood. Joseph M. Street, U.S.
Indian agent for the Sauk and Fox Indians after

the Black Hawk War, notified the War
Department that the island, though once well-
timbered, had been nearly cleared of its original
growth by the public. The squetters destroyed
young and cld trees and also took possession of
favored spots of land on the island. After being
informed regarding the squatters and wood
stealing at Rock Island, President Martin Van
Buren issued a statement instructing the marshal
to remove the squatters from the military
reservation at Rock Island and, if necessary, fo
take additional legal steps apgainst the
trespassers. Nevertheless, the U.S. marshals and
other civil officers were, for the most par,
ineflective in their attempf{s to remove the
offenders. In addition to squatters cutiing
clearings in the istand's timber; and other
trespassers pilfering wood for fuel, railread
workers in 1853 began clearing a 100 foot wide
path across the island in preparation for laying
track.



Below: View of first bridge lrom Rock Isfend fo Davenport, raffroad bridgs bullt 1853-1856. Note the suspension
chains edded in 1858 to reinforce the fixed woodan spans. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

First Bridge Across the Mississippl River

Plans for a transcontinental railroad had long
been a dream of railroad men in America. But,
before the dream could be a reality, major
obstacles had to be overcome. Several of these
obstacles were man-made, such as the right of
each state government to grant charters and to
regulate railroad construction within the
boundariss. Southern politicians attempted to
bleck the advancement of the northern rail route
across the United States. Northern
Congressmen, in turn, were successfui in
vetoing a southern rail route to the Pacific Coast.
In 1853, Jefferson Davis, Secretary of War in the
pro-southern administration of President
Franklin Pierce, arranged to buy the Gadsden
Purchase from Mexico. This strip of 30,000
square miles in Mew Mexico and Arizona
provided the missing link in a proposed New
Orleans-to-San Diego railroad. Davis, smarting
from the congressional defeat of a southern rail
route to the Pacific Coast, was extremely active
in delaying the northern route to California.
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A proposed Chicago-to-San Francisco rail
route crossed the Mississippi River at Rock
island, an island under control of the War
Department. Secretary of War Davis attempted to
halt censtruction by invoiving the bridge
comparny in litigation over the companys right-
of-way across the island.

Other interests, besides southern politicians
and southern railroad men, were against the
building of a rail route across the heartland of
America. Steamboat and river town interests
perceived the railroad as a threat to their inland
waterway commerce. The Mississipi River and
its tributaries provided a natural north-south
trade route for the Midwest's agricultural
products and raw materials. St. Louis hecame
the clearing-house for such trade. From St.
Louis, merchanis shipped trade goods up the
Ohio River to Pittsburgh or transported the cargo
down river to New Orleans.

The arrival of the railroad on the east bank of
the Mississippi River at Rock Island, however,
offered midwest farmers of lowa and northern



Below: A view of the St Louwis docks jammed with packels. St Lowis sleamboal owners attempted to block
construction of the 1856 railroad bridge at Rock Island. {Davenport Public Library)

Right:

Bridge advocate A.C. Fulton [Davenport Public Library)

Middle: Judge James Granf, President of the Rock fsfand and LaSalle Railroad Company. Judge Granf resided in
Davenport, fowa. {Davenpori Public Library Special Collections)

lllinois a direct east-west frade route to Chicago
and to urban markets farther east. The St. Louis
Chamber of Commerce could see its city being
replaced by Chicago as the new "hub of the
Midwest". The clash between these two
powerful centers of commerce for control of the
Midwest's commercial shipping occurred at
Rock Island.

it was not by accident that the railroad came to
Rock Isfand. In June 1845, Colonel George
Davenport had hosted a meeting at his island
estate to discuss bringing a railrcad to Rock
Isiand. Prominent citizens from the Rock Island
area such as Antoine LeCiaire and Judge James
Grant atiended the meeting. These enterprising
men realized the commercial benefits which
wouid result from raiiroad and bridge
construction at Rock Island. Although Colonel
Davenport was murdered two weeks after the
meeting, others who attended continued to
formutate plans to bring a railroad to Rock
Isiand; on 27 February 1847, they succeeded.
The tllinois General Assembly granted them a
charter to construct a LaSalte-to-Rock Island
railroad line.
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taSalle was the community at the end of the
Iltinois and (Lake} Michigan Canal from where
Rock lIsland and LaSalle Railroad Company
began and was initially managed by local iri-city
investors. Judge James Grant of Davenport was
elected president of the company. Among the
directors of the new line were Napoleon B.
Buford, Rock Island; Ebenezer Cook, Davenport;
and Charles Atkinson, Moline. However, they
lacked experience in railroad building so the
Rock Island and LaSalle Line developed slowly.?

Fortunately, Mr. Henry Farnam, an
experienced railroad man and investor, took an
interest in the project as an extension of his
Michigan and Southern Railroad and got other
raflrcad men to invest in the line. interest in the
line increased sharply after the directors
followed Mr. Farnam’s suggestion and extended
the tine east to Chicago. On 1 October 1851,
under its new name, the Chicago and Rock
Island Railroad Company, began to build
westward from Chicage towards Rock Island. As
the railroad advanced in the direction of Rock
Island, it attracted additional investors. The
prospect of linking Chicago and Lake Michigan



Right: Porirait of Henry Farnam, Presidant and Chiel
Enginger of the Raifroad Bridge Company, charlared in

1853. (AMCCOM-HO Archives) Belowr The John A. Dix,

Seventh Engine of the Mississippl and Missouri Railroad.

H crogsed the river on ica in the winter of 1855 [(AMCCOM-HO

Archives)

with the Mississippi River appealed to many
investors. However, the additional prospect of
Rock Island becoming the site for the first bridge
to span the Mississippi River certainly sweetened
the investment.

For years, Rock Island had been recognized as
the best point at which to bridge the Mississippi

River. Mr. A.C. Fulton, a noted civil engineer,
among others, surveyed the river crossing at
Rock Island and endorsed it as the best site far
the first bridge. Engineers of the railroad
company preferred Aock lIsland for numerous
reasons. The Mississippi River was narrow at
that point, and the shores were bedrock.
However, the key attraction seemed to be the
island of Rock island. Using the isfand as a
stepping stone to cross the river appealed to the
engineers. The bridge's construction would be
easier, therefore more econcmical. Rock
Island's location, 180 miles directly west of
Chicago, made it less expensive to build than, for
instance, the Galena, Hlinois arga.

Ircnically, an 1859 study, performed by a
board of engineers after the construction of the
first bridge, cited the location as a poor choice.

Notations on a map prepared by the engineers to
accompany their report to the War Department
had “Bad location for a bridge” written beside
the original bridge. A better choice was further
downstream, at the old ferry crossing from the
city of Rock Island to the Davenport levee. Two
main criticisms of the bridge's original site were
that it was too near the rapids, and that its draw
span did not line up with the current of the main
channsl.®

The M & M Bridge Company

Three corporations had to be formed in order
to build a railroad that would span the
Mississippi River at Rock Island. The Chicago &
Rock Isiand (C&RI) Railroad Company's charter
only applied to constructing a railroad within the
boundaries of the state of llinois. Several
directors from the C & Rl Railroad joined with a
group of lowa investors to organize the
Mississippi and Missouri (M&M) Railroad
Company.

The M&M Raitroad Company's charter
empowered them to construct a railroad from
Davenport, lowa, on the west banks of the
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Below: Ths original Rock Island to Davenport bridge had g Howa-Truse supersiructure. This first railroad bridge
across the Mississippi River was constructed of five wooden spans plus a draw span. The single tracked raliroad
bridge was painted with two cosls of white paint. {AMCCOM-HO Archives)
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Mississippi River, to Council Bluffs, lowa,
situated on the east banks of the Missouri River.

The C&R Raifirgad and the M&M Railroad
formed a subsidiary firm named the M&M Bridge
Company. The bridge company had interlocking
directors from the two railroad firms as officers.
The officers of the two companies agreed to
cooperate in building a bridge across the
Mississippi River and to jointly finance the
project. In January 1853, the M&M Bridge
Company acquired a charter from the state of
llinois to construct a railroad bridge across the
Mississippi River to the lowa side. The two
raitroad lines that composed what was, in reality,
one railroad were [ater allowed to merge. The
Chicagc & Rock Island track was completed in
1854. The Mississippi & Missouri Railroad,
organized in 1853, finished its route from
Davenport to Council Bluffs in 1869. By then the
company had become the Chicago, Rock Island,
and Pacific Raifroad Company.

The bridging of the Mississippi River required
three phases: first, the construction of a span
across Sylvan Slough {southern channel} to

Rock Island; second, the laying of a railroad bed
in a northeast direction across the island, past
Colonel Davenport’'s property, ta the north shore
of the island; and third, constructing the bridge
over the main or northern channel.

The Act of 1852 granted rights-of-way through
public fands tc railroads and road building
companies, and the M&M Bridge Company
directors assumed that Rock Island was public
land and proceeded to survey the river and the
island. The island’s status, however, seemed
uncertain at that time because of past
announcements and rumors of its sale.

Description of the Bridge

The company went ahead and hired two
private contractors to buiid the bridge at Rock
Island. The John Warner Co., a local firm,
received a contract to construct the piers and
establish the grade for the raiiroad bed across
the island. Stone & Boomer Co., of Chicago,
constructed the superstructure of the bridge
using specially fabricated Howe Truss-type
spans.



Below: The cover of Judge John Mclean’s written opinion delivered July 1855, in the case of the United States,
vs. ithe Raflroad Bridge Company, et. al {Augustana College Special Coffactions)
Right HRock Island wagon bridge that provided access to the istand from the city of Rock Isiand, across Sylvan

Slough. {Molire Public Library Logal History Collactions)

Description of the Origina! Bridge

The original bridge had a Howe Truss-type
supsrstructure with a single track. The
superstructure was constructed of timber and
consisted of five wooden spans, plus a draw
span. Its draw span, the heaviest and largest of
its time, was located in the middle of the river.
The timber cords of the bridge were protected
with two coats of white paint. The bridging of the
Mississippi was a major technological
achievernent. Nothing of that size or status had
yet been constructed in the area.

United States vs. Rallroad Bridge Company, et al
{and others)

By June 1854, the John Warner Company had
the stone abutments in place on both sides of
Rock Island, plus the stone piers in the south
channel {Sylvan Slough) finished. At this point
in the bridge's construction, an officer from
Washington, accompanied by two U.S. marshals,
appearad at Rock Island: On behaif of the
Secretary of War, the oOfficer’ notified the
contractors that they were trespassing on federai
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property. The officer then instructed the
contractors to halt their work and remove all
their buildings and other property from Rock
island within 15 days. Directors of the M & M
Bridge Company decided to ignore the order.
They ordered the contractors to continue their
work on Rock Istand. Construction work did
continue but at a slow pace because of the
uncertainty of the situation. Railroad &nd bridge
interests considered Rock Island to be public
land, since there was no military presence on the
island. They hoped that the Act of 1852 would
substantiate - their claim to a right-of-way for
construction of a railroad across the island.
After lengthy legal correspondence between
the War Department and the railroad, Secretary
of War Jetferson Davis ordered the U.S. District
Attorney in northern lllinois to begin Fitigation
against the M & M Bridge Company. The district
attorney applied for & court injunction to prevent
the construction of a ralroad across the island
and also to prevent building of bridges over the
river. In its suit, the government charged the
bridge company with trespassing on federal
property and with obstructing river navigation.



Below: The second Rock Island o Davenport bridge, shown below, was damaged in the Spring of 1868 after ice
moved a pler and wind blew the swing span into the water. (AMCCOM-HQ Archives)

In July 1855, the case, titled “The United States
vs. Hailroad Bridge Company, et al., (and
others},” cama baefore the United States Circuit

Court. Judge John MclLean, an Associate
Justice of the Supreme Court, presided over the
case. After listaning to testimony from both
parties, Judge McLean ruled against granting an
injunction sought by the War Department. The
judge cited the Congressional Act of 1852 as part
of his reascns for refusing to grant the United
States Government its application.

Influx of Squatters on Rock lsiand

Judge John Mclean's decision to reject the
government's request for an injunction tc halt
bridge and railroad construction on Rock Island
had an impact on another issue, that being
whether or not Rock Isiand would be open to
civilian settlement, or reserved for a future
military purpose. Settlers interprated the
judge’s ruling to mean the island would soon be
offered for public sale.

For years a cloud of uncertainty in regard to
Rock Island’s future hung over the island. The
Secretary of War's Office had argued with
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Congress and squatters alike over the future of
Rock Island. Finally, in 1848, Secretary of War,
William March offered the island property for
sale at public auction. He succumbed to
pressures applied by persistent squatters and
influential land speculators. Curiously, no
announcements of the auction date appeared in
the local Rock Island area. Only after someone
“spotted” an advertisement announcing 5
January 1850 as the day of the auction did area
citizens become aware of the plan. Local
residents fearad the sale was a scheme, whereby
St. Louis and New York land speculators could
acquire title to the land they held on Rock Island.

Not all area residents favored civilian
development of Rock Istand. Many local peopie
supperted the building of a national armory on
Rock Island. These local citizens immediately
wrote their congressmen and sent a spokesman
to Washington, D.C., to protect the sale and
promote their cause. The hostile mood of some
of the local citizens prevented the sale.
Squatters, who occupied land on Rock Island
without tegal title, posted warning that any
bidding by outsiders on their ¢laims would be at



Bealow: Abraham Lincoin during his days as an attorney in llfinois.

[fifinois State Historical Sociely}.

their own peril. After being alerted to the
potentially . volatile situation at Rock Island,
officials in Washington telegraphed the
auctioneer tc postpone the sale. Private parties
who had an interest in the private commercial
development of Rock Island organized and hired
several attorneys to present their case in court.
“Abraham Lincoln was one of those attorneys
who unsuccessfully attempted to win title claims
for some of the squatters.

With this past history in mind, and with news of
Judge Mcleans's dacision allowing the railroad
and the bridge to be constructed across and on
Rock island, squatters converged on the island.
The number of applications for preemption to
Rock Island property filed with the Register of
the General Land Office in Springfield rose
sharply after McLean’s decision was announced.
Squatters literally flocked to Rock Island and
staked out their claims. Quarrels deveioped over
which party was occupying which
quartersection. Major D.W. Flagter stated in his
work, History of the Rock Island Arsenal, that
“one man, Mr. Shaub of Davenport, who had a

house near the present site of the commanding
officers quarters, had his house torn down,
loaded on a raft, set on fire, and sent
downsiream.™:

From the late 1850s until the beginning of the
Civil War in 1861, squatters on Rock Isiand
continusd to seek legal confirmation of their
preemption claims to land on the island.
However, when the Civil War began,
attentions of the squatters and the nation turned
to the more urgent issue of preserving the Union.
A majority of the private parties who had
occupied fand on Rock tsiand relinquished their
preemption ctaims when Congress passed an act
establishing a national arsenal on Rock istand.
Others agreed tc vacate the island once the
Federal Government actually began occupying
the island. Ewventually, the Federal Government
established a commission to hear and settle
monetary claims fited by certain squatters.

However, prior to the establishment of an
arsenzl at Rock Island, The Rock Istand Bridge
Company was involved in yet another landmark
court case. The railroad bridge at Rock Island
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Below: Effis Afton incident (Artis! unknown). On § May 1556, the steamer Eltie Alion crashed into the recently
constructed raifroad bridge at Rock Island, setting it afire. (Rock Isfand Counly Hisiorical Society}

enhanced the island's attractiveness to Congress
as a potential site for a national arsenal. First,
the bridge company had to survive a court battle
waged by commaercial steamboat interests.

Etfie Afton Incldent

The railroad arrived on the eastern bank of the
Mississippi River in the midst of the steamboat's
golden era. Transportation of the upper
Mississippi River Valley was controlled
exclusively by St. Louis steamboat interests until
the railroad’'s arrival. Steamboat owners
watched developments at the bridge and waited
anxiously for an opportunity to confront the
railroad and bridge builders in court. They
considered the bridge at Rock Island to be a
threat to their packet and ferry business, which
operated on the upper Mississippi River.

On 22 April 1856, the first locomotive to span
the Mississippi River crossed the railroad bridge
at Rock Island. Two weeks later, the incident
that the steamboat owners had hoped for
occurred. On 6 May 1856, the steamboat Effie
Afton departed the town of Rock Island bound
for St. Paul, Minnesota. As the steamer entered
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the main channel of the river, she collided with a
ferryboat. Receiving only slight damage, the
Effie Afton proceeded through the bridge's
drawspan. Once the vessel had cleared the span
her side paddle stopped churning. The swift
current of the upper rapids carried the ill-fated
Effie Afton crashing back against the raiiroad
bridge. Shortly after the crash, nearby boats
rescued the passengers, some Juggage, and the
boat's crew. While the Effie Afton laid against
the bridge, a fire ignited the boat and spread
anto the bridge, burning portions of the bridge's
wooden superstructure. Newspaper articles of
the incident stated that the steamboats along the
shore blew their whistles, some as a warning to
other boats traveling the river, and others as an
act of celebratian.

Mr. James Hurd and Associates, owners of the
Effie Afton, filed a lawsuit against the bridge
company for damages. Steamboat owners
hoped that this test case would hinder other
bridge building ventures along the Mississippi
River Valley. They believed a favorable verdict
would discourage investors from financing
future bridge building on the Mississippi River.



Below: /o7 1355, the raliroed bridgs at Rock Islangd was compietely rebuill using heaviar timbear. This second
superstructure was replacad by an iron double deck bridge, when the location of the bridge was changsd fo its

present site in 1872. {AMCCOM-HO Archives)
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Officially, the case was titled “Hurd et al., (and
others) vs. the Railroad Bridge Company”, but it
became popularly known as the "Effie Afton
Case”. The Hurd lawsuit came to trial in Chicago
before the federal district for northern illinois.
The presiding officer was Judge John McLean,
who had earlier ruled against the Federal
Government's request for an injunction to halt
railroad and bridge building operations across
Rock island. The M & M Bridge Company
obtained Abraham Linceln who argued the case.
The plaintiffs, Mr. Hurd and Associates, sclicited
two prominent midwest lawyers, H.M. Wead and
T.D. Lincoln, to argue their cases. The two
Lincelns, however, were not related. Abe
Lincoin, then a young, rising Springfield
attorney, had been generally credited with
winning the case. However, court records show
the trial actually ended in a hung jury; nine jurors
stood in favor of the bridge, and three members
of the jury opposed the structure. Legally, the
case was subject to retrial, but the steamboat
interests decided to submit another case fo a
different federal court.

On 7 May 1859, the steamboat attorneys filed

a suit against the M & M Bridge Company in the
U.S. District Court in southsast lowa. The
objective of this suit was to have the federal court
dectare the bridge at Rock Istand to be a public
nuisance and to receive a court order for its
removal. Judge John M. Love ruled in favor of
James Ward, a St. Louis sieamboat owner.
Judge Love declared the bridge a nuisance and
ordered those portions of the bridge which
extended intc lowa be removed. The M & M
Bridge Company promptly appealed the
decision to the U.S. Supreme Court. In
December 1862, the highest court in the land set
aside the lower court decision and nuilified the
order.

Still, steamboat owners continued to harass
the bridge builders with law suits untii the U.S.
Congress passed a law declaring a similar type
of bridge at Ciinton, lowa, to be a legal structure.
After this congressional decision, the judge
dismissed faw suits that were still pending
against the bridge.>

Both Chicago and St. Louis newspapers, as
well as the respective Chambers of Commerce,
actively supported their cities’ interests during



Below: Pier of the original bridge at Rock Isfand. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

the trials. The St. Louis Chamber of Commerce
took an especially active interest in the trials. St.
Louis businessmen actively raised money for
lawyers’ fees and court costs to battle the bridge.
in addition, the St. Louis Chamber of Commerce
dispatched its own commitiee to Chicago to
present its arguments to the public during the
Effie Afton trial.

The St. Louis Chamber of Commerce's strong
commitment to removing the bridge at Rock
Island may have led some of its members to use
criminal means in accomplishing this cbjective.
Two men were arrested at Rock island and
charged with attempted arson of the railroad
bridge at Rock Island. Although the two were
not convicted, it was generally believed by tri-
city residents that they had been recruited by the
St. Louis Chamber of Commerce to set the
bridge on fire.5s

Despite these efforts to remove the bridge, the

structure endured.

The first bridge
supersiructure lasted for nearly ten years.
During the 1850s, portions of its timbers were
destroyed by fire and damaged by ice jams and
windstorms. After only three years, the bridge’s
wooden spans needed sirengthening due to the
volume of trains and vehicles that used the
bridge. More powerful, heavier, stronger
spans were needed to support this additional
weight.

Eventually, in 1865, the bridge company
compietely rebuilt the bridge using heavier
timber. The new span was constructed over and
around the old chords, then the original timbers
were removed. This procedure allowed the
bridge to remain open during the building of the
new span.

A stone memorial commemorating the site of
the original railroad bridge across the
Mississippi River is presently situated near the



Below: The Governmeni Bridge of 1872 was made of iron with a rail deck above the wagon deck. I was situated in
ihe praseni location of the Government Bridge to Davenport, lowa.

fAMCCOM-HO Archives)

Colonel Davenport House, along the northwest
shore of the island.

In 1866, the Federal Government proposed to
the M & M Bridge Company that the location of
the bridge be changed to its present site. The
government offered to share the expense of
building the new bridge. Brigadier General
Thomas J. Rodman, the second Commanding
Oflicer of the Rock Island Arsenal, drafted the
plan which satisfied the requirements of both the
railrpad company and the United States
Government. The railroad company agreed to
give up its old right-of-way across Rock Island
and remove its track and bridges in exchange for
a new bridge, which would be built at the
extreme west end of the island. The railroad
tracks across the island were relocated to aflow
the arsenal to fully develop the interior of Rock
Island. Also, the tracks were connected to an
arsenal trackage. The bridge was finally
completed and turned over to the Rock island
Arsenai in February 1873. General Rodman’'s
commitment to the relocation of the rail tracks
and the construction of a new bridge at the
northwest end of the island was a key to the
success of the project. In 1869, General Rodman
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ordered surveys of the Mississippi riverbed and
measurements of the river current velocity at
varicus stages. He then determined the sites for
the bridge abutments and piers. Letters written
by General Rodman to his superiors reveal the
energy and thought he had put into the bridge
project.

initially, the bridge was 1o be a double track
bridge with an extra deck for wagons. However,
estimated costs for such a bridge exceeded
congressional appropriations. General Rodman
carried on a lengthy correspondence with the
Chief of Ordnance and the Secretary of War
seeking the additional funds necessary to buiid
the bridge. Unfortunately his persistence fed to
the transfer of the bridge construction to the
Engineering Department. Major Daniel Flagler,
his successor as Commanding Officer of the
Rock Island Arsenal, stated: “General Rodman
was deeply interested, and took great pride in his
work, and its (bridge construction) transfer to
other offices was & serious blow to him.”

General Rodman remained interested in the
bridge after its transfer to the engineers.
Periodically, he recommended changes in its
construction. His suggestions included such



Below: The 1895 L.5. Government Bridge’s upper (railroad} deck.

{AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Right: The fower {wagon)] deck.of the 1896 bridge. nofe the streel car iracks used by horse carriages. (AMCCOM-
HO Archives)

basic revisions as the placing of the wagon road
deck under the railrcad tracks, rather than above
it, as initially planned.*

Description of the 1872 Bridge

The 1872 iron bridge which connected Arsenal
Island to Davenport measured slightly over 1,500
feet in length.> The bridge had five spans 220 to
260 feet long, plus a draw span of 388 feet in
length. The superstruciure of the bridge was a
double Whipple truss with two decks. The bridge
stood 37 feet and 2 inches tall from the top of the
piers tc the top bracing. The width of the
structure was a narrow 16 feet, considering it
was for two way wagon traffic. The posts and the
top chords of the bridge were wrought iron and
the ties were flat iron bars. The Baliimore Bridge
Company erected the superstructure, and the
Phoenix Company manufactured the iron work.
Two vertical hydraulic jacks, operated by steam
power, swung the 368 foot draw span. (For a
more detailed description of the 1872 iron bridge
consult Chapier V of Major Flagler's A History of
the Rock [sland Arsenal, published in 1877).
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U.S. Government Bridge 1896

By the 1890s, locomotives and rail cars had
become toc [arge and heavy for the old 1872 iron
bridge. A replacement was needed and, in 1895,
construction began on a stronger bridge of steel
structure, capable of supporting the incraasingly
heavier traffic. Ralph Modjeski, Chicago, lllinois,
was the deasign engineer for the new bridge.
Completed in 1896, the new bridge was
constructed on the old piers. Eventually, it
accommaodated street cars, as well as railroad
cars, vehicles, and foot traffic. Known as the
Government Bridge, the 1896 bridge is stiil used
today between Arsenal Island and Davenport,
towa,5®

Citizen Support for an Arsenal al Rock Island

Area residents periodically campaigned for the
establishment of the arsenal at Rock Island. In
1859, the lowa State Legislature joined the cause
by sending 8 memaoriai advocating such a plan to
the U.S. Congress. A joint resolution of the lowa
State Senate and House of Representatives,



Below: Major H.C. Connelfey ioured the midwast promoiing Rock Island es a site for a new arssnal. Mr, Connefley
was g prominami Rock Isfand aticrney. {Rock Isfand Arsenal Museurrn) Right Baitey Davenport, as Mayor of Rock
islang, actively promuoted the istand of Rock 1sfand as a site for a nafional arsenal or armory. (Rock Island Arsenal

Museum, Rock Island Arsernal)

approved in 1861, called for the congressional
legislatars from Ilowa to work for the
gstablishment of an arsenal on Rock Island.®®
During the same year, Governor Yates of Hlinois,
and other state officials, sent a letter to the
Secretary of War encouraging him to support the
location of an armory at Rock island. The
~ destruction of the federal armory at Harper's
Ferry by Confederate trocps in April 1861
dramaticaily demonstrated to Congress the need
for a replacement site secure from enemy
attack.5®

In 1861, Bailey Davenport, son of Colone!
George Davenport and mayor of Reck Island,
marshalled local support in a well-organized
effort to attract congressicnal votes favoring
Rock Island as the replacement site. {ocal
newspapers contributed articles prometing the
island as a site for a national arsenal. Mayor
Cavenport persuaded the Rock Istand City
Council to appropriate funds for the printing of a
promotional pamphlet. The pamphlet stressed
the potential waterpower and rich resources
found in the upper Mississippi River Valley and
nearby regions. It also emphasized Rock
Isiand’s strategic location, which made it
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relatively impervious from invasion, and its
excellent access to river and rail transportation.
The pamphlet went on to cite the plentiful supply
of inexpensive labor and food found in the Rock
Island vicinity. Another argument noted the
patriotism of the local citizens. A series of
foldout maps of the area were also attached o
the pamphlets. The pamphlet was freely
distributed to congressmen.®

A committee of ten men, led by Bailey
Davenport, served as the executive committee
for the campaign. The commitiee members
came from the tri-cities, with half the
representatives from Rock Island, and the
remaining five from Davenport, lowa, and
Moline, Hlinois. Major H.C. Connelley, a
prominent Rock Island attorney, conducted a
tour through the Midwest t¢ promote the case in
other communities. Committee members also
traveled to Washington, D.C., to lobby for the
adoption ¢f Senate Bill No. 352, which calted for
the creation of an arsenat on Rock Island and
which had been sponsored by one of the lowa
Senators. James W. Grimes, Mllinois Senator,
nowever, favored other locations elsewheie in
Minois, such as Chicago. An amendment to the



Below: A promotional memorial to Congress from interested citizens of the Tri-Cities appealing for the
astablishment of a national armory af Rock island. An armory is generally limited to the menufaciuring of email
arms, while an arsenal includes the production of heavier weapons and eguipment.

Right: ..B. Danforth coniributed to the cause by publishing pemphlsts at the Rock Isfand Argus Book and Job
Office in 1861. (Both photographs are from the Rock Isfand County Historical Society)
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bill reduced the arsenal to a repair and deposit
arsenal, rather than a manufacturing arsenal.®?
Also, the amendment increased the number of
arsenal sites to three. These sites were
Indianapotis, Indiana; Columbus, Ohio; and
Rock Island. The amended bill passed both
houses and became taw on 11 June 1863.%°
The present day Rock Island Arsenal officially
recognizes the year 1862 as the beginning date
of the arsenal. Congressional approval of the
Act of 11 June 1862 set off a chain of events that
had considerable impact on the future of Rock
Island. Within a year after the Congress had
approved the Act of 1862, the U.S. Army had
reestablished its military presence on Rock
Island. The next year Congress approved the
Act of 19 April 18684, which authorized the army
to clear the island of all property claims made by
private parties and by the local communities. A
Board of Commissioners, appointed by the
FPresident of the United States, reviewed the
more legitimate claims and settled them. By
1868, the U.S. Government had acquired a clear
title to the island. These actions provided the
necessary space needed for the establishment of
a grand nationat arsenal for manufaciuring.
Two separate army commands began
constructing on the island that year. The
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Ordnance Depariment broke ground for the first
permanent arsenal building in September
1863. The Quartermaster Department, in turn,
began erecting a prison barracks for captured
Confederate soldiers in August of that same
year.

The removal of settlers and squatters from the
island and disputes with soldiers assigned to the
prison barracks were two conflicts that
confronted the first Arsenal! Commander, Major
C.P. Kingsbury. These and other topics will be
examined in Part Il of this history.

Present day Aock Island is the “Heart of the
Quad Cities" area. Its bridges are the arteries
which provide the flow of commerce and people
through the tocal communities. The
establishment of an arsenal at Rock Island,
rather than the opening of the island to civilian
development, has protected the historica!
landmarks of Arsenal Island from commericat
exploitation and encroachmeni. Today local
citizens visit such historic sites as the Colonel
George Davenport House and the Confederate
Cemetery in a “park like” setting. While
operating as a vital manufacturing arsenal for
cur national defense, the Rock Island Arsenal
has been able to maintain the island as a national
historic site.
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‘FOREWORD

On 11 July 1889 the Rock tsiand Arsenal commemarated its designation as a National
Historic Landmark by the secretary of the interior. This auspicious occasion came about due
in large measure to the efforts of the AMCCOM Historical Office, particularly Mr. Thomas J.
Stattery, who spent many hours coordinating the efforts and actions necessary to bring the
landmark status into fruition. Rock Isfand Arsenal Commander, Colonei David T. Morgan, Jr.,
was also instrumental in the implementation of the above ceremony by his interest, guidance,
and support of Rock Island Arsenal’s National Historic Landmark status.

Incidental to the National Historic Landmark commemoration, the AMCCOM Historical
Office has published An Iustrated History of Rock island Arsenal and Arsenal Isiand, Part
Two. Mr. Thomas J. Slattery is the author of this history and has presented a very well-written
and balanced study of the beginning of Rock Island Arsenal in 1862 through 1900, including
the arsenal construction period, the arsenal’s role in providing ordnance stores to the west,
and its contributions during the Spanish-American War. This information was gathered from
a number of primary and secondary sources including the author's own files, the AMCCOM
Historical Office archives, and the Rock Island Arsenal Museum coliection. Mr. Slattery
would like to acknowledge the efforts of past and present historians who gathered and
preserved historical sources maintained in the heldings of these two institutions. Mr. Slattery
is especially appreciative of the contributions made in this area by his colleagues Mr. O.
Bryan England, Mr. Ralph Krippner, and Dr. Robert Bouilly. Mr. Slattery wouwld also like to
thank Mr. Daniel Whiteman, Rock Island Arsenal Museum Director; and Mrs. Kris Leinecke,
Rock Island Arsenal Museum Curator; for the use of the U.S. War Department's War of
Rebsifion series, a compilation of the official records of the Union and Confederate Armies;
and the Rock Island Arsenal Commander's Annual Report to the Chisf of Ordnance from
1871-1900.

Mr. Slattery’s history illustrates well the importance of individuals such as Thomas J.
Rodman and Daniel W. Flagler in the construction of the great stone buildings which stiil
stand today and serve as a silent tribute to these arsenal commanders. The history also
addresses problems experienced during the construction of the arsenal. The reader will
hopefully be anriched and educated by having learned scmething about Rock Island
Arsenal's illustrious past, and how the past has impacted upon the present arsenal as it
continues to serve our nation.

Colonei David T. Morgan, Jr., is accorded special thanks for his support and enthusiasm.
Special thanks are also extended to Mrs. Carcl L. Secoy and Ms. Nancy Newton of the
AMCCOM Historical Office for respectively providing exemplary editorial and administrative
support for this history. In addition, gratitude is extended to the Field Printing Office for its
professionat assistance.

HERBERT P. LEPORE
Chief, Historical Office
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Below: The western antrance to the Rock island Arsenal via Main {Rodmen) Avenue, the isfand’s principal easi-
wes! thoroughlare. The fimestons gats houss, built in 1875 and portions of the cast iron gate and fimestone piliars
stiif grace the enirance to the arsenal. Note: the gaie house has since been rercofed and the “gingerbread” trim

removad.

INTRODUCTION
SOLDIERS RETURN TO ROCK ISLAND

The history of Arsenal Island is divided into
two parts, or periods, of government cccupancy.
Part one focuses on the federal government’s
acquisition of the island; the reasons for this
acquisition; the Fort Armstrong era; and the
subsequent caretaker period which ended in
1863. The Black Hawk War, the last Indian
uprising in the state of lllinois, resulted in hostile
tribes being transferred to reservation camps
west of the Mississippi River, thus ending the
Indian threat in Illincis. Therefore, with the need
for Fort Armstrong diminished, the federal
government reduced the fort's status to that of a
depot, eventually abandoning the post in 1845.
From 1845 to 1863, a number of civil custodians

employed by the War Department managed the
affairs of Rock Istand.

During the American Civil War, 1861-1865, the
United States Army returned to Rock [sland.
This was the beginning of the second, or arsenal,
period which contines to the present day. It
began on 11 July 1862, when the United States
Congress passed an act which established an
arsenal on Rock Isiand. In the following vear, the
U.S. Army Ordrdance Department started
construction of a storshouse on the western tip
of the island, near the ruins of Fort Armstrong.
This storehouse, completed in 1867, and known
today as the Clock Tower Building, was the first
permanent arsenal building erected.!



Below: A total of 12,192 Confaderate soldiers ware confined at Rock istend during the Civil War years of 1883-
1865. The camp, constructed on the north ceniral shore of the isfand, consisied of 84 wootled barracks and &
variaty of ancilfary buiidings. However only the Confederate Cemetery remains as & reminder ol the prison’s

gxistence.

CHAPTER ONE
ROCK ISLAND PRISON BARRACKS

During the Civil War, however, the Union
Army’s Ordnance Department had company on
the island. Two separate army units operated on
Rock Island during the last two years of the Civil
War. Several months prior to initial construction
of the Clock Tower Building in 1863, the U.S.
Army Quartermaster Department began to buiid
a prisoner of war camp on the north central
section of Rock island. The Union
Quartermaster General, Montgomery Meigs,
ordered Captain Charles A. Reynolds to build a
priscn barracks large enough to accommodate
10,000 prisoners of war. In late August 1863,
Captain Reynclds began construction of the
prison barracks near the north central shore of
the island.? General Meigs became aware of the
island's advantages in 1837 when he assisted a
young army lieutenant named Robert E. Les in
surveying the upper rapids of the Mississippi
River at Rock Istand.?

The prison, rectangular in shape, covered

approximately 12 acres of land. Eighty four
wooden-framed barracks, 22 x 100 feet in size,
arranged in six rows of fourteen barracks each,
comprised the containment area. Each barracks
had a kitchen, with a stove and a 40 gallon kettie
for cooking, located at the west end of the
building. Captain Reynolds built enough bunks
in each barracks to accommodate 120 prisoners.
A main avenue running east toc west divided the
camp and led. to the two main gates. The
barracks were enclosed by a 12 foot high rough
board fence. A guard platform built 4 feet from
the top of the stockade fence, on the exterior
side, had a sentry box every 100 fget. Trenches
maintained inside the fence served as a warning
line. Sentries were ordered to fire at prisoners
venturing beyond this peoint. The “dead line”
supposedly deterred prisoners from tunneling
under the stockade. In addition, the closeness of
bedrock to the surface prevented tunneling near
the southern side of the stockade.*



Below: Persons vislling the Rock Island
Prison Barracks were required to oblain
passes issusd under the order of Colonel
A. J. Johnson, prison commandant,
Right: Colane! Adoiphus J. Johnaon,
commanding olficer of the Rock laland
Barrecks for most of its operational pariod.
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The barracks were numbered consecutively
from 1-84, and each building had a prisoner who
served as sergeant of the barracks. Wooden
bunks in three tiers, one above the other,
extended the length of each building on each
side. .

The commandant of the prison, for all but a
few early days of its 20-month existence, was
Coionel Adolphus J. Johnson. The government
selected the Rock Island site for the prison for
basically the same reasons it had chosen the
istand &s the location for the new western
arsenal--security, location, and space. In
addition, government ownership made the island
a prime choice for both a prison camp and an
arsenal.’

By the time the Rock Island Prison Barracks
received its first Confederate prisoners-of-war in
December 1863, the Union Army had established
21 other prison sites. During the course of the
war, some of these prisons closed, while new
prisons opened.

Pricr to the arrival of the first Confederate

William Hoffman, the
Union's commissary general of prisoners,
inspected the Rock island Prison Barracks in
November 1863. A few days beforse Cotonsl
Hoffman's visit, several barracks at the Camp
Douglas prison near Chicago were destroyed by
fire, thus necessitating the apparent relocation of

prisoners, Colonel

some of the camp prisoners. It has been
surmised that some of the Camp Douglas
prisoners may have been sent to the Rock Island
Prison Barracks. However, it is not cerain
whether this transfer actually took piace.®
Construction of the Rock Island Prison
Barracks was behind schedule from the start. in
the rush to organize prison camps o handle the
influx of southern prisoners, the Rock Island
prison opened before it was completed. Some of
the prison guards were quartered in tents, others
in local communities, and stilf others in the
cheap shanties built to house prisoners of war.
Union Quartermaster General M. C. Meigs, in a
letter dated 12 August 1863, instructed Captain



Below: Union Quartermaster Generaf
Montgomery C. Meigs.

Right A rolf cail at the Rock Island Prison
Darracks. The guards are standing in for-
mation In the front while the prisoners are in
the background standing In front of the
barrecks. Note: Wooderr “Morgan Mule” in
foreground used 1o discipline insubordinates.

C. A. Reynolds that. “Tha barracks for prisoners
at Rock Island should be put up in the roughest
and cheapest manner - mere shanties, with no
fine work about them."?

The first 468 Confederate prisoners arrived at
Rock Island by train on 3 December 1B63. They
had been captured in the Battle of Lookout
Mountain in southeastern Tennessee. Hundreds
of curious citizens gathered to watch the
prisoners be unloaded on the far western edge of
the island. In an effort to control the crowd, local
police officers and their deputies confined the
spectators to a roped-off area. The prisoners
were marched past the crowd a mile or so inland
to the prison.t

Within a few weeks the prison population rose
from the original 468 to over 5,000 prisoners.
Eventaully, the prison population grew to 8,594
priscners, the largest number of prisoners held
at any one time at the Rock Island Prison
Barracks.?

Though the prisoners’ existence at the Rock
Island Prison Barracks was harsh, especiafly by
present day standards, living conditions were
relatively typical of prison camps in the north.
Most southern prisoners had difficulty adjusting
1o the cold winter of the north and, unfortunately,
the first prisoners arrived during a severe cold

spell with temperatures plummeting to 30
degrees below zero fahrenheit. Not long after
the prison had opened, the supply of winter
clothing and blankets for the prisoners became
depleted; howsever, nearby coalfields provided
each barracks with sufficient heating coal to
burn in the barracks’ stoves.

Diaries kept by Confederate priscners and
recollections written after the war were two
valuable sources of material regarding prison
conditions at Rock Island. One prisoner at the
Rock Istand Prison Barracks, Lafayette Rogan,
recorded in his diary these comments in regard
to the winter he experienced at Rock Island:



Below: An jifustrated view of the Rock lsland Prison Barracks depicling sentinels, gate, barracks, and prisoners.
The first Confedarale prisoners arrived by prison train on 3 December 1863 during & part.icu.tun'r bitter cold speil.
Hi-clothed for severs winler weather and carrying smaﬂ pox disease among them, many of these prisoners died at

Rock Islend during their continemsni.

1 January 1864 - The coldest day | have
ever felt. Thermometer 30 (degrees)
helow zero .

3 January 1864 - | suffer greatly for
biankets. Many fellows have no
blankets yet and are very thinly clad.
Such men suffer terrible. We sleep by
reliefs (to man the fires in the barracks)
and fill each bunk heads and tails
fashion. 1 fear that disease and death
will be the result of ail this sutfering.
Deaths have already occurred from
freezing.'

In addition to surviving the bitter winter coid of
the north, Confedsrate prisoners had to endure
exposure to a deadly smallpox epidemic, among
other contagious diseases. Within days of
cpening, the prison was hit by the smallpox
epidemic. In & hurry to complete the camp's
construction, the Quartermaster Corps had

Without a
hospital; adequate medicine; or a well-equipped
medical staff, hundreds of prisoners and prison

failed to erect a prison hospital.

cadre became infected. Initially, prison doctors
diagnosed 84 cases of smallpox among the first
prisoners. Unfortunatety, they did not detect ail
the cases, and those that processed into the
camp undetectaed exposed the entire camp to the
dreaded disease.” Colonel Johnson, the prison
commandant, arrived only a short time after the
prison was consiructed and had little time to
address and ameliorate logistical problems
relative to the well being of the prisoners.
Conditions did not improve at the Rock Island
Priscn Barracks until Ambross M. Clark,
assistant surgeon general, arrived in February
1884 to inspect the island camp. He immediately
instituted corrective measures such as
establishing a temporary hospital isolation ward
in fenced-off barracks and ordering & half dozen
pest houses be built on the southern shore of



Right Colone! William Hoffman, federal
commissary-general of prisoners standing on
tha steps to his office in Washington, D.C. Upon
ratiring from the military, Hoffman resided in (he
tri-cities. His grave site i in Chipplannock
Cemetsry, Rock Island, lilinofs.

Rock Istand, away from the prison. During his
stay at Rock Island, from 10 February to 4 March
1864, Surgeon Clark had plans drawn up for an
adequate hospital, sufficient to care for the
noncontagious disease cases. His report to
Colonel Hoffman stated, “The most urgent
necessity exists for the speedy completion of this
{(prison hospital) building. For in the great rush
to open the prison, not only was the building of
barracks for the cadre not completed but the
construction of a prison hospital was
overlooked."? Clark also noted the conditions
which enhanced the spread of smallpox, such as
the faulty drainage system of the prison
compound. The prison was situated in a low
land area of the island, causing water to drain in,
rather than out, of the camp. Therefore, during
the spring of 18684, the camp ground was
constantly wet and muddy. Clark also noted that
& marsh located near the southeast corner of the
prison would have to be dreined before summer.

Approximately two months later, in April 1864,
Clark returned to inspect the Rock Island Prison
Barracks and filed his report to Colonel Hoffman
on B April 1864. In his report Clark described the
prisoners’ living conditions at Rock Island as
having somewhat improved. He found the prison
barracks well-heated, ventilated, and sufficiently
stocked with food and blankets. However, Clark
reported that the corn bread tasted rancid to the
prisoners and made them #ll; the condition of the
prison grounds and its water supply were still
poor, and several unsanitary conditions and
practices still continued at the prison. The latter

included prisoners tossing their kitchen refuse
and wash water on the ground near their

barracks. The wash water contributed to the
standing water and muddy conditions of the
grounds within the stockade. Collectively, the
garbage, standing water, and muddy grounds
severely hindered the prison’s already
inadequate drainage system. FPrisoners also
emptied and washed barrels from their privies in
the river twice a day. Only makeshift laundry
facilities were available to the prisoners, and
according to Clark, not heavily used.

Clark further noted in his April report to
Colonel Hoffman that improved sanitary
conditions and new clothing for convalescents



Below: Early skeich of ihe Rock Island Prison Berracks past houses erecied on the Isiand (o quaraniine thoses in-
flicted with contagious diseases, such as small pox, from others al the camp.
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were necessary tc stem the camp’s smalipox
epidemic. The surgeon general attempted to
purify and disinfect the prisoners’ clothing by
thoroughly boiling the clothes, then subjecting
them to the fumes of burning sulphur; and
finally, a second boiling. This method seemed to
effectively destroy the infection since no new
cases were traced to the use of the boiled
clothing. Later, however, Clark commented that
he did not trust this procedure and thought new
clething should be furnished to all prisoners who
had been released from the hospitai and
returned to their quarters.'®

Under Surgeon Clark's instructions, all
soldiers and prisoners infected with smalipox
were quaraatined in the newly erected pest
house on the south shore of the island. Other
corrective measures were undertaken by Clark,
such as tha construction of a sewage system to
improve drainage and sanitation conditions, and
the deveiopment of & sufficient water supply
system in the prison.

The post surgeon’s morning report of sickness
for 4 March 1864 provided some insight of the
spidemic faced by the medicel staff of the Rock
island Prison Barracks. Surgeon William
Watson, U. S. Volunteers, listed 350 prisoners
sick in quarters and 714 in the temporary
barracks hospital. Of those in the hospital, 420
were smallpox cases.'

As previously mentioned, the death toll from
disease increased steadily among prisoners and
guards after the camp opened in Decamber 1863.
Smallpox claimed 98 prisoners and 3 guards in
December 1863; 231 prisoners and 4 guards in
January 1864; and 350 prisoners and 10 guards
in February 1864. The War Department, alarmed
by these statistics, reversed an earlier directive
issued by Colonel Hoffman which had halted
construction of the Rock Island Prison Hospital.
After pest houses and laundry facilities were
constructed, as recommended by Assistant
Surgeon General Clark, a gradual decline in
smallpox cases and deaths occurred.™



Below: The Rock Island Prison administrative buildings, possibly after the Rock Isfand Arsenal assumed controf
of them foliowing the Civil War. Since, traditionally, post Hagpoies wera planied near a headquartsrs building it
could be assumed thal these struciures were temporary adminisirative buildings for the arsenal. :

Clark alsc ordered the relocation of the
original Rock Isiand Confederaie Cemetery,
which had been adjacent t¢ the prison
compound, to its present site.'®* During the 20
months that the prison was in operation, more
than 1,964 Confederate prisoners died while
confined at the Rock Island Prison Barracks.
Smallpox, combined with pneumonia and
diarrhea, accounted for the majority of these
deaths. In the same time frame, 171 Union
guards died of diseases or exposure tc the
elements while serving guard duty. The bodies
of dead Union soidiers not claimed by their
tamilies were reinterred in the current Rock
island National Cemetery on Arsenat Island.”

Because of the smallpox epidemic at the
prison, the government issued the following
instructions through the Rock Istand Argus
newspaper: ’

Visitors to these stations, out of mere
curiosity, will in no case be permitted.
Persons having business with the

Commanding Officer, or Quartermaster,
may, with the permission of the
Commanding Officer, enter the camp
to remain only long enough to transact

their business. When prisoners are
seriously ill, their nearest relatives,
parents, wives, brothers or sisters, if
they are loyal people, may be permitted
to make short visits; but under no other
circumstances . {will) visitors be
allowed to see them without the
approval of the Commissary General of
Prisoners.'®

The prison commandant, Cotonel Johnson,
initially permitted the southern prisoners to
receive clothing and food packages from
sympathetic local citizens, friends, and relatives.
Colone! Johnson also allowed the prisoners to
correspond with their relatives and friends, but
their unsealed letters were censored at-the
prison by Captain A. D. Collins, post
quartermaster, and Colonel Hoffman. Letters



Below: Clam-shell trinkels carved by Con-
federale priseners at the Rock island Prison
Barracks. The prisoners used them to barter
and to sall to guards and visilors.

Right Confederate soldisrs making trinkets
out of clam-shells from the Mississippi River.

couid not exceed one page and had to relate
soilely to personal matters."™

Books provided a temporary escape from the
monotonous routine of a prisoner’'s life. Other
diversions undertaken by prisoners included
attending church services, organizing skits,
forming singing groups, gambling, and debating
the many issues of the war. Tobacco, blankets,
clothing, books, and personal items, acquired in
several different manners by the prisoners, made
their incarceration bearable. Some of the
prisoners woluntesred their labor on prison
construction projects, such as the building of the
prison sewer system; and each prisoner that
worked, depending upon his skill, received a
credit of 5-10 cents a day on his account at the
prison sutler store. Enterprising prisoners also
used their craft skills to fashion rings and trinkets
from available material such as gutta percha {a
hardened tree sap or resin) and mussel shelis.
These crnaments were inlaid, cut out, and often

polished into the shapes of eagles, doves and
fish. The trinkets were traded or sold to the
guards for tobacco or peddied to local citizens.2?

By 1864 the North had become aware of the
wretched conditions that Union soldiers had
been enduring in southern prisons. The report of
deplorable treatment of Union prisoners of war
at Andersonville, Georgia, site of the infamous
Confederate prison, caused bitter resentment in
the north. In June 1864, Secretary of War Edwin
Stanton ordered Union prisons to enforce
stricter rutes for Confederate soldiers.2

At the Rock Island Prison Barracks, Colonel
Johnson zealcusly followed these instructions.
He restricted the type of packages prisoners
could receive from relatives and friends by no
tonger accepting food baskets addressed to

. individual prisoners. Instead, Colonel Johnson

had these baskets delivered to the sick wards.
Only clothing packages were to be received by
individual prisoners. Further restrictions



Below: Confederata prisorars al Rock Isfand
Barracks taking oath of allsgiance o become
“galvanized yankeos"

Right Confederate prisoners “riding Morgan's
Mule” as punishment for thelr misconduct

inciuded prohibiting the sutler's wagon from
entering the compound and doing business with
the Confederate prisoners. Supposedly, in
response to conditions at the Andersonvitle
Prison, Colonel Johnson also ordered that
prisoners’ rations be reduced to 14 ounces of
bread and 12 ounces of “fresh” beef. In addition,
the prisoners were to receive a quart of hominy
per man each day. The southerners made
hominy soup and also boiled other food, serving
it in sauce pans produced from canteens and
burned-out stove pipes. The prisoners had a
difficult time swalowing the course yellow corn
bread provided by the prison and asked for flour
to bake white bread, with varying degrees of
success. At times slab bacon was added to the
prisoners diet. Years after the Civil War former
Confederate prisoners who had been
incarcerated at Rock Island during the war wrote
colorful accounts which depicted episodes of
prisoners eating stray dogs and cooking rat
stew

Many southern prisoners suspected that
harsher rules ordered by Colenel Johnson were
part of a Union plan to reduce their allegiance to

10

the Scouth, and entice them to join the Union
Army. If so, the program enjoyed a measure of
succaess. On 8 December 1863 President
Abraham Lincoln had announced his Amnesty
Proclamation to Confederate prisconers.
Confederate prisoners who pledged their
allegiance to the United States and who agreed
to enlist in the Union military service would
receive amnesty. These "galvanized yankees”
were recruited to fight Indians on the western
frontier and to man Union ships on the high seas.
At the urging of General Ulysses S. Grant,
Lincoln agreed not to employ former
Confederate prisoners on the battlefield against
their fellow southerners. In the heretofore
mertioned Diary of Lafayette Rogan 1863-1865,
Rogan, a prisoner-of-war clerk at the Rock Istand
Prison Barracks, recorded briefly in his 9
February 1864 entry, . . . “Navy Roll of 664,
traitors to our country {was) compteted to day."*
On 1 September 1864 President Lincoln wrote
the following to War Secretary Edwin Stanton:

. .. there are at Rock Istand, lll., as rebel
prisoners of war many persons of
northern or foreign birth, who are




Below: A. C. Dart, camp sutler, and his wagon from which Confederale Prisoners bartered or purchased perscnal

T

items such as lobacco.

unwilling tc be exchanged and be sent
South, but who wish to take the path of
allegiance and enter the military service.
of the Union.*

Within a few weeks after President Lincoln’s
proclamation, Rogan again wrote in his diary,
"Yanks make a call for volunteers offering $100
for {a) year as bounty and promise not (io)
oppose them . . . (by returning to) the rebel
Army.” The next day Aogan's entry read: "The
heart grows sick and the soul sinks within me
when ! see so many deserting our (South's)
cause. From 1,500 to 2,000 of the prisoners here
will enlist for frontier service.”?  Another
Confederate prisoner, B. M. Hord, wrote an
article in 1904 for Confederate Yeteran Magazine
titled, “Forty Hours in a Dungecn at Rock
Island.” in which he stated that those who took
the oath and joined the Union Army or Navy were
moved to a new pen for their protection. Twelve
barracks in the southeast corner of the
enclosure, near the main entrance to the prison,
were cordoned off and the occupants transferred

11

tc other barracks. No {onger technicalily
prisoners, these new Union recruits were
furnished with the clothing and rations of a
Union soidier. Southern soldiers who remained
loyal to the South stayed in the main compound,
which was caled the Bull Pen. During the
camp’s existence, nearly 3,000 rebel prisoners
*agscaped” the confines of the Rock Island Prison
Barracks by volunteering for frontier or sea duty
with the Union Forces.?

Prison records cited 41 successful! escapes.
Cotonel Johnson reported the detsails of one
such escape to Colonei Hoffman in a letter dated
25 June 1864:

COLONEL: 1 have the honor to report
that on the night of the 14th instant ten
prisoners of war made their escape
from the prison inclosure by tunneling
under barracks 42, their egress being
made directly under the parapet. The
last two were discovered by the
sentinel, who gave the atarm, and all
necessary measures taken for their



Below: A 12 ool high wooden fence with sentry walk (parape!) surrounded the entire Rock Isiand Barrecks
prisoner areg. Senitry boxas were positionad every 100 feel! afong the wafk.

recapture, which has resulted in
secursing seven of them. Three were
taken on the island, four near Rock
River, about four miles distant, and one
was drowned in attempting to cross the
slough. Mounted patrols have been on
the track of the remaining two until to-
day, with the fair prospect of taking
them. Barrack 42 was used for a
variola ward during the prevalence of
that disease and whife the pest houses
were being erected, and has been kept
unoccupied since by request of the
surgeon. The tunnei! was made on the
south side of the prison. Deep trenches
had been made on the north, east, and
west sides to prevent tunneling, it being
deemed unnecessary {o trench on the
south side in consequence of the rock
coming so near the surface. A trench
has now been made down to the rock
on that side aiso.*

12

The Confederate prisoners were guarded by
trcops of the 4th Regiment of the Veterans
Reserve Corps; the 37th lowa Regiment; various
“100 day" volunteer regiments; and the 108th U.
S. Colored Infantry Regiment. The 4th Invaiid
Corps Regiment was a veteran reserve
organization comprised of wounded scldiers
who were no longer fit for regular military
service. Under the command of Colenel Richard
H. Rush, the 4th Invalid Corps were the guards at
RAock Istand prison when the camp received its
first Confederate prisoners in December 1863.
Shortly thereafter, Colonel Johnson arrived at
Rock Island and assumed command of the
prisan barracks in January 1864, In the same
month, the 37th lowa Voluntzers Regiment
arrived to supplement the guard force.

The 37th lowa Volunteers, known as the “gray
beard” regiment, was comprised of men tgo old
for conscription. George Washington Kincaid,
an lowa pioneer settler and member of the
state’'s first constitutional convention, sought



Below: A lopographical map drawn by the Rock Isiand Arsenal master drafisman, W. Otto Gronen, in 1870. The
maep depicts the prison barracks in the north ceniral section of the island. During the 1870s the prison buildings
ware razed and the officer’s quarters which now stand afong Tarrace Driva wers consiruciad in their place. Nots
thel the Rock isiand Arsenal construction was limited to the lar western tip of the island, west of the reiiroad
tracks. The map acluelly depicis the isfand in 1867 before the arsens! bagan construction of manufaciuring

bulldings on the high ground in the center of the island.
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first federal, then state, permission to form a
unique regiment of men too old to enlist in the
Regular Army. lowa Governor Samuel J.
Kirkwood granted his approval and appointed
Mr. Kincaid the commanding officer of the 37th
lowa Volunteers. The regiment of “gray beards”
was exclusively composed of men 45 vears of
age or older. The regiment contained 428 men
over the age of 50; 145 of which were in their 60s;
and one man, Curlis King of Muscatine, lowa,
who was B80. Atiractive as a public relations
endeavor for the Union Army, the “gray beards”
weare to be exclusively used as garrison and
guard troops. Used in this capacity, the 37th
lowa Volunteers relieved troops better fit for
combat duty. The unigueness of being the
oldest regiment to serve in the U. S. Army initially
earned the regiment celebrity status in the north.
Among these troops were men who had prior
military service dating back to the War of 1812.
However, the novelty of federal service
eventually wore off under the strain of everyday
duty and the bone chilling winter winds that

whipped across Rock Istand.®®

In October 1882, the 37th lowa Volunteer
Regiment was comprised of ten companies when
it was mustered into the army at Camp Strong,
near Muscatine, lowa. The “gray beards” initially
served provost and garrison duty in St. Louis,
Missouri, and earned commendations and
praises for their service at St. Louis, and at Alton,
Hlinois.2* However, they did not receive
accolades for their duty at Rock Island. In April
1864, Lieutenant Colonel John F. Marsh
inspected the prison barracks for the Inspector
General's Office. His written findings included
this critical comment regarding the “gray beard”
regiment. “{A) regiment of decrepit old men and
the most unpromising subjects for sotdiers | ever
saw."® |n another instance, Surgeon August M.
Clark reported to Colonel Hoffman concerning
his inspection of the Rock Island Prison
Barracks:

Colonel Kincaid, Thirty-seventh lowa
Volunteers, (should) be under no
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Below: Officers of the 108th Regiment, U.S. Colored Infantry,

stationed al Rock isfand during the Civil War. Left

to right, Dr. Ellis, surgeomn; Colonel John 5. Bishop; Adjutant Morris T. Stafford: and Henry Clay Cisaveland,

guartermaster.

circumstances placed in command of

this post. He is altogether too slow and

easy, and his officers and men appear

to have no idea of fhe vaiue of

discipline.®

On 24 September 1864, the U. 5. 108th Colored
Infantry Regiment, commanded by Lieutenant
Colonel John Bishop, a white officer, arrived by
train to assume guard duty at the Rock Island
Prison Barracks. The regiment's recruits,
primarily from the slave population of north and
west central Kentucky, enlisted for a three year
term of service.®
Confederate prisoners expressed first

indignation, then anger, over the prospect of
armed former slaves in uniform guarding over
them. Lafayette Rogan expressed these
emotions in his diary, writing, “A regt (regiment)
of contrabands arrived at this post for garrison
duty.” His next day entry read: “The
contrabands have not yet come of the parapet.
We hate it but | suppose we must submit to this
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indignity . . . {(as) we have to others."” Two days
|ater, Rogan wrote: "“8,000 Southern men today
are guarded by the slaves who have baen armed
by the tyrant. One of our number was killed and
two wounded last night in cold blood."** It was
not tong before black guards had earned a
reputation for shooting priscners.  Prisoners
accused the guards of firing without provocation
into . their barracks and shooting prisoners
without cause. However, in at least one instance,
the post commander, Colonel A. J. Johnson,
appointed a commission of officers to investigate
the shooting death of a prisoner; and after
deliberating on the evidence, the commission
acquitted Private John Cowherd of Company C,
108th U. S. Colored Infantry Regiment, of all
blame in the shooting of John P. McClanaban,
prisoner of war, assigned to barracks 8. The
commission ruled that Private Cowherd acted in
accordance with the spirit of his instructions,
and discharged his duty as a good soldier and
faithful sentinel.®




Right- A formal phelograph of
Private Christopher Anderson, a
membar of the 108th LS. Cofored
Infantry Regimeni, who served as a
prison guard al the Rock Isfand
Prison Barrecks during the Civi
War. The photo is from & carte de
viste, a small portrail photograph
used as a substitute for & visiting
card by soldiers. This is one of a set
photographed by Gayford & Speidel,
Photographers, Rock Island, Hllinois.

Prisoners and guards who disobeyed orders
were often assigned to “ride” a narrow wooden
rail, known as “Morgan’s Mule”. The guiity party
“rode” the rail for several hours with his feet
dangling above the ground.

The 108th Colored Infantry Regiment
remained at Rock Island until May 1865. On the
eve of their departure to Mississippi, the Rock
island Argus commented, “the colored soldiers,
as a general thing, have conducted themselves
with great propriety, since they were stationed
here."*

ln a separate section of the national cemetery,
at the far east end of the island, are 50 graves of
the men of the 108th who died while serving at
the Rock Island Prison Barracks. Also buried in
this section were the 16 southern “galvanized
yankees” who died prior to being assigned to the
western frontier.*®

A total of 12,192 prisoners were confined to the
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prison barracks during its existence. Of this

number, 730 Confederate prisoners were
transferred; 3,876 exchanged; and 5,581
released. The last two prisoners were released
from the prison hospital in July 1865. After the
prison was closed, the 207 buildings, including
the prison barracks, hospital, and garrison
building, were turned over to the arsenal. All of
these structures have long since been razed.
The last vestiges of the prison disappeared in
1908. Only the Confederate Cemetery remains
as a permanent reminder of the existence of the
Rock Island Prison Barracks.’

The cemetery was relocated to its present site
in February 1864. Between 1906 and 1912 a
congressional commission responsible for
marking the graves of Civil War dead provided
the grave markers. Each year Memorial Day
commemorative ceremonies are held at the
cemetery.



Below: This copy of an oid fithograph depicts the Army Ordnenca Department’s original plan to build a small
arsenal comprising three structures for the repair and storage of ordnance waapons and aquiprment al the far
westarn edge of the isfand. Note: Only the Clock Tower Buliding in the cenfsr was ever arecled.

CHAPTER TWO
BEGINNING OF THE ARSENAL

Prior to the Civil War, prominent army officers
such as Brigadier General Thomas S. Jesup,
gquartermaster-general, expressed the
importance of Rock Island. in 1852 General
Jesup wrote:

The site of Fort Armstrong, Rock
Island, is one of the most valuable in
our western country for an armory. The
whole water power of the Mississippi
River is available. |f a western armory is
to be established, | would advise that it
be placed there. The island is under the
controt of an agent, who resides on it,
and who is under the order of, and
reports to, the quartermaster of Saint
Louis. The agent should protect the
property from depredation. 1 would not
advise that any part of it be rented or
leased.®

The legislation which authorized the building
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of an arsenal at Rock Island in July 1862
envisioned only a small facility designed for the
“deposit and repair” of ordnance and provided
$100,000 for the building of the arsenal. Besides
Rock Island, Indianapolis, Indiana, and
Columbus, Ohio, were designated as additional
sites for the building of other small arsenails.™ As
a resuft of the destruction of Harper's Ferry
Armory, in Virginia, Congress realized the
necessity of federal arsenals being far from the
Mason-Dixon Line. Rock Island, being situated
in the upper Mississippi River, satisfied this
criteria. None of the arsenal buildings, however,
were completed at Rock Island during the Civil
War.

Shortty after Congress had passed the act of
11 July 1862, establishing an arsenal at Rock
Island, General C. P. Buckingham conducted a
preliminary inspection of the istand for the War
Department. On 24 October 1862, he wrote to
the secretary of war:



Right: Edwin M. Stanton served &s Secretary
of War during the period in which plans for
the Rock Isfand Arsenal were expanded and
upgraded to include manufaciuring
opearalions.

The island is, without a doubt, the best
place for an arsenal. The only qusstion
connected with the location of an
Arsenat at this point is, | conceive,
whether it shall be at the upper or lower
end of the island . . . | think the
advantages of the lower end of the
Istand for the purpose of an arsenal are
superior to those of the upper end.¥

In 1862, the army appointed a board of officers
to inspect the island and to recommend a
construction site for the first buildings. The
officers were to further report on the type of
construction material to be used for the
buildings. The board consisted of three
ordnance officers: Major C. P. Kingsbury; Major
F. D. Callendar; and Captein T. J. Treadwsll. In
their report to the chisf of ocrdnance, the officers
recommended the first arsenal building,
designated “storehouse A" and today known as
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the Clock Tower Building, be constructed on the
western tip of the island. The officers also
recommended limestone from LeClaire, lowa, as
the building material for the arsenal structures.”
As views of prominent military leaders such as
General George D. Ramsey, chief of ordnance,
became known, sentiment in Washington began
to develop for a iarger arsenal than had originally
been provided for in the act of 11 July 1862.
General Ramsey, in a February 1864 letter tc
Edwin Stanton, secretary of war, expressed his
views as to the advantages of having a
manufacturing arsenal at Rock Island.

. . . After a careful study of this question
of location, there is no position which,
to my mind, affords so many
advantages, and, at the same time,
presents so few objections, as Rock
Island, in the Mississippi River.



Below: The original iocation of the Chicago, Rock Island and Pacilic railroad fracks across Arsenal island and the
site of the firs! raifroad bridgs from the island to Davenpori, lowa. Relocation of the tracks and bridge fo the far
weslern sdge of the island In 1872 ailowed the arsenal to use the entire igland for expansion. Note: Storehouse A
{Clock Tower Building) was situated easi of the proposed bridge and Ifrack route.
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Right: Major Charles P. Kingsbury
was one of the three ordnance
officers tha! sefected the sile of the
first Rock Isiand Arsenal buiiding.
Afterwards, he became the arsenal’s
firsl commanding officer and super-
vised its construction from 3 August
1883 1o 16 July 1865. In sddition io
his dutiss as commander, Major
Kingsbury armed and equipped lowsa,
Wizconsin, and Minnesota Volunieers
during the Civii War,

In a military point of view it is perfectly proposed arsenal at Rock Island,
secure from an enemy, advancing respectfully report: That they have

either by the lakes or the river. From it,
supplies can be transported in any
direction and at any season of the year.
It is in the midst of a country teeming
with coal and wood, and especizlly
adapied to agriculture--an important
element in cheapening labor. The site
is elevated far above river floods, the
climate and situation are health(y}, and
while the island is sufficiently isolated
to secure it from sudden attacks, it is
near enough to the cities of Rock Island
and Davenport to afford ample
accommodations for all necessary
employees.®

carefully examined the ground at the
lower end of the Rock Island, selected
by the War Department for a United
States arsenal, and recommend that the
front of the principal storehouse be on
the prolongation of a line drawn from
the southwest corner of a wooden
building, now occupied by a tenant,
{possibly the old General Winfisld
Scott headquarters or one of the old
Fort Armstreng buildings) and that the
southwest corner of said storehouse be
placed at a point of this line 300 feet
distant from said wooden building, the
said ling . . . (bearing) about south 40

The board of ordnance officers submitted the degrees, west.®
following report to the Ordnance Office, dated In addition, the board selected two possible
May 18, 1863: sites for an ammunition magazine, also on the
The undersigned, appointed a board ~west end of the island. Once the officers’ final

under orders from the Ordnance Office, re_port was approved, Major Charle‘s_ P
dated May 6, 1863, to select a site for Kingsbury was appointed to command the initial

certain buildings pertaining to the construction of the arsenal.“
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Lelt: An early eiching of Storehouse A (Clock
Tower Building). a stabla, and a wooden house
which sarved as General Winligld Scott's head-
quarters during the Black Hawk War of 1832,
Right Colonel Rodman purchased tha Tower
Clock from A. 5. Holchkiss of New York City for
$5.000.00. The clockworks remain operating
today &3 instalied in 1868 on the sixth floor of
the lower.

Ironically, in 1861 Major Kingsbury served as
superintendent of the Harper's Ferry Armory in
{West} Virginia for fwo days prior to the
destruction of the armory's weapons and the
abandonment of the installation in an effort to
prevent Confederate sympathizers from seizing
the supply when they arrived & few hours later to
capture the armory.*

Construction of the first building on the island
began in 1863, and in April 1864, the cornerstone
of the initial permanent building, storehouse A,
was laid. Builders using LeClaire limestone
erected a five story tower, nearly 120 feet in
height, which housed a clock with dials facing in
four directions. The clock's four dials were 12
feet in diameter, with a minute hand six feet long
and an hour hand approximately 5 feet long.
Kingsbury's successor, Brevet Brigadier General
Thomas J. Rodman, purchased the clock from its
manufacturer, A. S. Hotchkiss Company, New
York, New York, in 1867. Considered to be one

of the finest in the country, the clock may be the
onty timepiece of its kind still operating with its

original parts. The massive weights which
operate the clock hang the length of three floors,
and its cleck bell weighs about 3,500 pounds.
The clock was purchased for $5,000.00. Begun
during President Abraham Lincoln’s
administration, the Clock Tower was the only
building erected from the original arsenal
plans.

On 19 April 1864, Congress passed into law an
act that authorized the army to reclaim the entire
isiand and to settle all legal land claims held by
others. This act, originally introduced as a bill on
the floor of Congress by lllinois Representative
Etihu B. Washburn, provided Major Kingsbury
with the capability to build an arsenal equal to
the Harper's Ferry Armory, and capable of
manufacturing ordnance stores. Earlier
legislation had only atlowed the development of
a depot.* General Ramsey’'s statements in his



Below: A magp depicling the Rock isiand land claims of Colonel Davenport, D. B, Sears, and others in 1857. Major
Kingsbury sought the removai of these settlers and others from the island during his command.
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letter to Secretary of War Stanton, confirmed the
intention of the act of 18 April 1864. Ramsey
wrote that the act authorized the secretary of war
to take complete and permanent possession of
the island on behalf of the United States. The act
stipulated that the island was to be held as a
military reserve by the War Department, and that
an arsenal for the construction, deposit, and
repair of arms and munitions be built and
maintained on the isiand.* :

A prerequisite, however, to the creation of a
large manufacturing arsenal was the removal of
settlers and manufacturing establishments on
the island. Between the two periods of military
occupancy on Rock island, portions of Rock
Istand had been settled by civilians. These
individuals betieved the government would
eventually release the land for public sate. In the
meantime, they had already staked-out or
claimed the more vatuable sites, such as those
sections at the eastern end near the dam.
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However, once the U. S. Congress approved the
act of 11 July 1862, foliowed by the act of 19 April
1864, civilian domicile of the istand was short
lived. A board of commissioners appointed by
the president of the United States reviewed and
settled the more legitimate claims. In 1865,
President Andrew Johnson appointed Major
General J. M. Schofield, Mr. James Barnes of
Springfield, Massachusetts, and Mr. Sheldon M.
Church of Rockford, lllinois, to this board.*®

The commission conducted hearings in
October of 1866, at which time witnesses
testified and presented evidence as to the validity
and value of their ctaims. The commission
adjourned on 19 October 1866, and on 4
February 1867, submitted its final report to the
Circuit Court of the Northern District of llinois.
Judge Drummond reviewed the compensation
due each claimant and awarded the sum of
$237.429.00 as final payment to settle these
claims.®



Below: In 1868 a wooden bridge, built by the city of Rock Isiand, to the Arsenal Isiand was carried away by ice.
The federal government had purchased the bridge and & sandbar known as Wilson's Island lor $18.800 in 1866.
Colonel Rodman ordered & rope-ferry o operaie between the cify and the isiend untél & new iron bridge was
completed.

The congressional acts of 18 April 1864 and 22
June 1866 empowered the secretary of war to
take complete and permanent possession of
Rock Istand, including the island's access
bridges and water power. In dong so, the city of
Rock Island received $14,357.00 for its wooden
wagon bridge and causeway over Wilson Island
which connected the town with the island of
Rock Island. The city of Rock Island had erected
the bridge in 1863, but in 1868, a spring ice thaw
destroyed it. Major Kingshury, wihile
commanding the construction of the Arsenal's
Clock Tower Building, ordered a rope ferry
installed as a substitute bridge untii a new bridge
could be constructed in its place in 1872.

The city of Moline, lllinois, received $2,000.00
for its bridge and the roadway that connected
Mill Street in Moline with the island. Mill owner
and tand developer, David B. Sears, received
$145,175.00 for 35.45 acres of land on Rock
Island. His land was considered more valuable
than others because it was developed and was
lacated near water power from the wing dam at
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the east end of the island. Sears had surveyed,
plotted, and lotted his island property in the
hopes of developing an island city. However,
only a few lots were sold by the time the
government had repurchased the property from
Sears.

The government also awarded Colonel George
Davenport's family $40,740.00 for its 150 acre
estate on Rock Island. The location of the
Davenport property, which was near the criginal
arsenal construction site, and the improvements
made on the property, enhanced its monetary
value and importance to the government.
Government payments were especially generous
considering both David B. Sears and Colonel
Davenport had originally obtained their island
properties for $1.25 per acre. With the exception
of the claims of George Stephens, Jonathan
Huntoen, and Timothy Woods, the remaining six
claims were small. The government settled these
smaller claims for approximately $1,000.00
each.s '



Below: A fatter 19th century view of the Rock Island Arsenal approach to tha government bridge to Davanport,

fowa, and Clock Tower Building.

In letters to the chief of ordnance, Major
Kingsbury approved the actions taken by the
commission, however, he encountered
difficuliies with both the settlers on the island
" and with the soldiers who had been building the
prison camp on Reck Island. Adding to these
difficulties was the fact the city of Rock Island
buiit a wagon bridge from that town to the island
without Major Kingsbury's permission. To add
insult to injury, the mayor of Hock Iisland,
anxious to capitalize on business from the new
prison barracks, now sought the major's
permission te construct a road from the wagon
bridge to the prison barracks on the north central
portion of the island. Major Kingsbury ironically
approved the request, but stipuiated that the
road be built away from his construction
operations at the siorehouse site near the ruins
of Fort Armstrong. But once the road was
completed, traffic between the prison camp and
the town of Rock Island frequently left the road
while taking a short-cut to the prison and
encroached upon the arsenal building site.

‘cubic feet.)

These annoyances, and those created by
wandering horses, cattle, and other livestock
owned by the squatters on the island, hindered
Major Kingsbury's construction operations.
Major Kingsbury also had to deal with delays
in the shipment of limestone to Rock Isiand. The
contractor, Joseph Parkins, cltaimed he could not
coniinue to provide the stone at the contract
price of $750 a perch due to a sharp
depreciation in the dollar in 1884. (A perch is a
unit of measurement used in stone work, usually
16.5 feet {1 rod) by 1 foot by 1.5 feet, or 24.75
Afso, since the Mississippi River
leve! had become so low, it was not possible to
detiver the stone from the quarries by water.’
In addition to these difficulties, Major
Kingsbury was often called from his duty as
arsenai commander to personally attend to the
receipt and delivery of arms and supplies to
volunteer troops in lowa and Wisconsin, and
frequently had to travel to Milwaukee, and
Madison, Wisconsin and io Des Moines, and
Keokuk, lowa, to supervise the distribution of
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Below: Seniry station, guard path and guard of probably the Civil War era. This pholo was taken from a stersopt-
fcorn card that depicted the north shore of the isfand of Rock isiand betwsen the pump station and sun dial. The
focation shown here was approximately et the northwsst corner of tha Rock Isfand Prison Barracks. Nole the

guard is armed with & jong musket,

arms. A detachment of soldiers of the 4th
Regiment, 186th Co., was assigned to guard
arsenal property and construction sites on the
island in April 1864. Conflicts between the
priscn guards and the construction workmen
was an ongoing problem until the end of the Civil
War.

Soldiers of the Quartermaster Department,
who were building the prison on the interior of
Rock Island, aiso routinely encroached upon
Major Kingsbury's constru¢tion site; and their
actions caused friction between the two
commands. On 26 February 1884, Major
Kingsbury wrote to the prison barracks
commander, Cofonel A. J. Johnson, to compiain
about teamsters hauling supplies and materiais
to the prison site and often leaving the road to
trespass through arsenal grounds. Major
Kingsbury notified the chief of army ordnance
that Colonel Johnson's men also had chopped
down an excessive amount of timber. Major
Kingsbury reminded the chief of ordnance that
the entire island would soon be permanently
reserved for ordnance purposes by
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congressional fegislation, and that the prison
barracks served only a temporary purpose and
should have been placed on grounds which were
already cleared.®

In further correspondence dated 17 March
1864, Major Kingsbury again complained to the
chisf of army ordnance that the prison command
had once more encroached on his buifding site.
Colonel Johnson took control of the Colonel
Davenport House after the government
reaquired the property. The arsenal commander
tequested that the chief of army ordnance
immediately transfer possession of the
Davenport House to the Ordnance Department.
Major Kingsbury viewed Colonel Johnson's
arbitrary action as another example of the
prison’s encroachment on arsenal grounds, and
argued that it was imperative the Davenport
House be retained by the arsenal as it would save
the arsenal the expense of building an office and
additional storage area. In accordance with
instructions from the chief of ordnance, Colonel
Johnson relinquished the house to the Ordnance
Department.s



Below: The relocation of the Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific Raiiroad tracks and bridge to the far western edge
of the isfang was critical to the success of Rodman's plan for exgansion of the arsenal over the entire island.
Rodman encouraged the building of a new bridge, a double deck bridge with & wegon deck benesath the railroad
deck. William Lamback’s skelch of this new iron bridge with the Clock Tower Building in background is shown

balow.

Conflict continued, however, between the two
commands. On 10 June 1864 Major Kingsbury
again wrote to Colonel Johnson regarding the
activities and conduct of the commandant’s men.
Re complained that men guarrying stone for the
L. S. Government on the other side of the river
were driven from their work by the musket fire of
the prison guards, and that the quarry workers’
lives were endangered by this practice.s®
Obstacles such as these, and the failure of the
contractor, Joseph Parkins, to deliver the
LeClaire limestone as scheduled, delayed the
completion of the storehouse building.

These delays and difficulties frustrated and
discouraged Major Kingsbury. He had already
begun construction of “storehouse A" prior to
congressional legislation which authorized the
army to rectaim the entire island. Less than a
dozen firms and individuals continued tc use
portions of Rock Island after the passage of this
act. Reluctant to move, they persuaded Major
Kingsbury and government authorities in
Washington to allow them to remain as long as

25

their operations did not interfere with the
arsenai’s construction plans.

In May 18865, the new chief of ordnance,
Alexander B. Dyer, visited Rock Island to inspect
the construction site and to discuss several
significant issues with Major Kingsbury which
impacted on the fuiure development of the

arsenal. These issues were the removal of the
squatters; future use of the prison barracks;
plans for a greater arsenal; location of buildings;
and water power development. Removal of the
remaining private parties from Rock Island
proved more difficult than imagined. Tired after
two wyears of arguing with squatters, stone
cutters, and local authorities, Major Kingsbury
finally gave up. In June 1865 he reguested and
received a release from his command at Rock
Island. Left unfinished was the partially
censtructed Clock Tower Building, “storehouse
A”. On 27 June 1866, a full year after Major
Kingsbury's departure from Rock Island, the
federal government acted upon the land claims.*



Right: The U.S. Army Corps of Enginears, Rock Island District, has occupied the Clock Tower Buiiding since ths
buitding of the lock and dam at Rock isiand in 1954, Note: the dial is approximataly 12 feet in diamster, and the
hour and minuile hands are approximately five and six feet fong.

Edwin M. Stanton, secretary of war, acting
upcn Major Kingsbury's request for
reassignment, switched the commanding
officers of Rock island Arsenal and Watertown
Arsenal. Kingsbury's successor, General
Thomas J. Rodman, obiained his superior's
approval for design changes propeosed in the
Clock Tower Building, and in the overall ptan for
an arsenal at Rock Island. The two major
changes approved were the placement of gables
in the ends of the building with windows in each
tc light and ventilate the foft, and an increase in
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the height of the clock tower by 20 feet to
accommodate the change in the height of the
roof. The clock tower, completed in 1867, served
as a support for the main hoist which lifted
supplies to the floors of the main building.
General Rodman’s alterations in the design
increased the usefulness of the building and
created a more imposing structure. Since its
construction, the Clock Tower Building has
become one of the most visible and recognizable
landmarks of the Rock Island Arsenal and of the
upper Mississippi River.%



Righi: Historians credited Rodman's method of
casting gun lubes, which produced the Rodman
Gun, as being one of the mos! significant ad-
vancemshit in argdnance technology of the Civil
War period.

Below: Aodman’s revolutionary casting method
reversed gl pravious methods by having the in-
side of the gun tube cooled by fiowing wailer
whife the exterior side of the Hask mould was
heated by the casting fire. His method cooled
the gun from the inside so the iron next to the
bore solidified first, thereby increasing the
sirangth of the gun tubs.
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CHAPTER THREE
THE RODMAN YEARS AT RIA

The U. 8. Army Ordnance Department decided
to build a manufacturing arsenal at Rock island
and selected Brevet Brigadier General Thomas J.
Rodman to command it in 1865. Rodman, a
brilliant graduate of the U. S. Military Academy
Class of 1841, had an impressive record of
service pricr to his assignment at Rock Island.
He had investigated and developed new
ordnance cencepis in the field of metailurgy and
propellants, and his rank of Brevet Brigadier
General was bestowed on him for meritorious
and distinguished service in the Ordnance
Department during the Civii War. Rodman
maintained this honorary commissicn until his
death in 1871. However, his actual military rank

THE RODMAN GUN: Outline of Casting Process

Side of pit dug in the earth.

Flask hotding in shape the earth mould.
Mould, a mixture of earth and sand.
Core barrel.

Water.

Escape flue.

Gun.

Braces for keeping flask upright.
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was Lieutenant Colonel. Since a lieutenant
colonel was referred to as a colonel, Rodman's
rank will be referred to as such from this point
on.

The “Rodman Gun”

One of Colonel Rodman’s greatest
achievements was the development of the
“Rodman Casting Process,'” which
revolutionized the art of casting cannons. His
casting method cooled an iron gun from the
interior, while keeping the exterior in a fluid
state. The inner walls of the gun sclidified first
causing successive fayers of metal to shrink one
upon another. The result was a stronger, safer
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Right: The Rodman Gun designed for
sgacoast protection was also used o arm the
monitor-type Union vessels during the Civii
War. Nols: the noiches af the rear of the tube
werg ussd lo assist in elevating the weapon.

cannon that was more reliable, and longer
lasting. than other guns of the era. The life of a
gun was increased 11 to 20 times when cast by
the Rodman process. The army adopied the
water-cooled, hollow casting of cannons in the
year 1859, 14 years after Rodman had conceived
the process.s®

Colonel Rodman transformed the design of
cannons into a science. He consolidated the
ballistic knowledge of foreign military powers
and applied the science of his day to cannon
design. With the developmeni of the steam
engine, methods of calculating pressure were
available to Colonel Rodman. Through his
scientific research of internal ballistics, Rodman
was able to determine the pressure curve for
specific guns. Based on this information, he
designed the Rodman Gun so that the gun tube
was cast thickest at the point of greatest
pressure and then narrowed as the pressure
decreased. The new “coke bottle” shape and the
new casting process made the Rodman gun a
major technological improvement over past
designs and placed the Rodman gun among the
most significant weapons advancements of the
Civit War. In fact, historians credit Colonel
Rodman and his gun with discouraging
European naval intervention in the American
Civil War. Installed as coastal artillery, the
Rodman gun was vastly superior to the European
naval weapons, and, therefore, served as a
deterrent to any European nation which
contemplated naval action against the American
continent.
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Rodman Gunpowder

Colonel Rodman's later work on gunpowder
also proved significant. He developed a new
gunpowder formula which laid the groundwork
for the modern pellet powder. By 1860, he had
begun to develop powder to fit the caliber of the
gun by devising a formula whereby gunpowder
could be compressed into disks. These disks,
referred to as perforated cake powder, were
approximately one or two inches thick and
pierced with hotes. The perforated powder
burned slower than ordinary cannon powder.
Rodman’s perforated cake powder also provided
more thrust and a more uniform pressure alorg
the gun's bore, thereby reducing the strain on
the gun and increasing its firing distance.

Earlier experiments with different types of
powder led Rodman to the dewvelopment of
"prismatic”. powder. This prism-shaped powder
maintained chamber pressure at a greater level
than other gunpowder without increasing the



Right: Colone! Rodman sarned the renk of
Bravet Brigadier General for his
distinguished work in the field of
melallurgy and propellants during his
command of Watertown Arsenal, in
Massachussetis, during the Civii War.

pressure or strain on the gun tube. The muzzie
velocity of the projectile was also increased
without an additional strain on the tube. This
concept increased the surface area of powder by
perforation, and made angiles on the outer
surface of the gun thereby promoting rapid even
burning. Rodman may well be called the Father
of the Scientific Study of internal Ballistics as the
result of his achievements in the field of ballistics
at Watertown Arsenal, Massachusstts, during the
Civil War %

At the close of the Civil War, Colonel Rodman
turned his engineering genius to the field of
architecture and building construction at Rock
Istand Arsenal. As previously menticned, in
18685, the secretary of war granted Major
Kingsbury his request for reassignment by
having Kingsbury and Rocdman exchange
commands. Under Major Kingsbury's command,
arsenal improvements were confined to the small
quarter section of Rock Island which extended
west of the Chicago and Rock Island Railroad
tracks. The remaining three-fourths of the
island, east of the railrcad tracks, was not

The chief of ordnance instructed
island thoroughly
regarding future development of the arsenal.

developed.
Rodman to examine the

Upon his arrival in August 1865, Colonel
Rodman inspected the island, and immediately
wrote to Washington. In his letter, he expressed
his belief that ongoing expansion of the facilities
would be necessary, and that the entire island
would have to be reserved for that purpose.

Rodman’s Master Plan

Rodman welcomed the opportunity to build a
well-designed, national arsenal at Rock Island.
His plans called for the development of an
arsenal larger in scale and scope than originally
designed. The War Department endorsed
Colonel Rodman’s concept of a large national
arsenal at Rock Island, which was centrally
located and easily accessible by rail and river.
Though not its first commanding officer, Colonel
Thomas J. Rodman is today considered the
“Father of the Rock Island Arsenal” because of
the critica! role he played In the design and
expansion of the arsenal.



Balow: Calonel Thomas J. Rodman, the second Rock Isfand Arsanal commander, has historically received credii
for the conceptual design of the 19th century Rock Isiand Arsenal. Rodman relocated the site of the arsenal to the
center of the island and inititaled the relocalion and improveament of access bridges fo the island. While in the
midst of supervising the buiiting of the Rock Island Arsenal, Colone! Rodman disd on 7 June 15871, and was buried
adjacent to the National Cemelery on Arsenal Isiand.




Below: Diagram noting the locsfion of the buildings which formed the 19th century Rock Island Arsenal. Nole the
bridge and artificial “lake” which served as a buffer between the arsenal manuisctiring complex and the officers’

residential zone.

Two weeks after filing his report, Colonei
Rodman met with Brigadier General Alexander
R. Dyer, chief of ordnance, to discuss future
plans for the Rock Island Arsenal. After careful
scrutiny of Rodman's broad plans for the
arsenal, General Dyer approved them. Rodman
returned to RIA and from October 1865 until
February 1866 developed more specific plans for
the arsenal. His plans and drawings for the
arsenal included designs for a manufacturing
complex, and officer's residential zone, and
water power plant. Rodman's grand plan called
for the complete use of the island for building
purposes. He moved the site of the arsenal's
construction to the high ground in the center of
the island to allow for future expansion, and to
make betier use of the potential waterpower of
the Mississippi River.®

Rodman’s master plan included the
construction of ten great stone shop buildings,
divided equally intc two facing rows along the
main east-west thoroughfare, now designated
Rodman Avenue. These stone shops formed the
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core of the arsenal’s 19th century manufacturing
cemplex. Major ancillary buildings, such as the
post headquarters, fire station, barracks

building, and storehouse, bordered the
manufacturing shops. North of the
manufacturing complex Rodman placed the
military residential zone which consisted of the
HIA commanding officer's quarters and quarters
for his subordinates. Rodman designed the
commanding officer's quarters, known now as
Quarters One, in an Halianate villa style. The
assisting officer's quarters, built along Terrace
Drive overlooking the Mississippi River, were
constructed over the site of the Civil War Rock
Island Arsenal Prison Barracks and were of more
modest |talianate design than was Quarters One.

Colonel Rodman's plans also included the
construction of an arsenal dam and powerhouse
south of the manufacturing buldings on the

.southern channe! of the Mississippi River, now

known as Sylvan Slough. He conceived the use
of the teledynamic system of cables and towers
which mechanically transported power from the



Below: Note: The Old Map of Rock Island Arsenal included manufacturing buildings with snclosed court yards.
Contrast this map with the linalized master plan on page 31. Also note the ouliine of the Rock Isfand prison camp
which occupied the fand primarily north of the manufacturing complex.
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river to the southern row of shops along Redman
Avenue.

Rodman initially planned to construct
manufacturing buildings with enclosed court
yards. Howsever, before finalizing his plans, he
revised the drawings and opened the court yards
to provide additional natural light. Natural
lighting was a major consideration in
architectural design prior to the advent of
electricity. Rodman also added protruding
portico entrances to the sides of the
manufacturing buildings which improved their
appearance and strengthened their walls. He
inserted a foot bridge and small artificial lake
into the plans to serve as a buffer between the
residential and manufacturing zones, and to
provide an attractive path by which the officers
could pass to and from work.

Rodman's plans featured construction of a
manufacturing complex which combined both
arsenal and armory capabilities at one
installation. The five shops buiit along the
northern edge of Rodman Avenus, buildings 60,
62, 64, 66, and 68, formed the arsenal’'s smali
arms plant and were collectively known as
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Armory Row. The buildings housed
manufacturing shops B, D. F, H, and K,
respectively. The five shops built along the
southern edge of the avenue, buildings 102, 104,
106, 108, and 110, formed Arsenal Row. These
shops were designated for general ordnance
manufacturing and included shops A, C, E, G,
and |. Each center shop was constructed of one
story with a gabled moenitor roof. The middle
shop in Armory Row, building 64, functioned as a
rolting mill and forge shop; the center shop in
Arsenal Row, building 106, functioned as the
arsenal’s foundry and blacksmith shop. The
other eight shop buildings were uniformly
constructed with three stories. The ten
manufacturing buildings all had the same *lJ"'-
shaped floor-plan with 300-foot wings extending
back from a 210-foot by 60-foot base. Each of
the eight three-story buildings covered slightly
more than an acre of land, with a little more than
three acres of floor space. The ten Rodman-
planned, symmetrically-designed, stone shops
still stand today along both sides of Rodman
Avenue,



Below: An 1878 view of shops G and f fbuiidings 108 and 110) under consiruction. Afi the stons shops ware builit
basically with identical ffoor plans. Nole stone yard in the foreground and wire-ceble towaers to the rear of the

buildings al extreme fefl.

A National Arsenal at Rock Island

Construction of the first manufacturing shop
. buildings began in 1866 and continued unti! the
last stone shop, building 68, was completed in
1893.

Erected owver a nearly 3D-year period, the
arsenal's stone buildings reflected the feeling of
Manifest Destiny which swept Congress and the

Mcuntains and béyond. When
completed and fully equipped as a
manufacturing arsenal, its capacity will
equal the supplying of all the armies
that may be organized in the
Mississippi River Valley in any war of
the greatest magnitude.*

nation in the latter 19th century. This view was Earlier,- Brigadier General Alexander B. Dyer
reflected in the comments of Brigadier General had written the secretary of war on 24 October

Stephen V. Benet, chief of army ordnance, ina. 1871 that:

letter to William W. Belknap, secretary of war,:

The Rock Island Arsenal in its present
incompleted state, now supplies all the
militia of most states and territories
drained by the great river (Mississippi
River) and its tributaries, many of the
foriresses that guard the coast line of
the Gulf of New Mexico, and more than
one-half of our Army, now scattered
from the Mississippi River to the Rocky
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{Rock Island Arsenal} should be made
the great arsenal of depeosit and
construction for the Mississippi Valley,
and that it should possess the
manufacturing capacities of the
national armory at Springfield,
Massachusetis, and of one of our
largest arsenals of construction, and it
was planned with that end in view, and
has been s¢ built.s



Below: A rare 1872 view of shop C fbuilding 104) near completion. Note the industrial tower under construction
and the temporary factory bulldings with monitored roofs o the left. Ths arsenal produced building hardware and
ordnance stores lor troops stationed in the American West from these temporary buildings. Once shop ©
fbuilding 104} and shop E (building 108} were compieted, the temporary shops worg razed.

Built-of-Stone: The Consiructlon of 19th
Century RIA )

The story of the construction of the Rock
Island Arsenal shop buildings is one of the more
fascinating tales in the history of Arsenal Island.
The inception and growth of the arsenal stone
buildings occurred during the commands of
Major Charles P. Kingsbury (July 1863-July
1865), Brevet Brigadier General Thomas J.
Rodman (August 1B65-June 1871), and Brevei
Lieutenant Colonel David W. Flagler {June 1871-
April 1886). By the conctusion of Flagler's

command in 1886, the arsenal's direction of

development already was so firmly established
that it continued on for an additional decade or
so without significant change.

In 1866, Rodman ordered cheap temporary
shops with gabled monitor roofs be constructed
on the future site of shop A, building 102. He
also temporarily converted prison barracks
along Gillespie Avenue to serve as a make-shift
headquarters and officer’s quarters. From these

inexpensive, temporary, wooden buildings, the
arsenal began initia! construction work for the
permanent stone buildings.

19th Century Greek Revival Architecture of the
Arsenal Stone Shops

For nearly the first three decades, the arsenal
primarily concentrated on the completion of
Rodman's ambitious construction program.
Shops B (building 60) and C (buitding 106} were
the first of the ten stone shops under
construction. The 19th century Greek Revivai
architectural style of these and the eight future
buildings featured pillowed or rock-faced
limestone accented by pilasters, architraves, and
pedimented gable ends. The ten original shop
buildings were built of massive rock-faced
limestone.

Unlike his predecessor, Colonel Rodman did
not procure stone quarried from LeClaire, lowa,
instead he acquired stone from Sangers and
Steel of Joliet, lllincis.® The stone derived iis
name from the region in which it was quarried.



Below: A rear view of Arsenal Row with shog A {building 102 ) under construction in forsground. Shop A was buitt
1873-1876. The last buiiding visible in the photograph is one-story and has srnall windows in gntablature of
structure which indicates the building Js shop E (building 106), the Rock isiand Arsenal foundry. Note the typical

derrick or crane in the court vard of shap A.
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Therefore, shops B and C, and several of the
other stone buildings, were said to be built of .
Joliet limestone. '

An immense project such as this required
enormogus quantities of stone and the
manufacture of considerable amounts of

construction hardware. In the year 1869 alone,
2,925 railroad cars of stone were recseived for use
in building the shops, dams, and bridge. Stone
masons laid 5510 cubic yards of stone in new
shop buildings, while an additional 6,100 cubic
yards of stone were laid in the dam wall project.
The stone work required the repair of 92,321
stene cutter's tools during the year. The chief of
ordnance, in 1889, approved the building plans
for the commanding officer's quarters. Also
during that year, workmen erected the first
Rodman-planned arsenal building which was a
circular limestone reservoir, that exists today
only as a ruins.®

Generally speaking, the limestone was

shipped by train to the Rock Island Arsenal from
the various quarries. Early maps of the island
showed a single railroad track that extended
from the main line at the western tip of the island.
to the construction site of the manufacturing
buildings. The stone was unloaded from rail cars
and placed in a centrally located stone yard.
Workmen used tramways and derricks to
transport the stone from the yard to the actual
building site. A tramway, an open box-shaped
street car pulled by horses, operated on tracks in
single units. Derricks alsc operated on iracks
which ran the length of the construction site.
These large cranes, consisting of movable
booms equipped with cables and pulleys
connected to an upright beam, hoisted and
moved the heavy stones into plagce. The smail
circular marks made by the ice-prong-like
clamps, which were embedded into the stone
prior to it being hoisted into place, are still visible
a century later.



Below: Lettar from Sanger to RIA Commander Cofonal D. W. Flagler requesting assistance in oblaining railroad
cars for shipment of slone 1o the arsenal. M. Sanger, who earlier defaulied on delivery of stone to the Rock Island
Arsenal, formed Sangers Quarries with & partner namad Maody and agam received the coniract o provide stone

for the arsanal.
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Ditticulties Procuring Stone

Delays in delivery of stone hindered the
construction progress of the arsenal and, on
occasions, resulted in stone-cutters and masons
being laid off until the next shipment arrived.
Rodman pericdically stationed an officer at the
quarries to oversee the government's interests.

These delays in particular affected the
censtruction of shops B and C, and the builiding
of the commanding officer's quarters.
Discontented with their contract, Sangers and
Steel sold stone originally quarried for the
arsenal to customers willing to pay a premium
price. The Joliet firm demanded an increase in
government payments and refused te ship any
more stone to the arsenal until its demands were
met. Sangers and Steel halted its stone
delivertes to the Rock istand Arsenal for the last
time in August 1870. Colonel Rodman eventually
purchased stone from Mr. Edwin Walker of
Lameont, IHinois, at an average price of 38% cents
per cubic foot, which was 1% cents less than the
price demanded by Sangers and Steel. Sangers,
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however, formed a partnership with a Mr. Mcody,
and again received contracts to provide
limestone for the construction of the arsenal
buildings. This stone was nearly identical in
color, texture, and quality to the Joliet stone.*

A local newspaper article of the period
provided insight into the size of the labor force
engaged in the construction. The Davenport
Daily Democrat issue of November 10, 1870,
noted the federal goveérnment employed about
1,000 men to work on various arsenal
construction projects including shops B and C,
and the commanding officer's quarters. The
article further stated that the commanding
officer of the Rock Island Arsenal was assisted
by an efficient staff of officers and civilian
supervisors. The newspaper article specifically
cited Mr. A. T. Fleming, master armaorer; Mr.
William Channon, master carpenter; Mr. R.
Lloyd, master mason; and Mr. George Downs,
foreman; as holding these supervisory positions
at the time the article was printed. In addition to



Below: One of Ihe earliss! group photographs of Rock Island Arsenal shop personnel dated 1873,

the workmen, a large number of horse and mule
teams were engaged in the construction
activities.®

Labor Disputes

A labor force of this size did not operate
without some problems, and on occasion labor
disputes slowed construction of the arsenal.
Events happening elsewhere als¢ had an impact
on Colonel Rodman's progress at Rock Island.
For example, congressional legislation passed
during the construction of shops B and C
established an eight hour work day for atl
laborers, workmen, and mechanics employed by,
or on behalf of, the government of the United
States. The wages paid under the old and new
work plan were:¥

10-hour day 8-hour day
Laborers $1.80 $1.44
Masons $4.50 $3.60
Carpenters $3.00 $2.40
Machinists $3.00 $2.40
Teamsters $3.50 $2.80

- The daily wages of master workmen, which

37

ranged from $4.00 to $6.00, were not affected by
the new law. After being paid according to the
new wage plan, many laborers refused to
continue to work on the building projects. The
istandg temporarily became nearty deserted. The
Rock Island Union newspaper expressed the
opinion that:

The government pays pretty liberal
wages, and if the old employees refuse
to work under the rutings of the
Secretary of War, it is probabie that
their places will soon be supplied by
others.®

However, Colonel Redman met with the stone-
cuiters and raised their wages so that they would
be compatible to those offered stone-cutters for
an 8-hour work day in Chicago, Illinois, and St.
Louis, Missouri.®

The rebuifding of Chicago after the great fire
of 1871 drastically increased the demand for
stone and stone craftsmen. The arsenal,



Below: [ocal contraclors responded to advertizsemesnts raquesting bids for various building materials such as
stone, iron, wood, and siate. The letter by Charles G. Hipwell, slate roofer, addrasssd fo RIA Commeandsr Lt. Col.
D. W. Flaglar containad his bid to slate the roof of arsenal shop H. Nota: The bid dated 6 July 1883 was rccepied.
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therefore, was forced to increase its pay to
skilled laborers due to the flight of arsenal
workers to Chicago.

Procuring Bullding Materials from the East

tnitially a large portion of the bauilding
materials for shops such as B and C was
produced by private firms situated in the east.
The New York firm of Cooper & Hewitt furnished
most of the t5-inch iron “1" beams used in the
construction of the first and second floors of
shops B and C. Union tron Mills of Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania, provided 11-inch “I" beams that
were also used in the building of the first floors.

The Phoenix iron Company of Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania, furnished 8-inch and 11-inch
beams, wrought iron columns, and cast iren
columns. [f atso manufactured caps and bases
for both shops, plus the wrought iron frames for
their roofs. Contractors shipped these
purchased columns in sections which were
riveted together by arsenal workmen.™

Local Tri-Cities Firms Awarded Contracis

Gradually, local and regional private
contractors received an increasing number of
arsenal contracts. The arsenal awarded James
Clark & Sons, of Utica, Hlinois, the cement



Right Charfie Hipwell srrived at Rock
island Arsenal in the sariy 1870s as &
foreman of an east coast roofing firm.
Rscogmizing the cpportunity at the
arsenal, Hipwell formed his own businass
in Cavenport. fowa, and prospered as &
slate roofer end dealer.

contract at $1.556 per 300-pound barrel; W. B.
Bames, of Aock Island, illinois, received thelime

contract for 90 cents per 200-pound barrel

delivered; F. Hass, also of Rock Island, provided
copper material at $13,000 per shop building;
Atkinson & Murdock, Rock Island, lllinois, laid
the fire-proof brick arches in shops B and C for
$15.5C per 1,000 bricks; and Mr. J. S. Keator,
Motine, lllingis, supplied pine lumber for $17.00
to $22.00 per thousand board feet. In addition,
several private firms, beginning with Sanger &
Steel, provided limestone from the quarries near
Jolist, Niinois, for the construction of the Aock
Island Arsenat.”™

Colonel Rodman, and his successor Major
Flagler, also awarded coniracts for building to
private firms in lowa. The firm of French &
Davies, Davenport, lowa, provided the oak
flooring for shops B and C at $41.00 per
thousand board feet. Mr. Charles C. Hipwell,
foreman of Aiken and Company, Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania, after supervising the slate work of
these first twe shop buildings, left that firm to
gstablish his own business in Davenport, lowa.
His Davenport firm slated practiczally all the stone
shop buildings and officers’ quarters. Initially
the slate contract was awarded to Lyman Bridges
of Chicago, lllinois, but within a short time the
rocfing company of Knox, Kine, and Company of
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, had replaced Bridges.
Mr. Bridges had his contract with the arsenal
canceled after he failed to comply with the terms
of the agreement in regard to quality of material
or timeliness.
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Aiken and Company eventually replaced Knox,
Kine, and Company and completed the slate
roofing of shops B and C for $15.25 per square of
slate. This represented a savings of $5.75 per
square over the canceled contract price. Mr.
Hipwell received the remaining slate contracts
with bids under $10.00 per square.™

The arsenal also purchased alf the lumber
required for building & particular structure in
advance s¢ that the wood couid be stacked for
seasoning before being used to make doors,
door frames, window sashes, and window frames
in the arsenal shops. The arsenal saved money
and time by manufacturing these items and their
accompanying hardware.

Rodman Tensile Test Machine

Acquisitioning quality building material to
construct the arsenal was a concern of Colonel
Rodman and his successor, Major Flagler.
Colonel Rodman, determined to procure high
grade iron for his arsenal, built a tensile test
machine which he used to test iron samples of
private contractors to determine if their samples
met government specifications.



Dslow: A rare view of arsenal workmen consiructing ihe roof of one of the 18th cantury stone buildings. Nofe the
iron, Fink trusses baing sssembled which efiminated the need for columnns as support and cregted an open bay-
affeci in tha aitic. '

iron, Copper, Slate, and Other Bullding Materlals

Besides limestone, arsenal builders used an
enormous amount of other material in the
construction of the stone buildings. For
exampie, shop B (building 60) alone was built
with more than 780 tons of wrought ircn supplied
by eastern mills. Roofers criginaily covered the
buiiding with a state roof of 51,500 feet, with
heavy sheet copper gutters and iron snow
guards an inch thick. Stone-cutters formed the
upper tier of the shop building, and then lined
the gutters with copper. Shop B was furnished
with more than 1,000 feet of such guttering.
Wrought iron trusses were used to support the
roof. Builders tfastened the rafters of the shops
securely on one end by mortising them intc the
stone, and dowelled the opposite end upon iron
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bal! bearings which rested in grooves carved into
the stone. A corresponding groove in the foot of
the rafters covered the bail bearing; this allowed
for seasonal expansion and contraction caused
by the heat of summer and the cold of winter
without damaging the wali of the shops.
Carpenters covered all but the third floor of the
shops with 1'% inch thick pak. The third or attic
flooring was covered with pine of the same
thickness.™

Workmen constructed the shop buildings of
massive rock-faced limestone with
approximately three-foot thick walls starting at
the base of the building and tapering about six-
inches with each additional story. This tapering
created a step effect which provided a shei orlip



Below: Crawing of rafters for shops G and ! (buildings 108 and 110} signed by the RIA Commander Brevel
Lisutenan! Cotonel D. W. Flagier and dated June 1881,
Right Ornate cast-iron staircases were & product of the 19th century RIA foundry and are siill in use in the stons
shop buiidings.
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upon which iron beams rested. The exterior
walls rested on a foundation built upon bed-rock.
The 76 piers of masonry and cement anchored
in the basement of the stone shops supported
the columns and floors of the above stories.
Each pier was partially imbedded beneath the
surface flooring of the basement and rested on
bed-rock. 8rick layers constructed fire-proof
brick, vaulted ceilings beneath each floor of the
manufacturing shops, among the [attice of “I”
beams. The brick arches were then covered with
plaster. These fire-proof brick, vaulted or
arched, ceilings were designed to prevent fire
from spreading to the wood flooring of the next
story. Beneath sach ceiling lay the open bay of
the machine shop.

The open bay interior of the shops provldad
light and space for manufacturing operations.
The shop interior featured cast-iron, and a few
wrought iron columns;, and cornate cast-iron
stairways which are still in use today.
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Improvements During Rodman’s Command

Celonel Rodman supervised the completion of
the Clock Tower and had three of the large stone
buildings near completion at the time of his
death in 1871. These three structures were:
shop B, known teday as building 60; shop C,
building 104; and the commanding officer's
quarters, now known as Quarters One, building
301. The Greek revival architecture of shops B
and C provided the style for subsequent
industrial and administrative buildings
constructed at the arsenal during the 19th
century.

Other improvements during Colonel Rodman's
tenure as commanding officer of the Rock island
Arsenal, 1865-1871, included the settlement of
civil property claims on Rock Island and the
approval of his plans for a combined armory and
arsenai at the island. Colonel Rodman enhanced
access to the island by having a wagon bridge to
the city of Rock Island erected and by having the
Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific Railroad tracks



Below: Monument marking Rodman’s grave adjacent to the National Cemetery al the far eastern edge of the
island. MNote the iwo Rodman-type guns protecting the site.

relocated to the western edge of Arsenal Island.
He initiated the construction of a double deck
bridge from Rock Island to Davenport, which
was completed a year after his death. He also
contracted for water power, had the arsenal
grounds cleared for new buildings; and iaid a
network of roads throughout the island.

Rodman’s Funeral

Colonel Rodman's habit of working long hours
as RIA commander took its toil on his health.
Igroring his doctor's warning, he continued his
demanding daily routine which led to his death at
the age of 56 on 7 June 1871. His funeral service
was conducted inside the nearly completed
commanding officer's quarters which he
designed. Rodman was buried on Arsenal
Island, as he requested. His gravesite is adjacent
to the National Cemetery, which was once the
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old post cemetery.
The respect bestowed upon Coelonel Rodman
by the arsenal and surrcunding communities

was reflected in the size of his funeral
procession. The funeral was conducted in
elaborate style. An army band led the funeral
cortege, followed in succession by a mifitary
escort, the horse drawn carriage on which lay the
coffin, a number of carriages containing the
Rodman family, and more than %000 civilian
mourners - many of whom had worked for
Colonel Rodman. Before Rodman’s death the
army had assigned a young captain named
Daniel W. Flagler as his assisting officer. Flagler
succeeded Rodman as the arsenal's third
commanding officer and proceeded with
Rodman’s plans for the construction of a grand
arsenal.™



Right Lieutenant Colonel Daniel W.
Flagler succeeded Rodman as Rock
fsiand Arsenal commander and was
fargely responsible for implementing
Rodman’s conceptual plarr of the
argenal. He gerved &s arsonal
commandsr from 1871 to 1886. During
the Spanish-American War Flaglar held
the positior: of chisf of ordnance.

CHAPTER FOUR
THE FLAGLER YEARS AT RIA

The Commanding Officer's Quarters

Among Flagler's first tasks as Rock Island
Arsenal commander was the completion of the
commanding officer's guarters begun by
Rodman. Although begun in May 1870, the
commanding officer's quarters was not
completed until October 1871, nor was it
landscaped until the Spring of 1872. Delays in
procuring stone slowed work on the quarters
during the summer months and forced work to
be continued into the winter seasen. Fire, hot
water, and salt were used to prepare the mortar.
The building walls were finally completed in
January 1871.7

Day workers were hired to complete the
remainder of the structure. Army Ordnance
officers supervised these workmen who were
hired primarily by the day, due to the shortage of
building stone caused by delays in procurement
and delivery of quarried stone from the
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contractor. The officers alsc conducted the
necessary engineering work which included
tests, experiments, and calculations for the
project.

Once completed, the commanding officer's
quarters’ features included a massive J-shaped
main core, &8 west wing, and an observation tower
above the east side of the main block. The
building’s foundation was constructed of two
foot thick limestone masonry. Iis exterior walls
were built of Joliet limestone, and its interior
loadbearing walls were made of plaster brick
masonry. Large wrap-around piazzas, or
porcines, which stretched around the east and
north sides of the building, featured girded iron
grillwork forged at the Rock Island Arsenal.
Also, most of the building's brass fixtures,
including door knobs, hinges, and other metal
hardware, were produced in the arsenal shops.
The structure was covered with a hipped roof
which contained skylights and a tall square
observation tower. The nearly 20,000 square feet
of floor space within quarters one was divided



Balow: The Rock isfand Arsenal commanding officer’s quarters, now designated quarters one, was completed in
1871. This structure, builf of Joliet limastons spproximately two feet thick, contains over 50 rooms and is today
considerad the largesi family residence owned by the U.5. Army.
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Below: Quarters four, circa 1880s. Subaftern officer's quarters 2, 3, and 4 built 18721874, sast of quarisrs one,
afong Terrace Drive overiooking the Mississippi River. Thase quariers wers scaled-down Itafianate villas modeled
after the commanding officer's quarters.




Below: The Rock island Arsenal iron-melling furnaces situated i shop E (building 106} during the iate 19th
century. The foundry initially poured castings of hardware used in the construction of Rock Island Arsenal
buildings.
Right: Constructed in 1874, shop E continuously functioned as the Rock Island Arsena! foundry untif 1988, when
the operaticns were relocated in the new Kingsbury Manufacturing Complax.

intc over 50 rooms which explains why the
quarters is today considered the largest
government residence next to the White House.
The commanding officer's quarters became the
architectural model for the scaled-down
ltalianate design of the subaltern officer's
quarters built east of quarters one. These
subaltern officer's quarters consisted of quarters
two, three, and four.™

Workmen began erecting shop E (building
106} and the RIA blacksmith shop in 1871, and
finished shortly after the completion of shops B
and C in 1873. After the completion of shop E,
workers transferred the machinery in the
temporary structures to the recently finished
shops C and E, and then razed the temporary
structures. In 1871, Colonel Rodman ordered
cupolas (cylindrica! shaft type blast furnaces
used for remelting metals such as iron before
casting) for the foundry. These new furnaces
allowed the arsenal to produce iron cotumns,
angles, and other necessary parts for the

construction of buildings. From this time on, the
arsenal foundry and blacksmith shop .were
actively engaged in the production of building
materials or ordnance supplies.

The continued acquisition of commercially-
produced iron which repeatedly failed to meet
specifications of the contract frustrated Major
Flagler. As a result, he instructed Lieutenant W.
P. Butler to test iron samples sent tc Rock Island
by N. S. Bouton and Company of Chicago.

The tests proved the iron samples to be inferior
in sirength, weight, and character. The arsenal
sent a record of the testing results to N. S.
Bouton and Company. The Chicago firm
proceeded to have its iron retested by another
firm -- the American Bridge Company.
Lisutenant Butler traveled to Chicago to inspect
the testing procedures after the American Bridge
Company had asserted that N. S. Bouton and
Company’s iron tested satisfactorily. He found
their methods questionable and stated in his
report that: '



Below: Drawing of cest iron columns for shop A cast in RIA foundry. Columns gsuch as these were made of iron
recycled from Civif War era horseshoes, cannonballs, and gun tubss. The Doric columng which are visible in the
oid manufacturing shops were forged at the RIA. The riveted columns visible in buiidings 80 and 104 werg
purchased from private gastern firms and shipped unassembled to Rock lsiand.

Right: Aodman tensile testing machine was siifi used af the RIA afier T800.

... On examination, the machine of the
American Bridge Company was found
to be a heavy hydraulic cylinder, using
glycerine instead of water. The piston
is 17 inches in diameter. The gauge is
the ordinary mercury gauge, very
carelessly used. No allowance was
made for friction. Its results should not,
therefore, shake confidence in the
machine {Rodman's tensile testing
machine) at Rock Isiand Arsenal. Alf
measurements were made roughly, by
an ordinary two foot rule, in the tests of
the American Bridge Company while
those at the Arsenal were to within
0.0001 inch.™

The Rodman tensile test machine measured
the capacity of a metal to resist force,- whether
tensile, transverse, torsional, or crushing.
Internal force could also be applied by the
machine to test strength of cylinders. The
machine had a testing range of 50 to 100,000
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In 1899, tha Rodman tensile machine

pounds.
was still in operation, and was being set up in
shop D, in anticipation of the establishment of an
armory at Rock island to manufacture rifles.”™

Scrapped Civll War Relics Recycled into Iron
Columns

Major Flagler, anxious to reduce construction
costs and eliminate defays caused by delinquent
deliveries, decided the c¢olumns could be
produced in the arsenal shops.” He wrote the
chief of ordnance for approval of his idea to
convert tons of old horse shoes, cannons, and
other accumulated Civil War scrapped metal into
wrought iron bars. These bars could then be
cast into the iron needed for construction of the
stone shaps. Previously, it was the government’s
policy to sell all scrap metal to dealers.

Once approved, the salvage operation proved
successful. Flagler boasted that the metal
produced by HKis arsenal’s blacksmiths and
foundry masters was of superior quality



Below: A lzle 19th cenfury view of machinists al work in shop C (building 104). The commaercially-mads, riveted
columns, and the machines being driven by a center source of power indicate thal this is an interior view of shop
C. Nota: the five-proof brick-vaulted ceilings typical of all the 19th cenfury RIA shops.

.
{
:

¢‘\§.j




Below: Cross section drawing of ceiling and floor consiruction ol shap A, dated 1885, and treced in 1944. Note:
Tapering of the exterior wall by six inches at each slory furnished a lip or shalf upon which the beams rested. Also
note the fire-proct brick vaulted cellings which were plastered over, and the position of the solumns placed
directly above gach other to support the ceiling and Hoor above.

\-Q.— ok GIRRe d MH s

SLETioE VARG EGL SIaf o7 MGdn FruanE A stnan {SRerf a)
o pieg we g R8I0 FTHH Ly

Ef.__._ffﬁ . st snme maaEn oven e canses

Lt e AL D PRHE AL

. RO ML ML L1

. WP maing
s
| i
W
]
vt > >
R o

e
L]
I/__-I LN HE S50 FLHR Y.“:"#“ﬁ ﬂ.,
b P
sapuarky

e
i R PR I 4B L]
e

ek o'

Fik»
ERAASEAL JLET I8 TR Tls O M
SRR Wl TR L, W i E, S L
TR ALY, R B
e
LA LR RLLL I Y

e & b1, 08w Capd m

rm O, SERCETTT b

= <oyt el
oo Yo ot T

Ll L =

x

i
38 -
:i?

2
= E:.‘ "

T !==- ALANANN LT BF G ML
123 R Frake o
[ R sl plgellan’, ma mpervAL w-ag
!'E- WL ML HE CMCRCTE FLow
ii? 1 f
-‘:
> = ", :' - )

2 : "
»

oz -4f

49



Below: Arsenal gun yard #1, situated along Msin {Rodman) Avenue, at the prasent site of the headguarters
building (buiiding 390). A collection of United Stales guns and foreign guns caeptured during the Mexican War,
18456-1848: the Civil War, 1861-1865; and the Spanish-American War, 1898 were piaced on display In two arsenal

gun yards,

Right: RIA shot vard. Atter the Civif War the U.S. Army closed seversl of its depots and transferred their ordrance

stores to the Rock lsland Arsenal.

compared with the metail availabite
commercially.™

The foundry only made castings, which
resulted in savings that paid for the pattern
forms, thereby contributing to the uniformity and
symmetry of the original stone buildings. By
recycling the istand’s supply of scrapped metal
intc iron columns, the arsenal saved the
government approximately 50 percent or more of
a private contractor's price. Iron pipes for
sewers mains, fences, roof trusses, and
various other fixtures were produced from this
recycled metal. Arsenal workers also salvaged
brass saved from artillery projectiles, along with
other metals. Brass rotating bands from these
projectiles were turned into hinges, locks and
cther hardware used in the building of the stone
shops.® ’

The Mofine Review newspaper of 1 November
1879 printed a descriptive paragraph, about the
work being accomplished at the Rock Island
Arsenal during late 1879.

Co! (Brevet) D. W. Flagler, the
commandant of Rock Island Arsenal, is
pushing his vast building operations
with commendable energy. Acres of
huge stones are scattered over the
greunds and the click of the hammer
and chisel is heard from hundreds of
busy mechanics. In the foundries the
serviceable shot and shell accumulated
and captured during the war are being
worked up into iron railings and
stairways, bronze doorknobs, sash
weights and pulteys and the hundreds
of other metal apgliances required in
the erection of the immense shops.
The closest economy is practiced and
every available piece of metal is applied
to some use. The machinery of the
shops is all run by the water power and
the longer it is used the more its
usefuiness is demonstrated.®



Below: Arsenal workmen removing scrapped canteens, cups, and other metal items from courtyard of shop C
fouifding 104). The arsenal initially sold the scrap meial (o salvage dealers until RiA Commander Flagler received
peratission o mefi-down the meials and recast into building hardware.

Difficuity Securing Bed-rock For Shop D, 1871-
1872

Shop D¥'s (building 62) excavation in 1871-72
had uncovered & pocket or cavern beneath the
surface of the building site. Lieutenant Charles
Shaler, Jr., ordnance officer in charge of the
excavation, submitted in his report a description
of the character of the pocket and the method
used to secure the foundation. He stated that the
excavation began in early May 1871.

The foundation was laid with considerable
difficulty and at great expense. According to
Lieutenant Shaler, what had initialty appeared to
be solid rock often turned out to be a thin sheet
of clay. A seam of clay ran through the north end
of each wing which, when moist, was very
loose, but when dry was so hard that a pick was
required for its removal. The seam of clay was
about 30 feet in width. As the excavation
reached 34 feet beneath the surface, water
poured into the excavation. Lieutenant Shaler
wrote that:
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A sewer, built to carry off water from
the roof of shop B, burst one evening
after a heavy rain and by morning had
flooded the excavation. The water
seeped into the ground and was carried
off by a subterraneous passage not
apparent before the incident.
Continuing rain halted work for that
day, and by the next morning a large
area of ground had sunk into the
opening. Arsenal workmen cleared cut
the opening and used sheathing boards
to support the wafls against future
collapse. Again, heavy rains interfered
with work, making the clay too plastic-
like causing large limestone boulders,
some weighing over three tons, to siide
toward the excavation, caving in the
sheathing. [t was necessary for the
third time to remove the material, and
the broken sheathing boards and
beams which considerably slowed the
operation .5



Left: Ths post building fbuiiding 225) built in 1874 of Stons Cily fimestons, quarried near Anamosa, fows, by
convicts imprisoned at the lowa State Panitentiary. The building still functions today &s the RIA’'s police and fire
sfations. 7
Righl: A copy of a sterecscopic pholograph showing a lypical 19th century quarry operation at Stone City, fowa.

Lieutenant Shaler went on to report that this
third attempt at excavating the site was
successful down to the water level. Further
excavation, however, revealed a wide cavern or
pocket that passed through the center of the
west wing across the foundation site in a
southeasterly direction. The floor of the cavern
was covered with sand, and according to Shaier,
“ripple marks were found that showed it to have
been a water course.” To obtain a sound footing
for the walls of shop D, a “core of beton,”
concrete mixture containing round pebbles, was
laid in a convex arch of seven consecutive layers
that abutted the side walis of solid rock. In this
pocket alone, 270 cubic yards of stone were laid.
tieutenant Shaler aiso found it necessary to
conduct arches of this type in five different
places. The actual foundation for shop O was
made of stone from a quarry on Arsena! Island
located near the ferry boat landing.®®

1873, lowa Convict Labor Quarry Stone for RIA
tn 1873, the Rock Island Arsenzl procured
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stone for the construction of the post building
{building 225), in addition to the subaltern
officer's quarters (quarters 3), from guarries in
Stone City, lowa. Convicts from the lowa State
Penitentiary in Anamosa, lowa, quarried the
limastone. The price paid for the stone, which
was delivered by railroad car {o the arsenal, was
$8.00 per cubic yard. Martin Heisey and J. A.
Green, both of Anamosa, lowa, received
contracts to provide rubble stone (irregular
fragments or pieces of rock used in masonry);
pilaster blocks of sione {used in rectangular
columns with capital and base that were set into
walls as an ornamental motif); and dimension
stone priced at $12.50 per cubic yard delivered
on rail cars to the arsenal. On one occasion, the
delivery of stone was slow due to the difficulty
experienced by contractors in securing
transportation. Railroad companies originally
arranged to deliver the stone, but the agreement
did not last. Trains from Anamosa ran only to the
Duck Creek rail station on the west bank of the
Mississippi River. Stone shipped by rail to the



Below: The oid barracks building built in 16873, now designated buifding 90. The building was designed 10 quarter
200 soidiers and functioned as a barracks through World War 1

Duck Creek station was unloaded and
transported by wagon teams over five miles to
the arsenal.™

Consiruction of Barracks Bullding

In addition to the shop buildings, plans calied
for the construction of ancitlary structures such
as the barracks building (building 90). Though
originally designed similar to the architecture of
the shops, design changes in the barracks were
made to reduce construction costs. The walls
were built of range rubble, without the tool marks
characteristic of the heavy ashlar stone used in
the construction of the shop buildings. Even
with these alterations the cost of the building
exceeded its original estimate. The labor
situation at Rock Island Arsenal and the
subsequent cost of construction was also greatly
affected by the irregutarities in the procurement
of stone. Because of the unsettled labor picture,
it became necessary to leave the third floor of the
barracks building, designed to accommodate
200 soldiers, partially unfinished for a time. As
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an aside, its floor plan included & kitchen, mess
rooms, sewerage, water supply, heating,
pantries, storerooms, and water closets in
addition to sieeping bays. Nearby an additionai
mess, a bakery, and Jaundry buildings were
constructed as auxiliary structures to the
Barracks Building.®®

1879-1880, Difficuities in Finding Bed-Rock for
Shop H

Other problems hindered and delayed
construction of the Rock Island Arsenal. Major
Flagler considered the excavation of building
foundations among the most difficult work
encountered in his tenure as arsenal
commander. He cited the excavation of the
foundation for shop H (building 66), which
occurred in 1879-18B0, as the most
troublesome.® To support the immense weight
of the stone buildings, each shop structure’s
foundation was constructed upon solid bed-
rock. The foundation supported the stone walls
preventing the building from sinking under such



Below: Fach of the stong shop buildings were anchored by 76 piers partialfy embedded in tha basemen! floor and
resting on sofid bed-rock to provide support for the upper Hoors and columns diractly above.
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tremendous weight. Furthermore, in each soundings be conducted from the bottom of pier

buiiding, 76 stone piers were constructed to
support the interior floors. The calumns that
secured the upper staries of the buildings were
placed directly in line with the stone piers
below.

The difficulties that had to be overcome in
order to obiain a secure foundation for pier #26
of shop H were drastically more serious than any
of the other similar cases. Workmen on pier #26
excavated to a depth of 74 feet while operating in
a space only 10 by 12 feet wide.® This
excavation was considerably deeper than those
dug for ather shop-buildings. A network of
sheathing timbers, irregularly wedged into place
to prevent the pit walls from collapsing,
consumed even more space. The timbers had to
be especialiy strong to resist pressure from loose
sliding boulders. Steam pumps, pipes, and plank
tubes further cluttered the floor of the excavation
trench, and workmen had to hoist material
through the plank tubes.®®

Major Flagler ordered that deep vertical
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#26's excavation pit. Workmen used sledge-
hammers to drive steel-pointed, jointed iron bars
and driils into the floor of the excavation in
search of solid rock. The drills passed through
layers of soft clay that alternated with icose rock,
sand, and gravel. According to Flagler, “the ooze
or wash of the soft clay through the sheathing
sometimes left vacant places behind the
sheathing til caving in filled them up.” The
ioosely-fitled, clay mixed with stone was so soft
in places that workers and tocls were in danger
of suddenly sinking out of sight. Sounding rods
striking these isclated targe boulders produced
false soundings, thereby adversely affecting the
trained ear of the workmen. In addition, the
workers discovered irregularly-shaped crevices
or pockets that had been formed by undergound
water presure. It appeared a ravine, carved by an
ancient waterway, ran diagonally in a southeast
to northwaest direction through the construction
site of the shop buiidings. This ravine affected
the excavation of several shops, in particutar,



Right: R!A Commarnder Colonel
0. W. Flagler's notes on axcava-
tions for foundations of pisrs in
shop H, dated October 1879,

two-thirds of shop i, nearly ali of shop H, half of
shop K, and a corner portion of shop D.
However, it was during the excavation of shop H,
specifically pier #26, that the builders had
greatest difficulties due to the discovery of the
largest of these crevices. In their search for good
solid bed-rock to secure shop H's pier
foundation, arsenai
below the water level of the Mississippi River.®
Steam pumps were used to pump oui water by
the galfons which had flowed into the
excavation trench. The inflow of water made
deeper excavation impractical, and further
sounding attempts seemed useless. Flagler
stated in his report to the chief of ordnance that:

. . . I {Flagler) would then have filled up
the hole, abandoned putting in a pier,
and have substituted therefor{e} the
iron column and truss described a few
pages back, had not the careful
soundings made at this peint led me to
fear that the foundations of the
adjacent main wall of the building, put
in the previous year, were not as secure
as | had supposed.®

Major Fiagler realized that the foundation work
done the previous year, in 1879, was not built
upon solid bed-rock as he had earlier thought.
Flagler decided to excavate as far as possible
and do whatever was necessary to secure and
strengthen the “old foundation”. Unsuccessful
in attempts to find solid rock to support the
foundation of pier #26, Flagler crdered that
heavy beams of timber, called piles, be driven
into the earth as a substitute bed-rock for the

workers had excavated.
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pier foundation. At the bottom of the excavation,
piles were driven with the use of a timber tube
which guided the drop-weight among the
sheathing timbers, and prevented accidents to
workmen. The drop operated within the 30-foot
tube and protected the men working in the
excavation trerrich from being struck by the drop-
weight as it hammered down on the piles. The
900-pound drop-weight, powered by steam,
continued to strike the pile until its drop of 27
feet could no longer move the pile. The loose,
water-saturated clay was a poor material o
sustain piles. The bottom end of the piles were
shod with heavy sharp-pointed iron shoes to
split, break, or push aside boulders embedded in
the clay. Twenty-six twelve-inch square piles
were driven (o depths varying from 14 to 17
feet.®

85 -



Below: Rock Island Arsens! Commander D W. Flagler's notes periaining 1o the excavations of foundations and
piers for shop H (building 65), daled October 1879. Nots tha cross-section view of excavation of Pier #25, showing
the depth of the excavation to the feft and the cross-section of the pier's foundation to the righf. Afso note the 26
pitings used to provide footing for the foundation at the bottom of the excavation, Published originafly in the RIA
Commander’s Annual Report to the Chief of Ordnance for the yeers 1873-1880.

The fiow of water into the trench increased the
difficulties of finding a footing for the piers and
created serious problems which hampered the
excavation of the foundations for shop H. Steam
pumps were placed at low places in the trench
to drain and discharge water through pipes and
troughs into sewers. Numerous hand pumps
were used to reduce the cost of exclusively using
steam pumps. The removal of water from so
many pits over such a large area was a difficult

-above water fevel.

After excavating, it was necessary (o

task.
operaie the pumps until the mascnry was raised

The workmen doing the
digging had to stand in one to twe feet of water,
especially after the excavation passed befow the
water ieve! of the Mississippi River. A coupte of
small pumps operated around-the-clock
discharging approximately 180 gallons of water
per minute from the pits.®

Major Flagler described the procedures



Right: The facede of the entrance {0
shop H. Note the massive rock-faced
fimastone blocks accenied by pilasters
fcolumns parlially embedded into the
wafl), kevsions arches, and smalf
windows gncased in the entablature.

followed by the workmen in securing the footing
for the {old} foundation of shop H in his report to
the chief of ordnance ending 30 June 1880. He
stated that:

Arsenal workmen cieaned the loose
rock and mud from the crevice which
ran beneath the old foundation, before
they drove in the piles. Workmen used
long hoses and other devices to clear
the space and to re-fill it with well-
rammed concrete. A pump operated
continuously, keeping the water low
enough so that the piles could be
driven with an inclination under the old
foundation. Using this method, the bed
of concrete and loose fragments of
rock were jammed more firmly into the
crevice.

Once the workmen finished driving
the piles, they evenly sawed the tops
off. The interstices or spaces between
the piles were cleaned out to a depth of
tfour feet and then refilled with
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concrete, well-rammed with iron
tamping bars. On top of the concrete,
workmen placed footing stones, twelve
feet thick. Upon the footing stones,
laborers laid ordinary masonry with
occasional courses of footing stones,
till the surface of the ground was
reached. The work continued untit
heavy frost set in. Hot water was used
at times for mixing the mortar and
keeping it warm till it could be lowered
in the pit beiow the frost line. Workmen
brought the masonry up to within seven
feet of the surface. Then laborers filled
the hole with clay till warm weather
arrived. Inthe spring, workers removed
the clay and completed the pier. The
workmen commenced the excavation
on August 1, and completed it on
November 4, 1879. The arsenal
finished the pile driving on November
16, and the masonry work on December
4 of that same year.



Right: The repsir and repfacement of
cracked walf in East wing of shop H. The
foundation was not secured on sofid bed-
rock which over a period of years caused
the wall to sink under the tremendous
waight of the massive stong wall. The wall
was repaired and secured 35 years later al
a cost of $685,000.

Alternative layers of concrete and Joliet
rubble-stone masonry were laid and held in
place by large footing stones. Major Fiagler
cited in his report to the chief of ordnance that it
took seven weeks to excavate and fill the crevice,
during which time 402 cubic yards of masonry,
including concrete and stone rubble, were used.
Despite the use of pumps while putting in the
masonry, much of the concrete had to be laid in
water. Flagler reported that: “gangs of men”
were employed at night and during the weekends
a portion of the time. He credited Mr. W. A. P.
Totten, foreman of laborers, in charge of the
excavation and sheathing work, and Mr. Robert
McFarlane, in charge of the masonry work, for
their efforts in supervising the project.®

By the end of June 1800, a total of 4,282 cubic
vards of masonry had been put intc the
foundations of shop H (building 66), followed by
an additional 4,647 cubic yards used for the
foundations of shop H the next fiscaf year. The
two year tota} amounted to 8,939 cubic yards
which measured over a 1,000 more yards of
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masonry than would be tater used in the walls.

In 1880, Major Flagler wrote a final report to
the chief of ordnance pertaining to the
difficulties that his workmen had encountered in
securing foundations for shop buildings, in
particular, shop H. He concluded the report with
his opinion as to the worst foreseeable scenario
that could possibly happen in regard to these
foundations. He stated that the foundation of
shop H would settle only a little and would occur
very slowly. He felt that since the foundations
could not give way to endanger the structure the
worst that could possibly happen would be
sufficient settling of the wall foundation tc cause
serious cracks in the wall. |If that occurred,
Flagter believed the only remedy would be to
disassemble and rebuild the wali.

Thirty-five years later, Major Flagler's
prediction as to “the worst that could ever
happen’ ococurred. By 1812 arsenal
photographers had begun to document cracks in
the wall of shop H. By 1915, the east wall of the
east wing of shop H was dismantled and rebuilt.



Below: The Rock Island Arsenal manufaciured artiffery ballery wagons from the sarly 1890s through 1918. In the
photo balow a turn-of-the-century battery wagon drawn by arsenal horses slands ready for road lest during the
midst of wintar. '

1880, Approp'rlatlnn Law Changed

Another major hindrance to the building of
the arsenal had nothing to do with procuring
stone; maintaining skilted laborers; or finding
bed-rock to build upon. Rather, it had to do with
federal law which required that appropriations
made in June of gne year had to be used before
June of the following year; in essence,the funds
had to be used within the same fiscal year that
they were appropriated. Any unspent balance
had to be returned to the U.S. Treasury
Department. This law caused extreme
difficulties because it was hard to finish a
building in one year. Little outside work-could be
accomptished during the long winter months;
therefore, work was often suspended during cold
weather, and was further delayed while waiting
for new appropriations from Congress. Colonsl
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Rodman and Major Flagler both complained to
their superiors regarding this method of funding.
Not until 1880 did the government finally exempt
buildings at Rock Island Arsenal from this lega?
restriction. Before this the arsenaf lost several of
the best working months of the year while
waiting for congressional appropriations to be
passed and made available on the first of July of
each fiscal year.®®

1880, Announcement for Blds for Bullding
Material

With the use of local newspapers, such as the
Moline Review, announcements that the Rock
Island Arsenal was accepting bids for building
material was widely disemminated. - On the
following page is an announcement of this
nature which ran on 16 July 1880.%



Below: The Rock Island Arsenal Commander placed Aolices in focal newspapers announcing that the arsenal was
accepting bids for specific buifding materials. The Moline Revisw carried the announcement balow on 16 July
T80,

Proposais for Wrought Iron | Beams.
Rock Island Arsenal, b, June 24, 1800.

SEALED PROPOSALS are invited to furnish, delivered on cars at this Arsenal, about -- 830
pounds 15 in. 1 Beams, 200 Ibs. per yard.

430,000 pounds 12 in. | Beams, 200 Ips. per yard.
480,000 pounds 12 in. | Beams, 125 lbs. per yard.
480 pounds 12 in. t Beams, 125 Ibs. per yard.
127,000 pounds 4 in. | Beams, 30 ibs. per yard.
80,000 pounds 7 in. Deck Beams, 58 Ibs. per yard.
20,00C pounds Angle and T irons.

Full bills and specifications can be obtained from the undersigned. All the Iron must be delivered
within five months after date of contract, but the contractor may deliver it as much sooner as he
pleases.

The successful bidder will have 1o enter into contract, and give geod and sufficient bonds.

The Government reserves the right to reject any or all bids, and if necessary, bidders must show
that they are able to perform the contract.

Bids from irresponsible parties who are not members or agents of firms competent to perform
the contract, will not be considered.

Bids wili be opened at 10 a.m. July 14th, 1880, and bidders are invited to be present.
D. W. FLAGLER

Major of Ordnance
Commanding



Below: A fate 1800z phoilograph of 7-inch siege howitzer and RiA-made carrfage. Probably the artiflery harness
eguipment on the horses wes manufactured at the Rock Island Arsenal. Note the high waler tower which once
stood just scuth of the multiple-sided water reservoir. Possibly & road tesf on & nawly complsted carriage mods!

documented by the photograph.

To further illustrate the difficulty the arsenal
encountered in obtaining stone during its major
construction period of the latter 19th century, the
arsenal made announcements in local
newspapers stating that it was again seeking to
procure building stone. One such advertisement
soliciting bidders appeared in the 15th August
1881 issue of the Moline Review-Dispatch. It
explained the bidding procedure in the following
manner:

PROPOSALS FOR STONE

Rock Island Arsenal ill., Aug. 15,
1882. SEALED PROPCSALS are
invited to enter into contract to furnish,
delivered at this arsenal, about 1800
cubic yards of Dimension, Ashiar,
Rubble and Footing Stone for the
construction of one store-house.

The architecture of this building is to
be similar to the barracks already built
at this arsenal. Bidders should not
make bids until after examining
drawings and specifications, and
obtaining full information at my office,

81

and should also examine the work of
the building mentioned above.

Bidders must state the name and
location of the quarries from which
they will furnish stone; be prepared to
show that they have such control over
quarries as to insure their ability to
fumish the stone, and the quarries must
be opened sufficiently to show that the
required amount of stone can be
obtained from them, the stone must be
of known good quality and endurance,
and not differ greatly in appearance
from that in the shops and adjoining
buildings.

The successful bidder must give
good and sufficient bonds for a faithful
performance of his contract. The US. .
reserves the right to reject any or all
bids. Proposals must be in tripficate,
and will be opened Sept. 20, 1882.
Bidders are invited to be present.

D. W. FLAGLER,
Lt. Col, of Ord, Comd.?®



Right: A U.S. Army corporel standing
guard possibfy af an entrance 1o post
headquarters buflding (building 360).
The balt and bayonet worn by the guard
indicales the photograph was taken in
ihe late T80Ds. Chsaveron skrips
remained "V" shapad until 1802, whan
they wara officiafly inverfad.

innovations in Construction of Arsenal Bulldings

During the course of a building project that
took 30 years to complete, some innovations
appeared in the construction of the arsenal stone
buildings. As early as 1872, Major Flagler had
experimented with the use of concrete for paving
and construction. He reasoned that if a mixed
concrete with the proper toughness and
hardness could be produced at the arsenal, it
would be more economical and more durable
than stone. Major Flagler's early tests, however,
failed to produce a consistently hard concrete.
To be noted is the fact that Flagler was promoted
to the rank of Lieutenant Colonel in 1881.

It was not until 1883 that Flagler’'s
investigations and experiments in producing a
suitable concrete proved satisfactory. The
successful concrete mixture was initially used in
the construction of storehouse “A”. Storehouse
“A" was the first of a series of storehouses
originally planned to be erected behind each of
the manufacturing shop buildings. Storehouse
“A”, located to the rear of shop A {building 102},
measured 254 feet by 60 feet, with two porticos
15 feet by 60 feet. The four-story building had a
total area of 63,600 square feet. This storehouse
was the first Rock Island Arsenal building built
with an atl-concrete foundation. From this time
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on, all arsenal foundations, basement floors, and
most sidewalks were constructed in concrete.
The concrete replaced the more costly flag-
stones used in earlier construction.®

Flagler's experiments with different types of
cement led him to recommend the use of “South
Bend" Portland cement produced in South Bend,
Indiana. He found it superior to the best English
cements available. Not only was the quality
superior, but the cost of the South Bend cement
was more ecoriomical at $2.85 per barrel of 400
pounds delivered. Flagles, in describing the
methods empioyed by his workmen, provided
some insight into how the stone buildings were



consiructed. He reporied that:

. .. The arsenal obtained sand, of good
quality, from local contractors for 63
cents per cubic yard delivered by
wagons at the work site. The rock, a
very hard limestone containing large
quantities: of flint, which had been
excavated from the water power canal
project in the south channel of the
Mississippi river, was hauled across the
river on ice during the winter. The
limestone cost, delivered at the work
site, .50 cents per cubic vyard.
Workmen used a Totten crusher to
pulverize the stone. For foundation
work, the crusher was placed at the
edge of the basement excavation and
the rock was poured from the crusher
onto a plank at the edge of the
basement, a drop of seven and a half
feet. A sprinkler kept the pile of broken

Balow: Rock crusher in opsration on Arsena! Isiand pulverizing stone possibly for mixing with cement and paving
roads.

rock thoroughly wet. Workmen then
shoveled the rock into barrows and
dump boxes for thorough mixing with
sand and cement. Eventuaily the
workmen became expert enough to
measure the ingredients with their
shovels.

Wheelbarrows were used to transport
concrete to foundation work nearby

‘When transporting the concrete over

distance, workmen pushed it in dump
boxes of che cubic yard capacity, on
tramway cars. These cars were
afterwards used for delivering stone
and mortar to the derricks for building
walls of the stone shops. Workmen did
not wet the concrete until it arrived at
the piace of use, and just prior to
dumping it, water was added. A layer of
concrete was thoroughly rammed and
tamped until its surface was just
covered with water.1®



Below: Watar sprinkler (appsars 1o bs in back of shop A, building 102] used to waler down the road 1o keep the

dust down.

CONSTRUCTION COSTS

Flagler included the following breakdown of
material and cost in his report so that in the
future, the Army Ordnance Department would
use it as a guideline in determining construction
costs. 1o

INGREDIENTS AND CCST

1 cu. yd. crushed rock-cost before crushing
$0.50

1 cu. yd. sand at 63 cents $0.21
1 cu. yd. cement {1 barrel) 400 Ibs. $2.85
Cost of material per yd. $3.56

Capacity of crusher 33 yds. per day.
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Labor to lay 33 cu. yds. of concrete: 2 men at
crusher; 2 mixing sand/cement and bringing to
crusher; 2 mixers; 2 wheelbarrow men; 2 tampers
10 men in all, at $1.50 per day each $15.00

Cost of running crusher $2.75

1 mason superintending $2.75
Miscellaneous expenses $2.00
Total for 33 yds. $22.50
Labor for 1 yd. $0.68

Material for 1 yd. $3.56

Cost per yd. $4.24



Below: Three different Arsenal commandsrs closed oul the 19th century folfowing Flagler's departure in 1886.
Lefl: Colonel Thomas G. Beylor, RIA commender, T886-1888.

Middle: Colonel James M. Whittemore, RIA commander, 1886-1891.

Right: Colone! Adelbert R. Bulfington, RIA commander, 1892-1897.

~ Improvements During Fiagler's Command

Following Rodman’s master plan, Flagier
supervised ‘completion of the commanding
officer's quarters in 1871, shop C in 1872, and
shop B in 1873. Between 1874 and 1886, Flagler
built seven stone buildings on Main Avenue:
shops A, B, E, F, G, H, and I. Also, Flagler added
to the manufacturing core several ancillary
buildings, including a magazine, barracks, fire
station, tumber shed, storehouse for shop A, gate
house, and officer's quarters 2, 3, and 4 during
his command of the Rock Island Arsenai. After
Flagler's departure in April 1886, Colonel
Thomas G. Baylor, {1886-1888); Colonel James
M. Whittemore, (1888-1891); and Colonel
Adelbert R. Buffington, {(1892-1887) commanded
the Rock Island Arsenal. The arsenal's last stone
buildings were completed during the tenure of
these three arsenal commanders.

Construction Alter Flagler Departs RiA

The close of Lieutenant Celonel Daniel W.
Flagler's term as commanding officer in 1886
virtually brought to an end the first great
construction period of the Rock Island Arsenal.
Flagler had basically compieted the original plan
of General Rodman. Few important construction
projects were concluded at the arsenal after his
departure and before the turn-of-the-century.
However, the following projects from the late
18th century do merit recognition.

Following Flagler's term as commander, the
construction of the final Rodman-pian buildings,
shop K (building 68) and storehouse K {building
56) lagged and continued to drag on slowiy
through the commands of Colonels Baylor,
Whittemore, and Buffington. Arsenal workmen
had completed the storehouse for shop K in
1893, seven years after its foundation had been
laid. [n that same year, skilled laborers applied
the finishing touches to shop K, & good 12 years
after its initial construction.

65 .



Betow: The Rock !siand Arsenal Commander's office and desk siluated in the olfd post headquerters [buiiding
360). This 1898 view of Colonsl Stanhope Biunt's office reveals an assortment of RIA-made ordnance stores such
as saddies, saddiebags, haversacks, tin cups, ammunition belts, horse curry brushes, and lencing mask displayed
in front of, on, and ercund the commander’'s desk.

Bullding 380, The Old Post Headquarters 1889-
1922

In 1888, Congress appropriated funds for the
construction of a new headquarters building,
later designated building 380. The Rock Island
Arsenal maintained its headquarters in this
building until after World War One. In 1922,
arsenal operations were reduced and
consolidated into fewer buildings. As part of this
return 1o peace-time status, the arsenal
nheadquarters was transferred to shop B (building
60).72 Though not an arsenal structure, the
rebuilding of the government bridge from
Davenport in 1895-1896 should be included as a
major construction project of the late 1800s
because of its impact on arsenai transportation.
One project that Rock Island Arsenal
commanders repeatedly requested appropriat-
ions for, during the last decade and a half of the
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19th century, was the building of a new post
hospital.

Quarters 34, The Old Post Hospital

The building then used as a hospital was a
drafty old frame confederate prison building.
Colonel Buffington expressed his frustration and
defended the necessity of replacing the arsenal's
old hospital building in his report to the chief of
ordnance dated 1896. He argued that:

. .. Previous reports have been made as
to the inadequacy of the post hospital.
It is an old frame structure, erected
during the Civil War, about thirty-five
years ago {for prisocn purposes). Itis
drafty and leaky, and the timbers are
decayed. Patients ptaced in this
building for treatment must have
blankets hung arcund their beds in cold



Below: The ofd Post Hospilal, a drafty old wood frame Rock :'sfarid Prison barrecks building functioned as the
Rock fsland Arsenal Hospital through the close of the century. Congress finally approved a requesf lor &

replacement bullding in 1907.
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weather to keep off the draft, and the
beds must be moved from place to
place in wet weather fo avoid the rain.
The inspector General had reported
that this building is utterly unfit for
hospital purposes and not worth
repairing. Estimates have been
repeatedly submitied, and are again
included this year. It is really a cruelty
to place a sick man in this structure.'®

Unfortunatety this project did not receive
congressional approval until after the turn-of-
the-century. In 1807, a brick building was
constructed as the new hospital. Today this
building functions as officer's quarters {burldlng
81} for the Rock Island Arsenal.
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The RIA’s Flrst Great Perlod of Constructions
Comes fo & Close

A decline in appropriations for construction at
Rock Istand coincided earlier with Flagler's
departure from the arsenal. Basically the
arsenal’'s building phase had been completed,
and the conclusion of Colonel Rodman's original
plan was in sight. Congressiocnal priorities
turned te providing appropriations that would
furnish shop machinery; provide adequate
sources of power {o the shops; maintain arsenal
roads and grounds; and improve the access
bridge from Davenport, {owa. The first great
constructien period of the Rock Island Arsenal
was brought to a close in the decade and a half
prior to the turn-of-the-century.



Below: The first dam bullt on Mississippl River in 1841; it stratched lrom Moline across the south channel of Ths
Mississippi River to Argenal isiand.

CHAPTER FIVE
WATER POWER AT ROCK ISLAND

The Mississippi River's potential water power
at Rock Island and the island’s access to water
and rail routes made Rock Island a choice
western site for an armory or arsenal for
manufacturing of supplies. These natural
attributes also made Rock Island an attractive
plum for commercial development.

in the late 1830s, long before the construction
of the arsenal, private enterprise began
developing water power in the south channel of
the Mississippi River, now known as Sylvan
Slough. In February 1837, the legislature of
tllinois granted to David B. Sears and John W.
Spencer a charter to build a dam across the
south channel of the Mississippi River near the
head of Rock island, across from Moline, lllinois.
Mr. Sears and associates controlled the water
power for several years. In 1851, the firm of Pitts,
Gilbert, and Piits of New York acquired the dam

and remained in control of its water power until
1859, After a scheme to raise money for
improvements and repairs through the sale of

‘bonds failed, the entire property was turned over

to the stockholders. Horace K. White and his
New York associates then purchased bonds for
improvements and repair of the dam, which
eventually led to White's acquisition of the
property on 25 April 1864.

As previously mentioned, on 19 April 1864,
Congress approved an act which authorized the
Rock Istand Arsenal commander to clear the
island of all property claims made by private
parties and local communities. This act provided
for establishment of a board of commissioners,
appointed by the president of the United States.
The board reviewed the legitimate claims and
made recommendaticns as te their setifement.

In February 18865, Charles Atkinson and
associates obtained a charter from the state of
illincis for the Moline Water Power Company,
and by December of that same year they



Below: Portion of Rock Island Arsenal map which shows the plans and development of water pawai‘ at Rock
istand, signed by Brave! Lisuternant Coloref D. W. Flagler, RIA commeander.
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purchased the water power franchise at Rock isfand earth dike, the stone dike, the

Island.1o* canal, and wing dam were carried on
Rock Island Arsenal's water power history simultaneously and although an

spanned more than 50 years, from 1865 to after account of expenditures on the watar

the-turn-of-the-century, and during those years power was carefully kept, the cost of

at least eight major water power-related projects the different parts of the work was not

were completed by the Rock Island Arsenal. The kept separately.1o®

eight projects included: construction of a. stone Colonel Aodman initially planned to use

lateral dam wall in the south channel of the
Mississippi River; excavation of a tail race canal
through solid reck; building of a stone dike along
Syivan Island; construction of the arsenal dam;
building of an arsenal power house; digging of
tunnels and erecting of towers to transmit the
power to the shops by wire cable; building a
stone dike at the edge of the island’s shore to the
head of the island along the south channel; and
extending a wing dam off the main charinel of the
Mississippi River from Benham’s Island. Flagler
wrote in his History of the Rock island Arsenal
that:

condensed air to power the machinas in his
arsenal shops. His plan called for transmitting
condensed air from Benham'’s Island dam on the
north channel and from the old Moline dam on
the south channel of the Mississippi River to the
arsenal shops. He quickly abandoned this idea,
and developed a new plan to mechanically
transfer power from a dam on the south channel
of the Mississippi River, which was nearer the
construction site of the arsenal manufacturing
buildings.

As early as 1865, Colonel Rodman proposed
using water power derived from the Moline Water
Work on the upper {dam) wall, the Power Company to drive the machinery in his
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Right: Charles Atkinson,
prasident of Moline Waler Power
Company.

arsenal shops. He suggested building a masonry
dam and allowing Moline Water Power Company
to use its water at the east end of the dam, while
the Rock Island - Arsenal used its water
downstream at the west end of the dam.

As earlier stated, Congress passed another act
on 22 June 1866, which further empowered the
arsenai commander to take complete and
permanent possession of Rock Island, inctuding
the island’s access bridges and water power. On
27 June 1866, Congress appropriated $100,000
to secure water power at Rock Island.'®

Authorized by the above congressional
legistation, Colonel Rodman notified the Moline
Water Power Company to vacate by 1 September
1866 all portions of the south channe! that
separated Rock Island from the llfinois shore.
After lengthy negotiations, Charles Atkinson,
president of the Moline Water Power Company,
agreed to relinguish to the federal government
his company's rights to the water power and
property, north of the south channel's mid-tine.
This included sandbars (deposits of sand),
stone, or other materials adjacent to Rock Istand.
In exchange, the government agreed to provide
in perpetuity, free of cost, one-fourth of the water
power derived from existing or subsequent
plants to the Moline Water Power Company. in
addition to the above agreement, the Moline
Water Power Company reserved the privitege of
renting to customers any surplus power not
needed by the arsenal. On 22 September 1866,
the Moline Water Power Company received
authority from the chief of ordnance to collect

rent or fees from nearby factories using their
water power.'"”

Fiagter reflected in his History of Rock Istand
Arsenal, that the one-fourth agreement, in
exchange for the arsenal's use of three-fourths
of the water power was the key io the
government's difficulties with the Moline Water
Power Company. Flagler wrote:

... ltis presumable that the right of the
company could have been purchased
for less sumn that this ($500,000) and the
United States would have been left scle
owners of all the power, and would
have been free from a troublesome,
‘entangling alliance’ with a private
corporation, 108

Congress passed a joint resolution
empowering the secretary of war to administes
the recommendations of the 1864 and 1866



Below: Moline fateral dan and water power pood, looking northeast. The developmean! of waisrpower by the Rock
Island Arsensl gliracted businesses o the area. John Deere and others relocaled their businesses in Maline,

Riinois.

commissions to adjust claims stemming from
actions taken by the government to regain
complete possession of the island.

The joint resolution enabled the acting
Secretary of War General Ulysses S. Grant to
enter into an agreement regarding water power
for the arsenal at Rock Island. In accordance
with this resolution, the United States and the
Moline Water Power Company signed a contract,
dated 18 June and 20 August 1867. The contract,
which included the recommendations of the
commissioners, became the basic agreement
between the federal government and the Moline
Water Power Company.’® The Moline Water
Power Company later, however, fited several
complaints against the United States
Government for not fulfilling the terms of this
contract. In 1869, the plan for water power
development at Rock Island was modified to
include the construction of two dams: the
Moline {lateral} dam; and the Rock Island
Arsenal dam."?
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The lateral dam stretched from the Moiine
shore, at the point where the buildings of the
Mgline Water Power Company were situated,
downstream approximately one mile to a portion
of the Moline mainland which jutted out into the
siough. Colonet Rodman selected the narrowest
peint in the slough for construction of the
arsenal dam across the south channel.

Befare the use of electricity, power had not
been iransmitted over a great distance very
successfully. The crude technology of the 1860s
and 1870s precluded the long distance use of
electricity. Only theose buildings and factories
situated in the immediate vicinity received
adequate power. For this reason two dams were
necessary, the lateral dam at Rock Island was
constructed paralle! to the Moline shore so that
private factories along the shore with river
frontage to the slough could directly receive
water power.

Likewise, the Rock Island Arsenal needed its
dam constructed nearer to the arsenal shops.



Below: A rear sectional view of the compiete power sssembiy wilth power-house as designed by RIA Commarnder
Lisutenant Colonel 0. W. Flagier. Note the iwo watler wheeis at the bottom right of photograph. When the gates
were opensd, waler rotated the vertical shalt from the wheel to power-house which, through the use of gears,
rolated the horizontal main drive shaft which lurned theiarge 15-foot drive whesl, A series of pulisy-like cables

operating on towers mechanically tranaferred the power from the station to the southern row of shops on Rodman

Avernua.
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The Moline and Benham'’s Island dam sites were
too far from where the arsenal shops were being
built to be considered adequate sources of
power for these shops.

John Deere, DeWitt Dimock, John Gouid, and
Charles Atkinson were among the investors that
had an interesi in the development of Moline's
river front property. The government's drive to
regain possession of the entire island of Rock
Island included the accesses and water powerto
the island which forced several private firms
operating on Rock Island to relocate. Dimock &
Gould, and Company, a woodenware and lumber
firm, moved its business from the island and
reestablished it along the Moline shore to take
advantage of the water power under
development.
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The Spring flood of 1868 partially washed
away the old Moline dam. The Moline Water
Power Company urged the Rock Istand Arsenal
to remove the damaged dam and to construct the
proposed lateral dam. The remaining portion of
the oid Moline dam accumulated dirt, timber,
rock, brush, garbage, and silt deposited around
the dam.

in addition to developing water power, another
objective of the parties involved was to control
the flood waters of the Mississippi River. Besides
carrying away portions of the old Sears dam, the
flood of 1868 aiso washed away the old wooden
bridges which connected Moline to the island,
and connected the city of Rock Istand to the
island.”" Moline investors viewed the results of
the flood as an opportunity to replace the



Below: Skefch of powerhouse and drive wheels of the power assembly as designed by Bravef Lisuisnant Colone!

D. W. Flagfar.
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crudely constructed old Moline dam with a new
federally built one, which would increase the
value of Moline’s river front property.

After the Spring flood of 1868, the work of
removing the old dam and building the new
Moline (lateral) dam was done simultaneously.
Unfortunately, flood waters struck again in the
fall of 1869 and carried away portions of the
coffer dam walls being erected. Moline Water
Power Company, anxious to have the water
power project advanced to the point where it
could begin using the power, offered to share in
the repair of the dam. Colonel Rodman,
representing the governmeni, reached an
agreement with the Moline Water Power
Company on 28 October 1889. Under the terms
of the agreement Moline Water Powsr Company
replaced the coffer dam walls, and the arsenal
agreed 1o remove the old Mcline dam and begin
work on the new lateral dam wall. In order for
these projects to proceed, portions of the slough
were drained of water at the work sites. Coffer
dams made this work possible by creating a
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temporary watertight enclosure. The enclosed
area then was pumped dry exposing the river
channel bottom so that the work could proceed
at the old and the new dam sites. Mr. S. W.
Wheelock, Moline Water Power Company,
supervised the Moline firm's part of the project,
and Captain Morris Shaff of the Rock lsland
Arsenal was in charge of the government's work
at that time.

The dam wall was completed in December
1868, with the exception of 100 or so feet at the
wall’s lower end, which was not built until 1871-
1872. The coffer dams were removed in the
spring of 1870, and Moline Water Power
Company began using the water power in
August 1870.'12

Moline's fateral dam contained a series of
flume openings or chutes, each with its own gate
house. Each gate house contained an individual

turbine or wheel which transmitted power

mechanically by turning a shaft or cable that led
directly to the factory. In a sense, sach factory
had its “own miniature” water power plant.



Below: The 1874 plan of the Telodynamic Power System al Rock Isiand Arsenal. Lines “MR" in iront of sach row
of shops depict proposed underground shalts whereas lines designated “QPS" represented the reduced system
which was sventually installed. Undar this plam lines of wire rope were used to transmit 300 horse powsr to the
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Unfortunately for Moline, the south channel was
lower towards the Moline shore than towards the
Arsenal island's side of the channel, and this low
water area behind the lateral dam became a
stagnant collection point for debris and dead
animais which caused sanitation hazards."?

In 1869, the original plan was revised to
include the excevation of a tail race canal
constructed by the Rock Istand Arsenal to carry-
off the stagnant water and debris that had
collected behind the dam wall. Under this
agreement, the government was required to dig a
canal through that portion of Moline which jutted
into the slough. In addition to the canal, the
government had to construct dikes along the
Moline shore to protect against high water. The
digging of the canal turned out to be a major
undertaking for arsenal commanders, Rodman
and Flagler. In June 1871, Colonel Rodman died,

TRANSMISSION o POWER.
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and his successor, Major Daniel W. Flagler,
inherited the unfinished water power project.
The project included blasting a canal 2,000 feet
long and 200 feet wide through sclid rock to the
depth of the river bed. Once completed, that
portion of the land cut off from the canal formed
an island known as Sylvan Island. Major Flagler
later wrote that: “Rock was found generally two
feet under ground, and nearly the whole
excavation {of the canal} was through limestone
containing flint, and difficult to work.""'* Flagler
provided the following details pertaining to the
work performed in the slough. He recalled that:

. . . The rock taken from the canal and
not used in the dike was deposited in
large mounds or “dumps” on the
Moline Company’s land near the canal,
and kas been used very considerably



Right Telodynamic lower snd
wheels ussd lo transmit power
over wire cables fo the rear of
shops on south side of Rodmen
Avenue. This towsr was situated
east of Fas! Avenue and soulh of
Rodman Avenus.

since in building roads, foundations
etc., for the arsenal. Large quantities of
it have also been used in the same way
in (cities of) Moline and Rock Island.

The rock had to be blasted
throughout, and was hauled in wagons
both to the “"dumps” and the dike. A
good deal of expense was incurred in
maintaining roads for hauwling over the
rough deposited rock on the dike,
movable plank ramps were required to
enable the teams to get down off the
dike and anotherroad along the foot of
the dike was required for returning
teams.!'s

Captains Morris Schaff and A. Mordecai were
in charge of the excavation and dike work. They
were assisted by Captain M. L. Poland,
Lieutenant Charles Shaler, and Lieutenant
Wright.

The federalf government wunderiook the
expense of excavating a canal and building dikes
in such 2 manner as to meet the terms of its
agreement with the Moline Water Power
Company. The cost of building the 4,000 feet
long dam wall and excavating the 2,000 feet long
canaf was nearly $500,000 in 1872. The
workforce building the dam and dikes, and
excavating the canal increased to 900 workmen
and 75 teams during the fiscal year ending 30
June 187211

Work on deepening the canal continued into
the latter months of 1871. Heavy rains and cold

weather delayed the progress of the arsenai

workmen. On 23 December 1871, high water
broke the coffer dam,.and a few days later the
temperature plunged to 16 degrees below zero
fahrenheit. The pumps stopped operating due to
the cold weather and work was abandoned until
the next spring.'’”

The canal was finally completed in the Fali of
1872, but not without strained relations. Mill
owners whose businesses were interrupted by
the loss of power caused by the closing of their
chute openings during the excavation of the
canal challenged the arsenal commander's
authority to close the gates. Taking matters in
their own hands, several mill owners reopened
the gates without the arsenal commander's
permission and discharged water through the
canal. As incoming water forced Major Flagler's
workmen to suspend their work and as the water
threatened to coliapse the coffer dams, the
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Below: Arzenal workmen instaliing cable to lowers which stood behind the south row of shops, known as Arsenal
Row. Tha Rock Istand Arsenal initially used this method of cables and lowers, known ag the telodynamic system,
to mechanically transler power lrom the powsrhouse adjacen! to the arseanal dam (o these shops, particeiarly

shops C (bullding 104), and E [building 106}

Mill
threatened to shoot anyone who tried to close

situation became volatile. owners
the gates. In turn, Major Flagler resorted to
using soldiers to secure the gates. Considering
the expense and difficulties encountered by the
arsenal in its efforts to meet the terms of the
agreement, it might have been more economical
for the government to have purchased the
complete rights of the Moiline Water Power
Company, than to have entered into a joint
enterprise with them."'®

Arsenal Dam and Power Systems

In July 1872, the secretary of war approved
construction drawings of an arsenal dam
between Rock Island and Sylvan Island. A board
consisting of three ordnance officers, appainted
by the chief of ordnance, visited the Rock Island
Arsenal to examine plans for the arsenal dam
and water power system. A major obstacle in
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devising a transmission system was the distance
between the source of power and the buildings
where the power was to be used. Electrical
power was not yet feasible and steam was toc
expensive to use on such a large scale. The
arsenal, therefore, devised a system by which
power could be transmitted mechanically from
the dam to the arsenal shops.

Initially, four methods of transmitting power
to the arsenal manufacturing buildings were
considered: Compressed or condensed air;, a
rigid covered shaft system wusing tunneis to
connect to the shops,; a telodynamic or wire-rope
{cable) system; and a combination wire-cable
and shaft arrangement. After four days of
review, the board of officers approved combining
the telodynamic wire-cable system with the shaft
method. By combining the two systems, the
Rock Island Arsenal ¢could temporarily set up a
wire-rope or telodynamic system that would be



Below: Rear view of Arsenal Row, showing the telodynamic system. Shop E {buiiding 106) had a cable stretched
from the lower toc & jarge whoe! sttached o the reer of the building. Note small RIA produced 3.2-inch gun
carriage in foreground.
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economical to install and would allow time to

turther develop the more complicated rigid shaft.

system.1'®

Using the telodynamic system to transmit
power over a great distance had yet to be tried in
America. Major Flagler corresponded with
several European firms that had manufactured
wire-rope and had built telodynamic systems in
Germany and other European countries.

The telodynamic system mechanically
transmitted power to the arsenal shops by using
water, which passed through openings at the
dam, to rotate turbines. The rotation of the
turbines was transferred through gears which, in
turn, rotated a large drive wheel. This wheel, 15
feet in diameter, functioned as & large drive
pulley from its location inside a powerhouse
adjacent to the dam. An endless cable loop
extended from this ground station northward
along First Avenue to a pulley at the top of a
tower. From there, wire-cables, cne-inch in
diameter, formed loops which turned additional
elevated wheels at the rear of the shop buildings
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situated south of Rodman Avenue. Long main
drive shafts ran just below the ceilings of sach
shop area, constantly rotating when the
telodynamic system was activated. Individual
machines were powered by engaging a clutch
drive belt connected to the overhead shaft.2.

Beginning in 1874, Major Flagler had all gear
work and shafting for the power system
manufactured at Rock Island Arsenal's foundry
and shops, and in conjunction with the power
system, Major Flagler ordered metal to produce
the castings nesded for the power system.

In the mid 1870s another controversy between
the federal government and Moline Water Power
Company occurred. Brigadier General Stephen
V. Benet, chief of ordnance, visited Rock Island
Arsenal in May 1875, and made a complete
inspection of the water power projects at Rock
Istand. The following February, Major Fiagler
traveted to Washington, DC, to participate in
discussions with officials of the Moline Water
Power Company, their attorneys, the secretary
of war, and the army’'s chief of ordnance. No




Below: Rock lsland Arsenal dam. circa 1873. Note location of shops in background to dam.
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sclutions to the cenflicts between the
government and the Moline Water Power
Company were arrived at as a result of these
discussions. The Moline Water Power Company
was anxious about the completion of a variety of
water power-related improvement projects.
During Major Flagler's term of command the
following water power related projects were
compieted:
1. A stone dam wall 2,307 feet long,
18% feet high above the river bed; 8 feet
thick at the bottom, 3% feet at the top,
strengthenad by buttresses 3 feet wide
and 3 feet thick at the bottom anc

placed 13 feet apart. The wall had at
least 37 openings or chutes for use by
the Moline Water Power Company.

2. A tail race canal carved through
solid limestone 2,000 feet long and 200
feet wide.

3. A stone dam dike along Sylvan
Island which connected the lateral dam
wall with the government dam.

4. A masonry dam wall, laid with
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dressed stone, extending from the end
of the dike to the shore of the island of
Rock Island, near the shops. This dam
wall had 40 openings for water wheels.

5. A power house and line of towers to
transmit the power from the dam to the
shops by means of wire-cable.

6. A stone dike about ocne-and-a-half
miles long, edging the shore of the
island to its head to protect against
flooding in low places.

7. A wing dam extending up the
Mississippi River approximately 2,000
feet.’?!

However, Major Fiagler's achievements did not
escape criticism from the Moline Water Power
Company. Throughout Major Flagler's and his
predecessor, Colonel Rodman's terms as
commanding officers of the Rock Island Arsenal,
the Moline Water Power Company contended
that the government had not fuifilled its
contractual obligaticns.

in an effort to rescive these ditferences,
Congress passed a resolution on 3 March 1877



Below: A close-up view of the 15-foot high drive whese! inside the Rock isiand Arsenal powerhouss.

that formed yet another commission. This
commission reviewed all contracts entered into
betwean the United States Government and the
Moline Water Power Company.. George W.
McCravey, secretary of war, appointed three
officers to the commission: Brigadier General A.
A. Humphries, chief of enginsering, U.S. Army;
Ligputenant Colonel H. G. Wright, U.S. Army,
Corps of Engineers; and Major Henry L. Abbot,
U.S. Army, Corps of Engineers. They were
appointed by Special Order No. 72, dated 5 April
1877. After concluding its study, the commission
submitted its report to Congress in June 1877.
The report essentially stated that the aliegation
by the Moline Water Power Company that the
United States Government had not complied
with-the terms of its agreement of 1867, could not
be supported.'?2 The Moline Water Power
Company countered the decision of the
commission by fiting a lawsuit in the U.S. Court
of Claims against the United States Government.
The case was eventually dropped by the court
due to lack of prosecution on behalf of the

Moline Water Power Company. The telodynamic
system was installed in 1878, and the first use of
arsenal water power in the shops occurred in
February 1879. Al the shops that comprised
Arsenal Row on the south side of Rodman (Main}
Avenue, with the exception of shop A, had
access to the power carried by the telodynamic
system. However, only shops C and E actually
received power from the wire-cable and tower
arrangement. Of the two, shop C consumed the
greater amount of the power since the arsenal's
earty manufacturing operations took place In
that building. Shop E, being the foundry, did not
require as much power. The U.S. Governmen!
and the Mcline Water Power Company
negotiated & new centract which was signed by
the president of the water power company and
the secretary of war on 28 August 1882. The new
agreement listed work yet to be performed by the
government and the funds necessary for those
projects. The work included improving the water
power pool; deepening the canal; placing six
new openings or chutes for water wheeis in the



Below: A view of the Rock Isfand Arsenal water power dam under construction, dated 18 October 1855, Note: The
crew in the right loreground oparated in teams of three while “doubls jacking™ or driving the iron spike into the
bed-rock. One workman heid the spike and rotated il as the cther two drove iI in the rock with sledge hammers.
Also note the arsenal stons shops and powar tower visible among the ireas In tha background.

wall or dike; and reserving any unused balance
of funds for future develecpment and
maintenance of the water power system.
According to the Moline Water Power Company,
once this was accomplished, the company would
fully discharge the United States Government of
any further obligations to develop water
power.'2?

Water Power Related Projects Provided Jobs for
Tri-Cities

Practically on an annual basis, from 1B67 to
well past the turn-of-the-century, Congress
appropriated funds for the construction of water
power related projects at Rock fsland. The fri-
cities communities which then surrounded
Arsenal Island benefited economically from the
federally-financed prejects. For over a 40-year
period, Congress had appropriated more than a
million dollars for development of water related
improvement projects at Rock Island. A large
share of that sum went to local tri-cities firms and
{aborers hired as day workers or contracted for
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At

longer periods of time on these projects.
times, close to a thousand workmen were
employed by the Rock Island Arsenal to work on

the wvarious improvement projects being
completed in the south channel of the
Mississippi River and above Benham's Island in
the Main Channel.

Advertisements soliciting sealed bids for a
variety of labor appeared routinely in local
newspapers. As an example, the Moline Review-
Dispatch printed the following announcement
inviting bids for blasting and hauling rock from
the water power pool at the Rock istand
Arsenal.'®

PROPOSALS FOR BLASTING AND
HAULING ROCK

ROCK ISLAND ARSENAL., IL, May

14, 1881
Sealed proposals are invited for
blasting and hauling in wagons, about
20,000 cubic yards of rock, from the
water power pool at this Arsenal,



Below: Workmen faying firsi course of stone at the east end of construction for the arsenaf dam, dated 28 Cclober
T889. Note the roof of the main puliey house in background.

between August and November 1881.

Plans and drawings can be sesen and
specifications and forms for bids can
‘be obtained at this office.

The successful bidder will be
required to give good and sufficient
bonds for a faithful performance of the
work.

The United States reserves the right
to reject any and atl bids. Bids will be
opened at 10 A.M., May 31, 1881, and
bidders are invited to be present.

D. W. Flagler,
Major of Ordnance
Commanding

By 1890, the combination of wire-cable and
rigid shafting to generate power was inefficient
and obsolete. The arsenail’s makeshift
arrangement, at best, provided only limited
power to a portion of the arsenal shops.
Frequently power failures occurred due to
friction which jammed the shafts; and at times,
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due to cables which snapped or developed too
much slack.

Also by 1890, technology in the transmission
of power had advanced to such a degree that it
became feasible to update the Rock Island power
system. Arsenal Commander Colonel James
Whittemore in 1890 recommended to the chief of
ordnance that the arsenal’'s tefodynamic and
shaft system be abandoned in favor of elsctricity.
His recommendation did not receive immediate
action by the chief of ordnance other than
ordering additional studies be done of the
arsenal’'s water power system. The arsenal's
wire-cable and rigid shaft system had at that time
provided enough energy for the relative light
arsenal workload being done in shops C and E.
Despite improvement to the dam and
construction of a frame powerhouse in 1892, it
became apparent the arsenal’s water power was
no fonger adequate. In 1899, a fire destroyed the
arsenal's wooden frame powerhouse, thereby
pfacing the installation’'s power plant out of
commission. The army, not wishing to expand



Right: A copy of a photograph included in
the Annual Report of Chief of Ordnarcs,
1882, depicting workmen operaling elec-
tric drifle fo break up the solid rock
portions of the river bhed and deepsn th
waler powar poos. :
Left: Workmen building coffer dam during
wintar of 1891. Coffer dams ware used g
hofd back the waier so that consiruc-
tion of the dam and despening of the waler
power pool could be accomplished.

an inadequate, obsolete power system, decided
instead to modernize the Rock Island Arsenal’s

entire power system by switching to

hydroelectricity.
Additional Water Power Related Projects

In 1896, a new concrete dam was constructed
for the Mcline Water Power Company between
Sylvan Island and the Moline mainland. The old
Moline dam tail race, no longer needed, was
filled in and was used as a railroad bed. All that
remains today of the Moline's lateral dam are a
couple of gate houses. The extension of the
wing dam up river nearly two miles to the Duck
Creek chain of rapids in the Mississippi River's
main channel was completed in 1899.'*

a2

_At times, the annual appropriation for water
power-related projects was greater than that
appropriated for the construction of the arsenal
itself. Congress passed the following acts for the
development of water power at Rock isiand
Arsenal: 26

ACT APPROPRIATION

Act of June 27, 1866 $100,000
Act of June 8, 1868 80,000
Act of March 3, 1869 150,000
Act of July 15, 1870 20,000
Act of March 3, 1871 20,000
Act of June 10, 1872 710,000
Act of March 3, 1873 18,000
Act of June 23, 1874 5,400



Below: /n 1892, the coffer dam colispsed under the pressure of high water caused by an ice gorge; rapmrs delayed
the compistion of the water development project.

CONTINUED: Extraordinary repdirs to the Rock Istand Arsenal

ACT APPROPRIATION water pdwer were provided by the following

Act of March 3, 1881 50,000 appropriations: ¥

Act of August 7, 1882 100,000

Act of March 3, 1883 20,000 ACT APPROPRIATION

Act of July 7, 1884 18,500 Act of October 2, 1888 $25,000

Act of October 2, 1888 275,000 Act of August 18, 1894 30,000

Act of August 30, 1880 101,000 Act of March 2, 1895 37,500

Act of July 1, 1898 45,000 Act of June 4, 1897 28,150

Act of March 3, 1899 21,350 . Act of June §, 1800 97,000

Act of March 3, 1901 130,000 Act of May 27, 1808 28,500
Total $1,624,750 Total $246,150



Right: The Rock fsiand Arsenal provided
orodnarnce stores fo froops stationed afong the
weslern frontier. From the Dattie of the Littie
Big-Horn in 1876 through the Batiie of
Wounded Knee in 18971, the RIA manifac-
tured and supplisd weapons and equipmsnt
used by frontier soldiers, such &s those
pictured guarding captured hosiife Sioux
indians who had perticipated in the massacre
af Custer and a portion of his 7th Cavalry at
the Little Big-Horn, in Montansa.

Left: A fate 79ih ceniury view of RIA gun
yard, probably taken on & Sunday afternoon
outing on Arsenal fsland.

CHAPTER SIX
19th Century RIA Operations

During its first decades from 1863 to 1893,
Rock Island Arsenal’s activities consisted
primarily of building construction; water power
development; and organization of a storage
depot. However, as early as 1863, with barely
more than the Clock Tower Building completed,
Colonel Rodman had arsenal workmen
cleaning, repairing, and packing breech-
loading rifles, infantry accouterments, and
artillery equipment. In his report to the chief of
ardnance for fiscal year 1869, Rodman afluded
to the fact that Rock Island Arsenal workmen
cleaned and repaired 55,361 pieces of infantry
equipment and 503 sets of artillery harnesses.
Practically all of this work was completed by
hand.2®

Noteworthy was the fact that Rock Island
Arsenal depot operations developed earlier than
the arsenal’s manufacturing operations. The

Unicn Army began storing military equipment on
Rock island at the end of the Civil War, and its
depot activities expanded into the 1870s. After
the Civil War, the army reorganized and closed
several storage depots in different states. The
Army's Ordnance Department then transferred
the holdings of those closed depots to Rock
Island. Because of its strategic location, the
arsenal served as a repository for ordnance
stores which, in turn, could easily be shipped by
river or train to western military posts during
times of Indian hostilities. After 1875, the Rock
Island Arsenal supplied practically all the
ordnance stores reguired by the army in the
west.

While depot activities expanded during the
1870s, construction of the Rock Island Arsenal
continued. By 1875, manufacturing shops B
{building 80}, C {building 104}, D {building 62),
and E {building 108) had been compieted. In
addition, shop A ({building 102} and shop F
{building 64} were under construction. tn May



Right A still life of the leather ac-
coultermenis produced by the RIA
Harness and Accoulermenis Shop. The
Rock |sland Arsenal manufeciured her-
nesx snd cavelry leather agquipment
from 1875 to 1921 when the mission
was iransfarred to Jefferson Depot in
Indiana.

1875, Brigadier General Staphen V. Benet, chief
of ordnance, arrived at Rock Island to inspect the
construction at the island and was impressed
with the progress. He then instructed Major
Flagler, the arsenal commander, to begin
manufacturing operations.'?

At first, items such as waist-belt plates were
produced at the arsenal in limited quantities.
Eventually, orders for other military equipment
increased in volume and in importance. New
missions or functions were also awarded to the
Rock Island Arsenal end some of the arsenal's
current functions were expanded.

In November 1875, General Benet sent the
Rock Isiand Arsenal commander an order for
3.000 sets of infantry equipment and 3,000
saddies.™ On 7 December 1875, an article
appeared in the Rock island Argus newspaper
announcing that:

.. . Some 50 to 60 men are employed at
Rock Island Arsenal manufacturing
infantry esquipment, covering saddles
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and doing miscellaneous leather work
for the cavalry arm of the service. This
is the first manufacturing ever done in
the way of equipments for the Army at
this Arsenal.'#

in 1875, Brigadier General Montgomery Meigs,
quartermaster general, directed a board of
officers to develop army standards for heating
buildings, and at the same time established
general specifications for size and construction
of army stoves. In November 1875, officers
completed their design of army-issue stoves
which included cast iron and wrought iron wood
and coal heaters and cooking ranges.

On 28 August 1876, the Quartermaster
Department solicited bids for the production of
160 heating stoves and 40 cooking ranges. The
Ordnance Department submitted the low bid on
the cast iron heaters, and received a contract to
produce 100 stoves at the Rock Island Arsenal.
The arsenal also received production orders for
60 wood and 40 coal heaters. In addition to the



Right: Ornafe brass door hinges and knob sets
casl by the RIA foundry stilf acceni the
Commanding Officer's Quarters. Note the key
hols cover baeiow the knob in the photo.

Left: Mr. David C. Thompson was the Rock
isiand Arssnal’s firgt foundry foreman. He
starfad supsarvising the shop in 1871, and retired
at the age of 81 in 1910. He had a fine reputalion
as & molder.

Rock Island Arsenal, two private contractors
were awarded contracts to manufacture stoves
to army specifications.

In 1878, the Rock Island Arsenal produced 201
heating stoves and became the army's primary
producer of stoves. Two years later, in 1880, the
arsenal delivered 256 stoves for army-issue and
subsaquently received an additional order for the
production of 276 stoves to be completed in
1881. By the mid-1880s, many army barracks
were heated by general issue stoves
manufactured at the Rock Island Arsenal.'*

Earlier, in 1875, the Rock Island Arsenal’s
manufacturing operations included a harness
shop, a carpenter's woodworking shop, a cloth
and canvas shop, and an equipment shop. The
arsenal also had a machine shop, blacksmith
shop, foundry, and polishing and plating
departments. Prior to the Spanish-American
War, Rock Island Arsenal manufacturing focused
primarily on the construction of arsenal
buildings. The arsenal's carpenter shop
produced doors and window frames for the

Arsenal

buildings under construction.
carpeniers also made furniture for the officers’
quarters and desks for the offices.

The Rock Istand Arsenal foundry fabricated

construction material and shop equipment
during the latter part of the 1880s. Castings of
brass hardware, such as hinges, roof straps, and
pulleys, had been initially produced in the old
temporary wooden forge shop during the iate
1860s. Once building 106 (shop E) was
completed in 1873, the casting of iron trusses,
columns, beams, and staircases were also
produced at the island. From 1873 to 1988,
building 106 was in continuous operation as the
Rock Island Arsenal’s blacksmith shop and
foundry.

Harnesses were produced at the arsenal from
1875 until the harness department was
transferred to Jeffersonville, Indiana in 1921.'%
In addition to harnesses, Rock Island Arsenal
leather workers covered wooden saddle trees
and hooded stirrups with leather. Arsenal
workmen also manufactured army leather gun



Below: Ar oldtimer sngaged in the dis-cutting of lsather used in saddie construction. The worksr posilionad the
feather so that the best possible cut could be mads. One of two safaly handfes whick the worker mus! lower to
Operate the drop press is visible just to the right of machine.

belts, straps, cariridge pouches, saddle bags,
gun slings, rifle scabbards, and revolver holsters.
The number of harness makers employed at the
Rock island Arsenal prior to the Spanish-
American War fluctuated from 12 to 40 with the
size of orders received by the arsenat
commander. .However, the work force of the
arsenal harness shop rose to slightly over 1,000
empioyees during the arsenal's peak
manufacturing period of the Spanish-American
War 1

Because of the demand for harness hardware
and repaired rifles, a metal polishing and plating
department was established at the Rock Island
Arsenal. Workmen in this department polished
all sizes of buckles, hocks, buttons, hinges, bites,
handles, and scabbards. |In addition, rifle
barrels, swords, and bayonets were plated and
polished by workers in the department. By
1876, arsenal workmen had begun tc fabricate
and repair haversacks and other canvas cloth-
made accouterments for army-issue. During the
late 19th century, the woodworking shop
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produced wooden saddle trees and arms chests.
Besides parts for harness and saddlery repairs,
arsenal workmen made buttons for McKeever
cartridge boxes, and casts for an order of 1,000

spurs in 1881.'%% |n 1882, a power press for
manufacturing metal. meat-can handles was
installied in the tin shop. As early as 1882, the
arsenal was engaged in experimenial research
and development. The arsenal commander's
report to the chief of ordnance for that year
included details of an experimental entrenching
tool (a spade} manufactured at the Rock Istand
Arsenal. 8

in 1885, a jewelry department was added to the
equipment shop. Arsenal jewslers produced
pins, badges, trophies, and insignias for saddie
gear. A total of 5,000 silver marksmen's pins, and
2,000 sharpshooter's badges were manufactured
by the jewelry department in 1885.'%7 Also in
1885, the first electropiating at the Rock Istand
Arsenal was performed in shop C. The shop had
a small electroplating machine with a wash tub
and pumice stone tray, plus stone jars for



Below: A view of & 7" siege howitzer and melel carriage assarmbled at the Rock Island Arseral. The ali-matal
carriages for this weapon'and the extra strength artilfery carriage wheels were manufaciured af the arsenal.
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cleaning and dipping metal. In this shop, officer
saber scabbards and metal parts to sabers belts
were repaired and replated. Cther
manufacturing worthy of mentioning during the
1880s included the production of metal skirmish
targets and the fabrication of gun carriages. By
1884, steam hammers, heavy punch presses, and
shear forging and machine shop equipment for
heavier manufacturing were being produced in
shop C. In 1886, the arsenal produced harness
pack outfits for the Hotchkiss mountain gun
carriage.™®

During 1886, the infantry equipment, cavalry
accouterments, horse equipment, material for
target practice, artillery harness, field and siege
carriages, caissons, battery wagons and forges,
and many other articles required by the army,
were manufactured at this arsenal.

tn the 1850s, the Rock Island Arsenal received
additional responsibilities as a result of a
reorganization in the army's manufacturing
program. The reorganization was spurred by
technology developed during the Civil War. In
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the 1880s, the Army Ordnance Department
designated Watervliet Arsenal near Albany, New
York, as the site of the army's new gun tube
factory for heavy-caliber seacocast defense
cannons. Watertown Arsenal near Boston,
Massachusetts, did not have the capacity to
produce the heavy carriages for - the new
seacoast guns and maintain its old preduction
schedules. To expedite work on the heavy
carriages, the army selected Rock Island Arsenal
to manufacture a portion of the carriages
formerly produced at Watertown Arsenal. The
RIA began to manufacture field and siege
artiliery carriages in 1892. in 1893, the RIA
completed the last Rodman planned stone shop,
shop K, building 88. By 1884, the RIA was
producing machine gun carriages; limbers,
caissons, battery wagons, and carriages for
siege guns. Initially, RIA's machine shop and
field gun carriage shop were established in shop
C, building 104. However, this peacstime
arrangement of equipment and operations were
inadequate for the sudden demand caused by



Below: The Rock Island Arsenal machine shop crew, in 1896, Note the “oid world" eppearance of severaf of the
warkmen. The number of employses in the machine shop totaled onlfy a few hundred prior to 1898. During the
Spanish-American War RIA employmeni reached & pro-WW! peak of nearly 3,00(.
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Below: A gathering of Rock isiand Arsenal day foremen a lew of which, like George Patterson {first on the right,
front row) transferred from Springfiald Armory and helped astablish the RiA’s smaif arms plant after the Spanish-

American War.

To accommodate
the increased quantity of production orders for

the Spanish-American War.

leather, tin, cloth accouterments, and gun
carriages, the arsenal’'s machine and field gun
carriage shops were moved to shop G, building
108. Mr. George Patterson, master machinist,
was credited with organizing the gun carriage
operation once it was moved to building 108.
Colonel Stanhope Blunt, RIA commandery,
requested that Ms. Patterson be transferred to
RIA from Watervliet Arsenal for precisely that
mission. The production of artillery carriages
remains one of the RIA's primary areas of
specialization to the present time.

The Spanish-American War's impact on the RIA

On 15 February 1898, the U.S. battleship Maine
blew up in the harbor of Havana, Cuba. Many
Americans believed that Spain, to whom Cuba
belonged, blew up the Mains. Congress on 19
April 1898 passed a resclution declaring that the
people of Cuba should be free and independent
from Spanish rule. It also authorized the

president to use military force to carry out the
resolution. On 24 April 1898, Spain retafiated by
declaring war on the United States: 24 hours
later the United States Congress reciprocated
with its declaration of war against Spain.

Demand for War Materials and Suppiles

Subsequent to the sinking of the Maine, the
army discovered it did not have sufficient
carriages and harnesses for the field guns it had
on hand. Moreover, production of field and siege
guns, along with their carriages, needed to be
drasticatly increased. On 9 March 1898, the chief
of ordnance sent an urgent message to RIA.
The telegram read, “work {should) be pushed (at
RiA) on all existing orders as rapidly as possible,
and extra shifts of workmen ({shouid) be
employed."'*® Asthe job orders increased, so did
the arsenal's employment, and by the end of
March 1898 the arsenal’'s manpower increased tc
608 employees. In early Spring of 1898, the RIA
commander hosted a conference attended by the
commanding officers of Alleghany, Indianapolis,



Below: The Rock fsfand Arsensl tin shop, circa 1898. One of the arsenal’s earlier missions was the manulacturing
of metal accouferments such as Hin cups, meal cans, and safing utensils for use by the army.

and Columbia Arsenals. The purpose of the
meeting was to organize the war effort, and as
the result of this conference, each arsenal was
assigned peris to manufacture. Many of these
parts were then shipped to RIA for assembly.

On 26 March 1898, RIA received orders to
produce 25000 complete units of infantry
equipment. Within two weeks after receiving this
order the RiA commander was sent a directive to
“press work on all field gun and siege gun
carriages as rapidly as possible, employing extra
shifts of men as far as economical.”"™¥

On 21 April 1898, four days before the United
States declared war against Spain, RIA received
instructions to increase its output of infantry
equipment to 75,000 units and to begin
producing 10,000 sets of horse equipment. The
next day, the RIA equipment department began
working day and night on two ten-hour shifts.
On 5 May 1898, the chief of ordnance ordered an
additional 54,060 units of infantry equipment;
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5,000 units of cavalry accouterments; and 5,000
units of horse equipment. Thereafter, the RIA
continued to receive orders, practicaily on a

weekly basis. Some were for major items of
production such as the 9 May order for the
manufacture of 102 field carriages and limbers;
150 caissons and limbers; 17 batiery wagons and
forges; in addition to the production of 48
carriages for siege guns.t?

By 16 June 1888, the demand for equipment
became so critical that the army had to order RIA
to procure from private contractors, an
additional 10,000 complete outfits of cavalry and
horse equipment. As the demand for orders
grew, so did the number of items procured from
private firms. By July .1898, 46 private
contractors were delivering finished ordnance
products to RIA during the Spanish-American
War. A tota! of 131 private contractors delivered
the following principal stores to the RIA; 351,400
yards of dyed duck material for covering



Below: HRock isiand Arsenal lin shop, showing & workman making metal meat-can handles during the 1858
Spenish-American War period. Accouterments such as meat cans, lorks, knivas, arnd cantsens werg produced by
the arsenal during the war with Spain and fater during World War . ’
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Below: Artillary carriage assembly during the iate 19th contury in possibly the basement of shop C fbulfding 104}
or shop G {108). Note the stone piors, fire-proof brick veulted ceilings, and hoist to liit end move heavy objects,
visitle in top right corner,’ and workers' lockers in background.

canteens; 1,008,000 yards of cotton webbing for
haversacks, blanket bags, etc.; 654,000 pounds
of tin plate for meat cans, canteens and tin cups:
72,800 pounds of brass wire for buckies, rings,
hooks, etc.; 89,500 pounds of sheet brass for
buckles, rings, hooks, etc.; 854,000 feet of linen
rope for lariats; 205300 pounds of harness-
leather backs; 1,262,000 square feet of ieather for
collars, bridles, bars, and straps, saddles,
carbine scabbards, saddlebags, etc.; 1,161,900
pounds of steel and iron for gun carriages;
133,000 feet of basswood and ash for
saddletrees; and 690000 feet of additional
tumber for ammunition chests, packing boxes,
work benches, etc.™?

Production at RIA during Spanish-American War

The United States Army was not prepared for
war in 1898. it operated primarily with Civil War
era technology and supplies, and was
undermanned. A small workforce of
approximately 50¢ men and boys were employed

a3

in the Rock Island Arsenal shops at the
beginning of the Spanish-American War, many
of whom were temporary employees. They were
hired only for the period it took to complete a
particular order. Nevertheless, by the time the
war ended, the arsenal’s manpower had
increased to six times its proewar figure. At its
peak empiocyment of 2,900 in August 1898, the
RIA turned out 6,000 compiete outfits of infantry
equipment every day.'#

The Spanish-American War was the RIA's first
major test of its capabilities to meet emergency
wartime production. The arsenal psrformed
well, although the production potential was
barely tapped. Only the equivalent of one and &
half of the ten stone industrial shops contained
machines for manufacturing. Practically all of
the RIA’s production by machine was performed

-In shops C and E, now designated as buildings

104 and 106.
The RIA used the vast floor space in many of
the vacant buildings for a variety of projects



Below: During the Spanish-American War practically alf the RIA manufacturing occurred in shop C (building 104).

Work that did nol require machines and could be garformed by hand was conducted in ofther buifdings. Aithough
the 1808 war with Spain was the RIA’s first major test, only shop C and E (building 106} were heavily engaged in
manufacturing. Not untif Worid War | would alf the ten stone shop buildings be used in production of ordnance
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Below: Arsenal workmen and boys coverad canteens with feft and sewed duck cfoth covers over them. When
dipgad in water, the felt would absorb water and kesp Ihe conienis insige tha canteen cool. The canfeans pited on
the table in the forsground have already beer coverad wilh felf.

which could be performed by hand labor. The
first floor of shop A, building 102, became the
receiving and issuing center for masses of raw
material shipped to the RIA. In the east wing of
shop A, carpenters built only the portions of
gmmunition chests which required no machine
coperations. Unserviceable stores, items needing
repair, were mostly stored and repaired in shop
B, building 80. in September 1898, the repair and
cleaning of Springfield rifles initially took place
in the east wing of shop C, but as the work
increased, the operation was transferred to the
first floor of shop D, building 62. A 40 horse-
power engine and boiler placed in the court of
the shop furnished the steam power which
operated a line of shafting with 20 polishing
wheels and two lathes with wire brushes used to
repair or refurbish paris of the rifles. In July
1898, B5 men and boys cleaned and repaired
approximately 600 rifles per day. At the
conclusion of this project, arsenal workers
completed work on nearly 50,000 rifles and

carbines with a cost for this maintenance work of
68 cents per weapon. The rifles recsived from
the field were in bad condition, and most were
very rusty with numerous broken parts. At peak

‘output, the crew also completed approximatsly

7,000 bayonet scabbards per day. Harness
makers occupied the second fioor of shop G,
where nearly 700 men and boys made leather
equipmeni and sewed felt and duck covers over
canteens. Shop G was used for these activities
because it had water and restroom facilities
which the north row cor armory row shops did
not. In shop H, building 66, workers painted gun
carriages, limbers, and caissons. Howeves, not
until World War | would ail ten of the arsenal 8th
century-built stone shops be equipped with
machinery and used as industriai buildings.1*
During the Spanish-American War, Rock
Island Arsenal Commander Colonel Stanhope
Blunt placed his subordinate officers directly in
charge of specific operations. Captain O. B.
Mitcham was responsible for the repair of



Below: RIA pmplovees joading artiliery carriages, 1898, shop A, (buitding 102} in background, looking northeast.
The carriages final destinalion was Cuba to be used /n suppart of U.5. koops engaged in the Spanish-Amesrican

War.

unserviceable stores, including the Springfield
rifles. He also served as the installation’s
quartermaster and paymaster. Captain W. S.
Peirce was in charge of the blacksmith shop and
foundry, plus all gun carriage and equipment
work performed in the machine shop. Lieutenant
Q. C. Horney was the officer in charge of tin,
polishing, carpentry, and harness shops. He also
supervised the expansion of shop operations
from shop C to other shops.'*

The RIA literally equipped the American
soldiers who fought in the Spanish-American
War. Blanket bags manufactured by RIA were
used by soldiers as a type of duffel bag in which
to carry personal belongings. Other items
produced at the arsenal for the soldiers’ personal
useé were haversacks for carrying rations;
canteens fashioned from sheet tin and covered
with felt and a heavy thick duck cover; meat cans
used by soldiers as frying pans; and plates, tin
cups, eating utensils, and bayonet scabbards.

The arsenal also produced a variety of cavalry

These included items
such as wooden saddle frames or saddle trees,
an assortment of rings, hooks, straps, and other
paraphernalia used for carrying or holding

and horse equipmert.

cavalry artictes. Other leather items included
carbine scabbards, saddlebags, saddles,
surcingles {a girth that binds a saddle, pack, or
blanket to the body of the horse), bridles, halters,
straps, and artillery bharnesses. The RIA
produced in large numbers other horse
equipment such as picket pins, nose bags, horse
brushes, curry combs; and pistol hoisters, spurs,
and saber belts.

In addition, the arsenal functioned as a depot

- during the Spanish-American War. Much of the

ammunition and small arms made elsewhere,
along with articles produced by RIA, were held in
reserve on the island before delivery to troops in
the field. During the Spanish-American War the
arsenal's labor force operated two ten-hour
shifts, six-seven days a week, Earlier, during the
Indian uprisings of the 1880s and early 1890s, the



Below: Thes RIA commander ordered the construction of & speciel route for bicycles, to reduce the rising number

of accidents betwean horses and Dfcycies in 1858,

RIA met urgemt production demands for
ordnance stores by running portions of the shop
operations at night. Because the shops were not
" equipped for night work, arsenal workmen
functioned under inadequate, temporary lighting
provided by candles and lamps. During the
Spanish-American War, the RIA received a small
appropriation for extension of the electric
lighting beyond the limited lighting already
available in one office and a shop. However, this
lighting was not sufficient to provide direct
lighting for the workers. Candles and lamps
were still used as supplementary lighting for
most night operations. The arsenal commander
stated in his annual reports {o the chief of
ordnance during the war that it was essential fo
extend the electric lighting to other shops, some
other buiidings, and to the principal roads of the
arsenal.’¥

Although the RIA devoted its energy toward
the war effort, the arsenal continued to maintain
the island’s grounds and roads. In 1898, over 200

young trees were pianted along Main Avenue,
now designated Aodman Avenue, and along the
side of shop K, building 68. Arsenal roads,
especially Main Avenue from the manufacturing
shops at the flagstaff to the principal western
entrance, were damaged during the war due to
the heavy increase of vehicular traffic. Bicycies
and wagon teams transporting employees to and
from the arsenal by way of Main Avenue not only
damaged the arsenal’s main thoroughfare but
also accounted for the increase in accidents on
the island. To lessen the traffic on Main Avenue,
the RiA commander ordered the construction of
a special route for bicycles just south of and
parallel o Main Avenue. Arsenal employees
signed & petition for an extension of a single
track of the Tri-City Railway Company onto the
island to a point just south of the RIA shops.
Recognizing that the track would alleviate the
arsenal's traffic problems, Colonel Blunt sought
and received approval from the secretary of war
for a revocable license granted to the company
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Below: Aock fsfand Arsena! workmen cleaning and overhawling the standard army issve Krag-Jorgensen rifle
usad by U.S. froops during the Spanish-American War. In 1898 the RJA recsived appropriations to astablish a
small arms plant for the fabrication of rilfes.

The RIA built the targst printing press piclured befow in 1881,

Right:

as long as it met specific arsenal conditions.
Also because of the heavy traffic, the RIA
commander recommended to the chief of
ordnance that Fort Armstrong Avenue, located at
the west end of the island and connecting the
bridges leading from the island to the cities of
Rock Island, lllinois and Davenport, lowa, be
covered with granite pavement rather than
macadam.'*®

Impact of Spanish-American War on RIA

The Spanish-American War led to the
permanent expansion of workforce operations
and facilities at the RIA. During the war, the
arsenal rearranged its machinery and began to
install automatic machines to improve
production. AHer the war, the RIA constructed a
brick water power plant which replaced the old
small powerhouse destroyed by fire. In 1801, the
first electrical power generators used at the
arsenal were installed. Electric wires reptaced
the telodynamic system of towers and brought

a8

electricalt power to the
underground passages.'*?

Additional lights were installed in the shops
and offices to provide a safer work envircnment
for the arsenal’s second work shift. Arsenal
grounds and buildings were also improved
during the war, and additionai roads, bicycle
paths, and trollies were added to improve
transportation.

RIA Begins to Make Rifies

As a result of the Spanish-American War, the
Rock Isiand Arsenal performed valuable
production work by manufacturing personal
soldier accouterments; infantry, cavalry, and
horse equipment; and field and siege artillery
carriages. This experience provided the basis for
technological achievements accomplished at the
arsengl in later years.

Largely due to its outstanding production
record during the Spanish-American War, the
arsenal acquired a new mission which was to

shops through



Right: Liguisnant Cofonef Stanhope E. Biunt,
Rock Isiand Arsenal commander from 1897-
1907, Biunf commanded the arsenal during the
Spanish-American War.

LeM: /i 1899, the United States Congress
appropriated $560,000 for the establishment of a
small arms plani 8l Rock Island Arsenal. A few
yeers later machinas such as thess Prat-
Whitney iathes were Insiaifed in shop B
{building 60). These machines were oventually
used {0 produce the U.S. Army standard issug
rifle, the Springlfiald 1903,

In the Spanish-
the U.S. Army bsecame
its standard-issue Krag-
Jorgensen Rifle. The weapon was obsolete and
slow to reload. The army bsegan a search for a

manufacture a new rifle.
American War,
dissatisfied with

replacement, one whith could be clip or
magazine loaded. To expedite the production of
a new weapon, Congress, in 1889, appropriated
funds to equip the nearly empty armory shops at
Rock island with small arms machinery.
However, due to the army‘s delay in selecting a
new rifle, it was not until December 1904 that the
Rock island Arsenal's small arms plant began
producing the new siandard-issue model
Springfield 1803 Rifle.'®

In 1887, Brigadier General Daniel W, Flagter,
chief of ordrance, himself a former commanding
officer of the Rock Island Arsenal, selected Major
Stanhope Blunt to command the arsenal at Rock
Island and to direct the development of its new
armory. General Flagler was weli acquainted
with the physical plant at Rock Isfand Arsenal

and was aware of the original pian to combine
armory ‘and arsenal facilities at the Rock Island
installation. In fact, as the third Rock Island
Arsenal commander, General Flagler had earlier
supervised the construction of the majority of the
arsenal’'s stone manufacturing buildings that
formed the arsenal's industrial core. When the
need for an additional armory surfaced, he
quickiy persuaded Congress to approprigte
funds to equip the empty buildings at Rock
Isfand Arsenal’'s armory row.

The 19th century came tc a close with the
Rock Island Arsenal finafly realizing the plan of
Cotonel Rodman, the first arsenal commander to
propose a combined arsenal and armory at Rock
Isiand. During the early 1900s, the United States
Army‘s transformation from horse to auto drawn
artiltery occurred at the Rock Island Arsenal,
Part three of An {llustrated History of the Rock
Island Arsenal and Arsenal Isiand, will chronicle
that transformation and other key events.



Below: Saddles made, lin cups formed, and gun carriages assembled; 16th century arsenal employees board
horse-drewn [axies during an evening rush hour before the turn-of-the-century.




Below: Main west entrance gate and gate houss o Rock Island Arsenal. The gale house, built int 1876, was used
as a place of tsmporary confinement for persons arrested for infractions of governmen! reguiations on the bridges.
Circa, 1898, '
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Selow: Arsenal smployees snjoying a noon-hour baseball game during the late 1800s. The building in the
background to the left is sltorehouse K (building 58), behind shop K (building 68).
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..... "“The charming island of Rock Isiand, three miles long and a haif a mile wids, belongs tc
the United States, and the government has turned it into & wonderful park, enhancing its
natural attractions by art, and threading its fine forests with many miles of drives. Near the
center of the island one caiches glimpses, through the trees, of the vast stone four-story
buildings, each of which covers an acre of ground. These are the government workshops; for
the Rock Island establishment is a national armory and arsenal.”

Mark Twain {Samue! L. Clemens)
Life On The Mississippi River
First Published 1874
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